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Celestial Asia Securities Holdings Limited (“CASH Group”, 
SEHK: 1049) is a multi-faceted investment conglomerate 
focus ing on enhancing c l ient exper ience through 
technology and innovation. Headquartered in Hong Kong, 
we serve modern consumer needs in investment and 
wealth management, lifestyle and home improvement. All 
our bus inesses share a common miss ion that our 
customers’ interests always come first. Our brands are 
synonymous with good customer service, great quality and 
fabulous value.

Abide by the “People-Oriented” principle, CASH Group is 
committed to becoming a Total Caring Organisation to 
partner with our key stakeholders to work towards the 
sustainable development of our business, our employees, 
our environment and our society. CASH’s award-winning 
companies comprise Pricerite Group (Pricerite), CASH 
Financial Services Group (CFSG), CASH Algo Finance Group 
(CAFG), etc.

RETAIL MANAGEMENT  
– PRICERITE GROUP
Founded in 1986, Pricerite Group offers a diverse portfolio 
of home furnishing and lifestyle brands that satisfy our 
customers’ needs through a blend of operating efficiency, 
effective use of technology, and talented people. We build 
our competitive advantage by achieving economies of 
scale through our single operating platform and our 
in-depth understanding of the market. Businesses comprise 
sourcing and retailing of quality products with brands such 
as Pricerite Home, TMF, Pricerite Food, Pricerite Pet, etc.

Pricerite pioneers to develop “New Retail” in Hong Kong by 
integrating the very best of online and offline channels to 
refine the omni-channel retailing, providing customers 
quality shopping experience anytime, anywhere. This has 
revolutionised the Hong Kong home furnishing market with 
easy access to our comprehensive network of outlets and 
e-shopping channels through a variety of digital devices. 
W e h a v e  a  l o n g h e r i t a g e  o f  a d o p t i n g  a d v a n c e d 
technologies to enhance our operating efficiency. From 
back office support to product and service offerings, 
marketing communication and supply chain management, 
we strengthen our competitive edges through a balanced 
fusion of technology and people.

Pricerite upholds the “People-oriented” principle, and 
attains leadership by innovation – in product mix, 
merchandising, store layout and entire market strategy in 
home improvement product retailing. Our constant efforts 
to increase our understanding of customers’ expectations 
and needs through the use of information technology to 
gain accurate and timely data and use of market research 
tools drive our customer-focused innovations.

At Pricerite, we care for the people of Hong Kong. It’s our 
founding principle and it forms everything we do. That 
means empowering our customers to care for their homes, 
their families, and themselves, no matter what life may 
throw their way. By cultivating a culture of caring, we 
inspire our customers to impart our values to the world.

Honouring a celebrated Hong Kong brand, Pricerite has 
received wide recognitions for its exceptional performance 
in various aspects such as brand management, product 
design, quality services and e-shopping platforms. As a 
result, many high acclaims have been awarded to its 
brands, including the Hong Kong Top Brand 10 Year 
Achievement Award and Premier Service Brand from the 
Hong Kong Brand Development Council ,  Consumer 
Product Design Award from the Hong Kong Awards for 
Industries, Bronze Award of Marketing Excellence Awards 
from HKMA/TVB, Q-Mark Elite Brand Award from Hong Kong 
Q-Mark Council, Outstanding QTS Merchant Awards – Gold 
Award from Hong Kong Tourism Board, and Top 10 Quality 
E-Shop Award, Top 10 O2O Retail Brand, Retail Excellence 
Award and numerous Service and Courtesy Awards from 
the Hong Kong Retail Management Association, etc.

Pricerite cares for the environment and is committed to 
protect ing i t  hand in hand with our stakeholders , 
m i n i m i s i n g t h e  i m p a c t  o f  o u r  o p e r a t i o n s  t o  t h e 
environment. Through the sourcing of eco-products, 
adoption of retail technologies and active participation in 
various environmental activities, Pricerite takes its initiative 
to develop a sustainable society with customers. Pricerite 
has received numerous awards for the recognition of its 
contribution to environmental protection, including Silver 
Award in Shops and Retailers sector under the Hong Kong 
Awards for Environmental Excellence, Sustainable Business 
Award from World Green Organisation (WGO), BOCHK 
C o r p o r a t e  E n v i r o n m e n t a l  L e a d e r s h i p  A w a r d s : 
EcoChallenger from Federation of Hong Kong Industries 
(FHKI), etc.
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FINANCIAL SERVICES – CFSG
Headquartered and listed in Hong Kong (SEHK: 510), CASH 
Financial  Services Group (“CFSG”) is committed to 
managing wealth and asset inheritance for our clients over 
the past 50 years. Our culture of excellence drives our 
ongoing focus on sustainable growth, integrity and 
innovation, serving a diversified client base that includes 
corporations, financial institutions and individual investors.

Full-Licensed Operations, Providing Comprehensive 
Financial and Wealth Management Services

Established in 1972, CFSG is one of few full-licensed Hong 
Kong financial services institutions currently holding SFC 
Type 1, 2, 4 and 9 licenses. Providing comprehensive 
financial and wealth management services, CFSG is also a 
licensed money lender in Hong Kong, a licensed insurance 
broker registered with the Hong Kong Insurance Authority, 
a licensed Trust or Company Service Provider, and a 
Principal Intermediary registered with the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Authority.

From Hong Kong’s Firm Foothold to Serve Well as the 
Hub Connecting the Domestic and Global Markets

CFSG is branching out beyond firm foundations in Hong 
Kong to serve well as the hub connecting the domestic and 
g l o b a l  m a r k e t s .  W e a l t h  m a n a g e m e n t  c e n t r e s  a r e 
established in Hong Kong, Shanghai, and Shenzhen with 
more centres and strategic alliances planned in the Greater 
Bay Area and Yangtze River Delta region to provide even 
more comprehensive wealth management and financial 
services to individuals and financial institutions.

At Forefront of FinTech, Innovating Financial Services

CFSG has always been a pioneer in FinTech development, 
investing heavily in groundbreaking innovations that 
reshape the financial services industry. Since becoming the 
first financial institution in Hong Kong to provide online 
securities and futures trading services in 1998, CFSG has 
been adopting advanced technology solutions to meet the 
growing demand in investment services. In recent years, 
CFSG launched a cutting-edge mobile trading app, Alpha i 
with the aim of enhancing the user experience and service 
quality. The new digital platform provides FinTech services 
to a new generation of tech-savvy and mobile-driven 
millennial investors. As a wealth management expert, CFSG 
will integrate different advantages of traditional and new 
f inancia l  assets to develop a fu l l  range of wealth 
management business, providing our clients with more 
choices and promoting the development of Hong Kong 
into an international FinTech centre.

Professional Management with Wide Range of Expert 
Experience

CFSG’s management team has extensive experience of the 
regional regulations and regulated activities in Hong Kong, 
Mainland China and global markets; comprising highly 
educated, qualified professionals in various financial 
services specialties. Group businesses are managed by 
responsible officers and representatives of these regulated 
activities under different established regulators.

ALGO TRADING – CASH ALGO 
FINANCE GROUP (CAFG)
Established in 2009, CAFG is a pioneer in embracing 
financial technology (FinTech) to offer innovative wealth 
management products in Asia. CAFG marries quantitative 
f inance with a lgo t rading to del iver super ior and 
sustainable investment return for our investors. The 
Company constantly develops new strategies, validates 
them via proprietary trading, and provides cutting-edge 
solutions to asset management firms, seeking for long-term 
capital growth.

As a pioneer in quantitative finance and algo trading in 
Asia, we understand the importance of a low-latency 
p l a t f o r m i n t e g r a t e d w i t h  a  r o b u s t  r e a l - t i m e r i s k 
management system. In addition to serving existing 
strategies in multiple markets with our proprietary and 
scalable platform, CAFG is expanding its trading strategies 
to new markets with cutting-edge algorithmic technologies 
to optimise risk-adjusted returns across a broad range of 
asset classes.

We also provide an algo incubation service to assist algo 
traders, quant strategists, and academia dedicated to 
researching, developing, testing, and launching their 
trading ideas. CAFG has established a proprietary one-stop 
platform for the entire investment lifecycle, supporting data 
analytics, strategy deployment, smart execution, and robust 
risk management.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

In 2023, the global economy continued to face significant 
c h a l l e n g e s  c a u s e d  b y  g e o p o l i t i c a l  t e n s i o n s  a n d 
geoeconomic fragmentation. Trade disputes, supply chain 
disruptions, and inflationary pressures persisted, impacting 
global trade flows, financial markets, investor confidence 
and consumer purchasing power.

However, despite these challenges, China’s economy 
demonstrated resilience and exhibited positive growth 
trends. The country’s proactive fiscal and monetary policies, 
coupled with targeted reforms, strongly supported its 
economic recovery and expansion, resulting in a notable 
5.2% growth in real GDP during the year.

Nevertheless, the business environment and investment 
climate in Hong Kong were marred by the uncertain 
external conditions, leading to hesitancy in investment 
decisions. Furthermore, consumers were grappled with 
economic uncertainties, including rising inflation and 
fluctuations in housing prices. Such factors weighed on 
consumer sentiment and spending patterns, as people 
adopted a more cautious approach to their financial 
outlook.

Throughout the year ,  these l ingering uncertainties 
continued to cast a shadow on investor and consumer 
confidence in Hong Kong. Despite these challenges, thanks 
to the government’s supportive measures to stimulate 
economic activity, Hong Kong managed to record a modest 
3.2% real GDP growth during the year.

PRICERITE GROUP – THE NEW RETAIL 
INNOVATOR IN HOME FURNISHING

The path to economic recovery did not unfold as smoothly 
as anticipated. 2023 proved to be a challenging year for 
numerous companies in Hong Kong across various sectors. 
A lack of financing, diminished confidence, and elevated 
interest rates all exacerbated the outlook for investment 
and spending. The convenient transportation connectivity 
between Hong Kong and Shenzhen enabled many Hong 
Kong residents to spend their weekends and holidays in the 
mainland for leisure and dining, enjoying a thriftier way of 
life. All these compounded on Hong Kong’s retail market.

On the other hand, the local furniture market was further 
dampened by the record low property market in Hong 
Kong, resulting in a 10% year-on-year decrease in retail 
sales value, despite a 16.2% increase in overall total retail 
sales.

Against this backdrop, Pricerite has been extra cautious in 
navigating this unsatisfactory operating environment and 
responding swiftly to market conditions. Under our “Back to 
Basic” strategy, we have implemented a two-pronged 
approach to weather the general market downturn.

First, we reviewed our cost structure to ensure lean, healthy 
and susta inab le operat ions .  S tore networks  were 
streamlined and organisation structure was simplified. We 
also relocated our warehouse and started exploring 
mainland locations with an aim to expand our warehousing 
facilities and systems to support our ongoing online and 
offline (O2O) business development.

On the other hand, we were dedicated to driving sales and 
meeting customers’ expectations in furnishing their dream 
homes and fulfilling their daily living requirements during 
these challenging times. We firmly believe that a blend of 
operating efficiency, effective technology application and 
talented people is essential to satisfy our customers’ 
lifestyle needs.

To reinforce our customer-centric approach, we integrated 
our supply chain efforts with our frontline store operations, 
actively seeking first-hand customer information to gauge 
their preferences. With this valuable data, we continue to 
build our master mega-database, integrating it with other 
factors that affect shopping behaviour. This enables us to 
better devise our ongoing O2O strategy, including store 
network optimisat ion, product strategy, market ing 
promotions, inventory management and the overall 
customer journey.

Since the advent of ChatGPT, which disrupted the internet 
in late 2022, the use of generative artificial intelligence (AI) 
in the retail market has surged. Always at the forefront of 
embracing innovation, Pricerite has also started exploring 
how generative AI can transform our business to improve 
the customer journey and, subsequently, our profitability.

With customer-centricity as our guiding principle, we have 
first applied artificial intelligence (AI) across our online 
channels to fortify our searching capabilities, facilitating 
customers in easily finding their desired products from our 
w i d e  a r r a y  o f  s e l e c t i o n s .  L e v e r a g i n g  o u r  d e e p 
understanding of Hong Kong’s home furnishing market and 
employing big data analytics and machine learning, we 
have been able to review our product assortment more 
promptly. Off-trend products have been replaced with new, 
more sought-after ones. To cater to customers’ frugal 
lifestyles, we have partnered with our worldwide supply 
chain network to source more value-for-money, timely, and 
market-fit products.
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Thanks to the relentless efforts of our exceptional team, 
Pricerite managed to contain losses and achieved a 
breakeven in the second half of the year.

Looking forward, we wil l  continue to enhance the 
application of advanced technologies, combining them 
with the expertise of our human capital, to provide more 
value-for-money products for our customers. Our goal is to 
assist them in weathering the current subdued economy 
while maintaining their quality of living. We will also 
maintain our cost leadership approach while remain 
dedicated to driving sales, ensuring that Pricerite becomes 
more agile and flexible in responding to market changes 
and customer needs.

CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP 
– THE TRUSTED INVESTMENT AND 
WEALTH MANAGEMENT ADVISOR

As discussed in my previous letter to fellow shareholders, 
we anticipated that 2023 would be a turbulent and 
challenging year for the global economy. Inflation, rising 
interest rates, tight labour markets and geopolitical shocks 
have conspired to cause uncertainty.

I n  2 0 2 3 ,  d e v e l o p e d  e c o n o m i e s  e x h i b i t e d  m i x e d 
performances. According to the OECD, the G7 countries 
experienced diminishing or sluggish GDP growth during 
the past three years, with the United Kingdom slipping into 
a technical recession by the end of 2023, while the EU 
narrowly avoided one. The prevailing high interest rate 
environment and persistent high inflation, coupled with 
moderating growth in many parts of the world, posed 
threats to global financial stability, causing volatility and 
subdued investor confidence. Moreover, alternative 
investments attracted investors away from the stock 
markets. These unfavourable market conditions have led to 
record-low daily turnover in 2023. Combined with the 
soaring compliance costs in Hong Kong, many brokerages 
were compelled to suspend their businesses.

Thanks to our early strategy to transform from a traditional 
brokerage into a diversified wealth management specialist 
in the Greater Bay Area (GBA), we have established a solid 
foundation for scaling up our business in 2023.

Dur ing the year ,  we s ta r ted bu i ld ing our  wea l th 
management platform by integrating AI into our asset 
management capabilities. This award-winning platform 
empowered our investment advisors to offer personalised 
investment and wealth management advice to our clients.

Adhering to CASH Group’s principle to effectively blend the 
application of advanced technologies with human talent, 
we have assembled a sizeable team of Certified Financial 
Analysts (CFAs), who offers quality advice to our sales 
teams, devises trading strategies for our algo trading fund 
platform, and provides professional External Asset Manager 
(EAM) services to our family office clients.

Throughout the year, we remained dedicated to providing 
customer-centric services and staying connected with our 
clients. We focused on building strong and enduring client 
re lat ionships which are cruc ia l  for  susta in ing our 
operations. We actively participated in internationally 
renowned financial conferences to enhance our brand 
equity. We also organised numerous seminars to keep our 
clients up-to-date with market insights across various 
wealth management channels.

With the rollout of Wealth Management Connect 2.0 in 
early 2024, CFSG is well-positioned to grow our businesses 
in the GBA, leveraging our more than 50 years of trusted 
heritage and our strong business fundamentals.

GBA boasts a large population of more than 86 million, with 
20% of  China ’ s  u l t ra -h igh-net  worth (UHNW) and 
high-net-worth (HNW) households, as indicated by research 
conducted by the Commerce and Economic Development 
Bureau of the Hong Kong government. Forbes also 
reported that four of the top 10 richest people in China live 
in the GBA.

The growing demand for sophisticated financial services 
presents immense opportunities for international wealth 
management products and services. With our strong 
expertise in wealth management and clean regulatory 
record, we are well-positioned to cater to the needs of 
these HNW individuals and affluent clients in the GBA.

Leveraging our establ ished networks ,  cross-border 
connectivity, and deep understanding of both local and 
international markets, CFSG is poised to offer tailored 
wealth management solutions, investment products, and 
advisory services to capture the expanding opportunities in 
this dynamic and rapidly developing region.

We will continue to form strategic partnerships with 
mainland and international financial institutions and fintech 
companies to further enhance our competitive advantages 
and tap into the immense potential of the GBA market.
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Looking ahead, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
forecasts modest global growth of 3.1% for 2024, which is 
below the historical annual average of 3.8% in the 20 years 
prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, 2024 being an 
election year for almost half of the world’s population, the 
election results will bear consequential impacts both 
politically and economically.

On the other hand, the excitement surrounding generative 
AI and optimistic predictions for corporate profits have 
propelled the stock prices of technology and related firms 
to surge on a global scale. The notion of a “soft landing” 
scenario for the worldwide economy, wherein inflation 
continues to recede without triggering a substantial 
recession, has gained widespread acceptance. Furthermore, 
investors have begun factoring in a greater number of 
interest rate reductions than what central bankers had 
been signalling, resulting in a resurgence of bonds as an 
appealing investment option.

The Group maintains a cautiously optimistic outlook for the 
economic landscape in 2024. Despite ongoing external 
challenges such as intensifying geopolitical tensions and 
worsening geoeconomics fragmentation, CFSG will take 
prudent yet incessant steps in developing our wealth 
management business while remaining vigilant on costs. 
We will continue to build resilience and agility to effectively 
respond to market changes going forward.

I would like to express my utmost appreciation to my team 
of diligent colleagues for their dedication, adaptability and 
contributions to the Group over the past year. Their 
relentless efforts have enabled us to successfully execute 
our  s t ra tegy and bu i ld  our  s t rength for  ongoing 
development.

Yours sincerely,

Dr Bankee P. Kwan, BBS, JP
Chairman & CEO



CASH  Annual Report 2023

FINANCIAL REVIEW

8

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded 
revenue and net loss attributable to owners of the 
Company of HK$1,016.4 million and HK$108.0 million, 
respectively, as compared to revenue of HK$1,210.9 million 
and net loss attributable to owners of the Company of 
HK$33.6 million, respectively, for 2022. The increase in loss 
was mainly attributable to the Consolidation (as defined 
below) of the operating results of CFSG.

Retailing Business – PRICERITE GROUP

Hong Kong retail industry has been facing unprecedented 
challenges in recent years. Despite of the removal of the 
COVID-19 measures for inbound travelers to Hong Kong 
and full re-opening of all borders between the PRC and 
Hong Kong in early 2023, the anticipated rebound in 
inbound tourism and local consumption have been 
disappointingly tepid. It is estimated that the total value of 
retail sales in 2023 at HK$406.7 billion, marking a 16.2% 
increase in value and a 13.8% increase in volume compared 
to 2022. This growth was primarily fueled by a significant 
54.9% surge in sales within the jewellery, watches, clocks, 
and valuable gifts sector. Conversely, the supermarket and 
furniture and fixtures sector experienced a 5.7% and 10% 
decline, respectively, reflecting the broader sentiment of 
domestic consumption in Hong Kong. These trends 
indicate that the retail market in Hong Kong is stil l 
grappling with the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and struggling to achieve a full recovery. Nevertheless, the 
Hong Kong government has proactively supported the 
retail sector by re-initiating the consumption voucher 
programme in 2023. Although the issues encountered were 
temporary, they did not have a lasting impact on the 
overall consumer sentiment.

In addition to ongoing economic challenges, persistently 
high lending interest rates have significantly increased 
mortgage costs. This rise in costs has contributed to a 
decrease in property values and dampened overall market 
sentiment. Consequently, these factors have triggered a 
negative wealth effect and reduced household disposable 
income, further contributing to a decline in market 
sentiment. For the year of 2023, a total of 13,900 units of 
private residential properties were completed, representing 
a 34.4% decline as compared with the 2022. Additionally, 
the emigration wave in Hong Kong is exacerbating the 
supply of the labour market and further strains the demand 
of the retail market.

In view of the prevailing market conditions, Pricerite Group 
had implemented various initiatives aimed at boosting sales 
and gross margins while simultaneously reducing operating 
costs, all the while maintaining operations at an optimal 
level. To improve market presence, the Group launched 
several marketing campaigns to enhance brand recognition, 
introduce a new loyalty programme, and highlight its house 
brand products. These efforts resulted in an increase in 

marketing expenses in the first half of 2023 compared to the 
same period in 2022, as part of a strategy to attract more 
customers and increase revenue. Furthermore, Pricerite 
Group has been actively managing its store portfolio by 
continuing to operate high-performing stores, closing 
underperforming ones, and adjusting its product mix to 
enhance margins. This strategic approach led to a reduction 
in the number of stores from 28 in January 2022 to 18 by 
December 2023,  which in turn ,  contr ibuted to an 
improvement in operating results in the latter half of 2023.

While the full benefits of these initiatives and the network 
optimisation may take time to fully materialise, Pricerite 
Group reported a revenue of HK$958.5 million and a 
segment loss of HK$19.3 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023. This compares to a revenue of HK$1,199.3 
million and a segment loss of HK$13.0 million in 2022 
which already accounted for an one-off subsidy of HK$14.5 
mil l ion under the Employment Support Scheme for 
COVID-19 pandemic (2023: nil). These figures reflect the 
Group’s ongoing efforts to refine its operations and 
position itself for future growth.

Investment Management Business – CAFG

The geopolitical conflicts and high global interest rates 
have introduced uncertainty and increased volatility in the 
financial markets. Despite these challenging conditions, our 
proprietary trading portfolios have successfully capitalised 
on the market’s volatility, particularly in the energy and 
precious metals sectors, as well as the momentum in 
interest rates. This strategic approach has enabled us to 
achieve double-digit returns and significantly outperform 
our market peers by a large margin. Our investment 
management business reported revenue of HK$4.7 million 
and a net profit of HK$3.8 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023 as compared to revenue of HK$4.4 million 
and a net profit of HK$13.8 million in 2022.

Other Financial Services Business – CFSG 
(Excluding Investment Management Business 
through CAFG)

In October 2022, the Group acquired 21.08% equity interest 
in CFSG (stock code: 510), a then 39.41% associate of the 
Company prior to the acquisition. Since then, CFSG, which 
w a s  p r i n c i p a l l y  e n g a g e d i n  b r o k i n g ,  i n v e s t m e n t 
management and wealth management services and 
proprietary trading activities (other financial services 
business), became a subsidiary of the Company and the 
results of CFSG were consolidated into the financial 
statements of the Group (the “Consolidation”). As such, the 
operating results of CFSG for the period from 1 January 
2022 to 20 October 2022 (the “Period”) and for the period 
subsequent to 20 October 2022 were, respectively, 
disclosed as share of results of associates and combined in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s other 
financial services business recorded revenue of HK$53.2 
million and a segment loss of HK$95.9 million as compared 
to revenue of approximately HK$7.1 million, a segment loss 
of HK$7.8 million and share of loss of the associate of 
HK$34.2 million in proportion to the Company’s equity 
interests in CFSG for the Period. To align with the strategic 
objective, the Group is actively evaluating the consolidation 
of its brokerage business into value-added offerings while 
transforming into a wealth management specialist in the 
GBA and we manage to establish and expand our sales 
force within the GBA. We are confident that our wealth 
management business will not only remain robust but also 
significantly contribute to our overall revenue growth in 
the second half of 2024.

Impairment Allowances

Impairment allowance mainly consisted of provision for 
credit losses on accounts receivables arising from margin 
financing and loans receivables, the Group performs 
impairment assessment on these financial assets under the 
impairment framework and methodology of expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model established by the Group in 
accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”. To 
minimise the credit risk on accounts receivables arising 
from margin financing loans receivable, the Credit and Risk 
Management Committee is responsible for reviewing credit 
and risk management policies, approving credit limits and 
to determining any debt recovery actions on delinquent 
receivables. The assessment is based on close monitoring, 
evaluat ion of  col lectabi l i ty and on management ’s 
judgement, including but not limited to ageing analysis of 
receivables ,  the current creditworthiness ,  account 
executives concentration analysis, collateral distribution 
and concentration analysis and the past collection history 
of each client, and consideration of forward looking factors. 
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that 
the Group’s credit risk is maintained at an acceptable level. 
The accounts receivables arising from margin financing are 
collateralised by pledged shares of margin clients. As at 31 
December 2023, the Group had concentration of credit risk 
on the accounts receivables from margin clients as the 
aggregate balances with the three largest clients represent 
approximately 54.8% (2022: 57.7%) of total accounts 
receivables. During the year, margin financing with the 
total gross carrying amount of approximately HK$82.9 
million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$58.1 million) was 
assessed as credit-impaired state mainly due to further 
decline in the market price of listed securities pledged as 
collateral in the year and failure of the margin borrowers to 
fully make up the margin shortfall by providing additional 
collaterals or repayment. Additional impairment provision 
with a total amount of approximately HK$43.3 million 
(2022: HK$7.5 mi l l ion) was made for the year .  For 
credit-impaired accounts receivable from margin clients, 
management performs individual assessment for each 
cl ient by considering various factors, including the 
realisable value of securities or collateral from clients which 
are held by the Group and subsequent settlement actions.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration risk 
on loans receivables as 53.8% (2022: 27.3%) of the 
outstanding balance is from the top borrower. During the 
year, an impairment reversal of approximately HK$0.4 
million (2022: HK$0.6 million) in personal loans with the 
total gross carrying amount of approximately HK$4.6 
million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$8.0 million) due 
to settlement received upon repayment.

The Group has debt recovery procedures in place. For any 
loans with shortfall and/or overdue payments, demand 
letters and/or legal letters will be issued. If the borrower 
does not respond, the Group may engage external legal 
advisors for legal actions. At the same time, the Group will 
contact the borrower for additional collateral and/or 
sett lement plan. The Group may also engage debt 
collection agents for such loan where appropriate. If the 
negotiation is not successful, or additional collateral is not 
sufficient or default in settlement plan, external legal 
advisers wi l l  i ssue f ina l  warning to the borrower . 
Subsequently, writs of summon will be served to the 
borrower to take proceedings to court.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s equity attributable to owners of the Company 
amounted to HK$116.0 million as at 31 December 2023 as 
compared to HK$196.1 million at the end of the previous 
year. The decrease in equity was mainly due to net loss for 
the year of HK$108.0 million and change in equity as results 
of the Transfer (as defined below) and the Placing (as 
defined below) in 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group 
had total outstanding borrowings of approximately 
HK$339.6 million as compared to HK$375.2 million as at 31 
December 2022. The decrease in borrowings was mainly 
due to repayment of borrowings as at 31 December 2023. 
The borrowings were mostly denominated in Hong Kong 
dollars comprising unsecured loans of approximately 
HK$206 million and secured bank loans of approximately 
HK$133.1 million. The above secured bank loans were 
secured by the Group’s pledged deposits of HK$54.1 million 
and corporate guarantees. As at 31 December 2023, our 
cash and bank balances totalled HK$633.6 million as 
compared to HK$870.8 million at the end of the previous 
year. The decrease in cash and bank balances was mainly 
due to reduction in bank balances in the trust and 
segregated accounts and operating loss incurred during 
the year. The Group derives its revenue mainly in Hong 
Kong dollars and maintains its cash and bank balances 
mainly in Hong Kong dollars. The liquidity ratio as at 31 
December 2023 was at 0.96 times, as compared to 0.98 
times as at 31 December 2022. The gearing ratio, which 
represents the ratio of interest bearing borrowings 
excluding lease liabilities of the Group divided by the total 
equity, was 201.0% as at 31 December 2023 as compared to 
128.8% as at 31 December 2022. The increase in gearing 
ratio was mainly due to the loss incurred during the year. 
On the other hand, we have no material contingent 
liabilities at the end of the year. The Group’s treasury 
policies are to secure healthy liquidity for running its 
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operations smoothly and to maintain a sound financial 
position at all time throughout the year. Besides meeting 
its working capital requirements, cash balances and bank 
borrowings are maintained at healthy levels to meet its 
customers’ investments needs while making sure all 
relevant financial regulations have been duly complied.

Foreign Exchange Risks

The Group did not have any material un-hedged foreign 
exchange exposure or interest rate mismatches at the end 
of the year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On 19 December 2022, Confident Profits Limited (“CPL”, an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as 
vendor and CFSG as purchaser entered into an agreement, 
pursuant to which CPL conditionally agreed to sell, and 
CFSG conditionally agreed to acquire, the 51% of the issued 
shares of CASH Algo Finance Group International Limited 
(the then indirect whol ly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company) at the consideration of HK$61 million (the 
“Transfer”), which would be satisfied as to (i) HK$10 million 
in cash and (ii) HK$51 million by the issue of 120,000,000 
new CFSG shares to Celestial Investment Group Limited 
(“CIGL”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, at completion. Following completion taking 
place on 30 May 2023, the then shareholding of the 
Company in CFSG increased from approximately 60.49% to 
72.93% and the CFSG Group remained subsidiaries of the 
Company. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the 
joint announcement of the Company and CFSG dated 19 
December 2022, the announcements of CFSG dated on 12 
January 2023, 25 April 2023, 24 May 2023 and the circular of 
CFSG dated 9 May 2023.

On 24 July 2023, CFSG had contemplated the placing (the 
“Placing”) of a total of up to 50,000,000 new shares to 
independent placees at HK$0.42 per placing share. 
Completion took place on 4 August 2023 and 50,000,000 
placing shares were allotted and issued under the general 
mandate of CFSG on the same date. Following completion, 
the shareholding of the Company in CFSG decreased from 
approximately 72.93% to 64.47% and the CFSG Group 
remained subsidiaries of the Company. Such dilution of 
shareholding interest of the Company in CFSG as a result of 
the Placing constituted a deemed disposal by the Company 
of its shareholding interest in CFSG. Details of the Placing 
and deemed disposa l  were d isc losed in the jo int 
announcements of the Company and CFSG dated 24 July 
2023 and 4 August 2023.

Save as aforesaid, the Group did not make any other 
material acquisitions and disposals during the year.

Save as disclosed, there is no important event affecting the 
Group which has occurred since the end of the financial 
period.

Fund Raising Activities

The Company did not have any fund raising activity during 
the year.

Capital Commitment

The Group did not have any material outstanding capital 
commitment at the end of the year.

Material Investments

The market value of financial assets at FVTPL decreased 
f rom HK$56.4 mi l l ion as at  31 December 2022 to 
approximately HK$42.0 million as at 31 December 2023. A 
net gain on financial assets at FVTPL of HK$1.4 million 
(2022: HK$43.4 million) was recorded for the year. We do 
not have any future plans for material investments, or 
addition of capital assets.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
Revenue

(HK$’m) 2023 2022 % Change
    

Retail 958.5 1,199.3 (20.1%)
Investment management 4.7 4.4 6.8%
Other financial services 53.2 7.1 649.3%

Group Total 1,016.4 1,210.8 (16.1%)
   

Key Financial Metrics

2023 2022 % Change
    

The Group
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’m) (108.0) (33.6) 221.4%
Loss per share (HK cents) (133.81) (41.68) 221.0%
Total assets (HK$’m) 1,317.7 1,787.0 (26.3%)
Bank balances and cash (HK$’m) 633.6 870.8 (27.2%)
Borrowing (HK$’m) 339.6 375.2 (9.5%)

Retailing
Revenue per sq.ft. (HK$) 3,793.0 4,152.0 (8.6%)
Growth for same stores (vs last year) (6.4%) (12.1%) N/A
Inventory turnover days 30.2 32.3 (6.5%)

Investment management
Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL (HK$’m) 10.7 36.1 (70.4%)

Other Financial Services
Annualised average fee income from broking per active client (HK$’000) 1.4 2.4 (41.7%)
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
RETAIL MANAGEMENT BUSINESS – PRICERITE 
GROUP

Economic and Industry Review

The Hong Kong economy experienced a brief rebound in 
2023 after the removal of anti-epidemic measures and the 
resumption of normal travel. The city recorded a real 
economic growth of  3 .2% for  the year .  However , 
heightened geopolitical tensions and tightened financial 
conditions continued to pose challenges to the external 
economic environment.

Throughout the year ,  the Hong Kong Government 
(Government) made dedicated efforts to boost tourism and 
local consumption. Vis itor arr ivals showed signs of 
improvement, reaching about half of the peak in 2018. On 
the domestic front, total retail sales increased by 16.2%, 
primarily driven by growth in the luxury sector.

However, the local property market was struggling, with 
transaction volume dropping to the lowest level in 33 
years. Market sentiment was dampened by a combination 
of poor economic news and persistently high interest rates. 
This downturn in the property market had a ripple effect on 
the furniture industry, resulting in a 10% decline in retail 
sales within the furniture and fixtures category for the 
whole year.

Business Review

During the year, Pricerite has implemented a number of 
strategies to weather through the market low tide and 
strengthen our edges.

Increasing Agility and Responsiveness

Firstly, we invigorated the Group by promoting a more 
agi le and responsive organisat ion. We upheld our 
commitment to cost leadership by conducting a thorough 
review of our cost structures in relation to business 
development opportunities.

In the post-pandemic era, people’s social and economic 
lifestyles have undergone significant changes, including 
shifts in health and dining habits, as well as changes in 
population structure and community attitudes. In response 
to these transformations, we have streamlined our physical 
store network to adapt to these changes and further 
enhance our O2O (Online-to-Offline) business model.

Underperforming stores have been either relocated or 
closed, leaving us with a total of 18 physical stores at the 
end of the year. Furthermore, our physical stores will 
gradually being transformed into immersive experience 
destinations, where our customers can not only browse a 
diverse range of home improvement products, but also 
engage with interact ive displays and l ive product 
demonstrations. This allows them to explore product 
features, benefits and customisation options. Our physical 
stores aim to enhance customer engagement and provide 
a more interactive and enriching shopping experience.

On the other hand, in response to the challenges posed by 
a shrinking and ageing labour force in Hong Kong, we have 
taken steps to streamline our operations. This involved 
simplifying our organisation structure by delayering 
different functional levels. These efforts were aimed at 
creating a more efficient organisation and reducing 
overhead costs, allowing us to operate more effectively and 
sustainably.

Furthermore, we have made significant progress in our 
automation programme by introducing chat commerce 
through live chat on our website and official WhatsApp 
account. This initiative allows us to provide a personalised 
shopping experience, improve customer satisfaction, boost 
sales and foster customer loyalty. With these chat features, 
we can guide customers throughout their entire shopping 
journey across different channels, from assisting with 
product selection to scheduling deliveries. Additionally, we 
utilise these channels to nurture post-purchase customer 
relationships, further enhancing the overall customer 
experience.

Driving Sales Excellence

At Pricerite, we firmly adhere to our commitment of 
offering a diverse portfolio of home furnishing and lifestyle 
brands that cater to the unique needs of our customers. We 
accomplish this by leveraging a combination of operating 
efficiency, effective use of technology, and talented people.

While higher costs of living and slowing economy are 
squeezing consumers’ appetite, Pricerite has placed extra 
emphasis on customer-centricity to address the evolving 
needs of consumers. Recognising the global trend of 
“consumption downgrade,” Pricerite followed the “Back to 
Basic” strategy, which put strong focus on providing a 
wider range of value-for-money products at “Everyday Low 
Prices” to customers.
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To reinforce the strategy, we conducted a comprehensive 
review of our product offerings, consolidating certain 
product ranges and prioritising items that are highly 
popular among customers. Additionally, we introduced an 
average of approximately 20% new product i tems 
throughout the year to keep our offerings remain fresh and 
relevant. Furthermore, we maintained our focus on product 
development and made significant initiatives in our house 
brands. This strategic investment enabled us to further 
enhance our value-for-money product offer ings by 
improving production efficiency and increasing profit 
margins.

Simultaneously, we have developed a new team of 
furniture ambassadors who serves as our product specialists 
across our wide array of furniture categories. These highly 
knowledgeable individuals are dedicated to introducing 
our customers to a wide range of products that are tailored 
to their personalised needs. By providing expert guidance 
and personal i sed recommendat ions ,  our furn i ture 
ambassadors aim to create a more personalised and 
immersive shopping experience for our customers.

In the first half of the year, we launched a store localisation 
programme to empower our store-level managers with 
increased flexibility and autonomy in responding to the 
spec i f ic  market  demands of  d iverse demographic 
characteristics across different geographical areas of Hong 
Kong. This customer-centric approach successfully builds 
stronger rapport between our staff and customers. In the 
second half of the year, we further enhanced this store 
localisation programme by integrating merchandising and 
store operations platforms with tailored solutions based on 
local customer preferences and unique characteristics of 
each community.

In tandem, we made significant strides in leveraging big 
data to drive business growth and enhance customer 
e x p e r i e n c e s .  T h r o u g h t h e  i n t e g r a t i o n  o f  v a r i o u s 
environmental factors such as festivals, weather and 
climate, with our customer persona database, we aim at 
furnishing our customers with more timely products and 
tailored promotions. This, in turn, will increase conversion 
rates and improve our inventory management.

Following the set-up of our new central warehouse, we 
have introduced a modern warehouse management system 
(WMS) and implemented multiple warehouse and transport 
management systems. These systems will be seamlessly 
integrated into our big data management architecture, 
thereby augment ing rea l - t ime inventory v is ib i l i ty , 
optimising stock replenishment efficiency, and streamlining 
order tracking. Consequently, these enhancements will 
trace process in point-to-point delivery to significantly 
improve overall customer experience.

During the year, we implemented a comprehensive revamp 
of our online store website using Progressive Web Apps 
(PWA) technology. Together with other upgraded product 
search engines, this strategic move led to a substantial 
improvement in the browsing exper ience for  our 
customers, offering them seamless web search functionality 
and effortless navigation. Moreover, we successfully 
integrated artificial intelligence (AI) across our online 
channels, bolstering our search capabilities and enabling 
customers to eas i ly locate their  des i red products . 
Additionally, we fortified the use of algorithms in our 
backend product recommendations. These combined 
efforts yielded positive results, resulting in more returning 
visitors and improved conversion rates by more than 20%.

In the first half of the year, we successfully launched our 
new loyalty programme called “P-coins”, a membership 
system that is directly integrated with our digital marketing 
system, with the goal of fostering customer loyalty through 
VIP (Diamond, Gold and Silver) incentive programmes and 
strengthening customer relationships with big data 
analytics. The launch of “P-coin” helps us gather valuable 
insights into customer behaviour and preferences, allowing 
us to tailor our offerings and personalised promotions to 
better meet the needs of and engage our loyal customers.

ESG

By embracing digital transformation and office automation, 
we have successfully implemented paperless purchase 
order and approval processes, automated supplier payment 
procedures, and introduced mobile app features to 
generate automated reports and performance dashboards. 
Additionally, as part of our omni-channel strategy, we have 
continually streamlined our operating procedures and 
enhanced paperless workflows in offline cashiering and 
logistics delivery processes.
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During the year, we actively supported the Government’s 
housing policy by taking part in several transitional housing 
projects, including the Pok Oi Kong Ha Wai Village, the 
Tsuen Fook Kui, and the Yan Oi House. Upholding the “We 
CARE” principle, we helped enhance the living space and 
quality of life of the tenants in these transitional houses by 
providing carefully selected multi-functional furniture and 
value-for-money electrical appliances and household items 
at affordable prices.

Outlook

Looking ahead, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
predicts that global economic prospects will remain 
s u b d u e d  a n d  u n c e r t a i n  t h i s  y e a r .  G e o e c o n o m i c 
fragmentation continues to weigh on trade and global GDP 
growth. The IMF forecast for global growth in 2024 to be 
around 3.1%, which is below the historical average of 3.8% 
from 2000 to 2019.

Furthermore, investors and consumers are awaiting signals 
about when central banks across developed economies will 
begin to decrease interest rates, which significantly impacts 
sentiments. In addition to these external factors, the 
pandemic has caused significant changes in consumer 
behaviour, rendering pre-pandemic business models less 
relevant. Consumers are now more cautious with spending, 
as inflation and high-interest rates persist.

Against this backdrop, it is imperative that businesses adapt 
to new consumer expectations, including by implementing 
robust digital transformation strategies and approaches to 
foster customer loyalty through personalised engagement. 
By staying agile and responsive to new consumer trends, 
businesses can remain resilient in the face of a challenging 
market environment.

At Pricerite, we remain committed to the “Back to Basic” 
approach this year, which entails cost containment and 
driving sales momentum. Our primary focus is on delivering 
home furnishing solutions that are not only of assured 
quality but also highly functional. We understand the 
unique requirements of urban homes, particularly the 
importance of effective space management, while at the 
same time ensuring that style and affordability are not 
compromised.

Due to the impact of the pandemic, the completion of 
public housing projects has experienced delays in recent 
years. However, it is anticipated that there will be a 
noticeable increase in the overall supply of public housing 
in the next decade. The Housing Authority has outlined 
plans to construct approximately 410,000 public flats 
during this period.

We will capitalise on this opportunity by expanding our 
range of services to encompass comprehensive home 
furnishing solutions. This will involve elevating our TMF 
consultants to inter ior  des ign advisors ,  prov id ing 
customised furniture and a diverse array of Pricerite home 
products that cater to the diverse needs of our customers. 
Addit ional ly ,  we wil l  enhance our TMF services by 
introducing a pioneering 2-year warranty, which includes 
unl imited post -serv ice inspect ions and f ree parts 
replacement. We firmly believe that these exceptional 
service commitments will address the customer pain-points 
in the tailor-made furniture market and distinguish us as a 
frontrunner in the home furnishing market.

In the upcoming year, we aim to further integrate our 
merchandising and store operations platforms to better 
align ourselves with customer needs. By streamlining these 
processes, we can ensure that our products and services 
are readily available to meet customer demands efficiently.

We are also committed to transforming our physical stores 
into experience destinations, providing customers with the 
opportunity to interact with our products firsthand. This 
includes creating an inviting atmosphere where customers 
can touch and feel the products, seek advice from our 
knowledgeable staff, and share their experiences. Through 
this transformation, we will enhance the overall shopping 
exper ience for  our  customers and bui ld s t ronger 
relationships with them.

On a positive note, property transactions have experienced 
a significant increase in the first few weeks following the 
removal of property cooling measures. Furthermore, 
decreases in interest rates, regardless of the extent, is 
anticipated to have a positive impact on both the real 
estate and furniture markets. As investor and consumer 
confidence improves, pent-up demand accumulated during 
the pandemic per iod is  expected to gradual ly be 
unleashed. This presents an immense opportunity for our 
growth as customers regain confidence and seek out home 
furnishing solutions from trusted brands like Pricerite.

Overall , we are committed to adapting to changing 
customer preferences, enhancing the in-store experience, 
and capitalising on improving market conditions. These 
efforts will enable us to better serve our customers and 
drive growth in the coming year.
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ALGO TRADING BUSINESS – CAFG

Market Overview

The banking crisis led to a significant decrease in global 
bank stock prices, concurrently causing an increase in the 
prices and volatility of precious metals. This shift presented 
lucrative trading opportunities for commodities traders. 
Additionally, geopolitical tensions in the Middle East, 
particularly between Israel and Hamas, further fueled the 
surge in precious metals price throughout 2023, reaching a 
new record high by the year’s end. On the other hand, a 
slowdown in economic growth led to a downward trend in 
crude oil prices in throughout the year. Commodity 
demands were further suppressed by rate hikes by the 
Federal Reserve, resulting in their prices moving within a 
narrow range, negatively impacting most CTA strategies.

Business Review

Despite challenging market conditions, our proprietary 
trading portfolio managed to achieve double-digit returns 
by leveraging the volatility in the energy and precious 
metals  sectors ,  a long with favorable interest  rate 
movements. However, the general market sentiment 
towards CTA funds remained subdued, primarily due to the 
underwhelming performance of momentum and reversion 
strategies ,  leading to a relat ively f lat performance 
throughout the year. Consequently, our AUM experienced a 
slight decline. Nevertheless, our CTA portfolio distinguished 
itself by delivering positive returns, making it an attractive 
option for investors seeking l iquidity. Our investors 
continued to place their trust in us, recognising the value 
of a commodity fund that enhances their overall asset 
allocation.

In December 2023, we introduced the CASH Multi Strategy 
Fund, a multi-strategy algorithm trading fund product. This 
launch aligns with our long-term growth strategy and 
expands our product offerings in investment management. 
The fund, adopting a market-neutral stance, focuses on 
statistical market arbitrage and is supplemented by CTA 
strategies to minimise volatility and improve overall 
adjusted returns. Our trading strategies have demonstrated 
a solid track record, significantly outperforming our peers. 
At CAFG, we believe that innovation and consistent 
research efforts are crucial for market success.

As a quant-focused research team, CAFG provides 
investment advice to CASH Prime Value Equity Fund, a 
public OFC fund launched in August 2022 emphasising 
mid-to-long-term capital appreciation through quantitative 
and fundamental investment styles. The quantitative 
approach bolstered the model’s predictability during the 
downtrend. According to Morningstar rankings, the fund 
has consistently outperformed most of its peers since 
inception. Our primary goal remains to preserve capital in 
bearish markets while optimising growth assets for 
investors over the medium-to-long term.

We are strategically positioning CAFG as a leading Quant 
Fund Manager in the FinTech sector. In addition to 
effectively managing our existing commodities-focused 
portfol io, we are expanding our fund management 
capabilities to encompass equities and exchange-listed 
cryptocurrencies, aiming to capitalise on emerging trends. 
The OFC fund structure not only strengthens our existing 
strategies but also enables us to introduce new trading 
strategies, promoting sustained growth and success.

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2024, our strategic roadmap includes 
initiatives to align with sales targets, with a dedicated sales 
force to organise fund promotion and distr ibution. 
Furthermore, we harness cutting-edge technologies such 
as generative AI to advance our product offerings and 
fort i fy our r isk management processes. With these 
forward-looking strategies, we are confident that CAFG is 
wel l -pos i t ioned to exce l  in  the compet i t ive fund 
management landscape.

OTHER FINANCIAL SERVICES BUSINESS – CFSG

Market Overview

In 2023, the Hong Kong stock market endured another 
challenging year, primarily due to the compounding effects 
of geopolitical tensions, inflation, and rate hikes, making it 
one of the worst-performing years in recent history. All 
major indices reported declines, with the Hang Seng Index 
(HSI) and the Hang Seng China Enterprises Index (HSCEI) 
experiencing respective decreases of 13.8% and 14.0%. The 
Hang Seng TECH Index (HSTECH) fared slightly better with 
an 8.8% decrease.

Average daily turnover further decreased to HK$105,000 
million in 2023, compared to HK$124,907 million in 2022 
and HK$166,730 million in 2021. All these signified the 
challenging market conditions and subdued investor 
sentiment throughout the year.
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The persist ing chal lenging market condit ions have 
negatively impacted on the securities industry, resulting in 
the closure of more than 150 securities houses over the 
past five years. Some Chinese social media platforms have 
even referred to Hong Kong as the “ruins of an international 
financial centre,” highlighting the negative sentiment 
clouding the city’s securities market landscape.

However, we contend that this perspective tells only part of 
the story. Hong Kong, with its favourable regulatory 
environment and unwavering support from both the 
Central and Hong Kong governments, is actively shaping its 
wealth management market to strengthen its status as a 
global financial hub.

The results have been encouraging. Research data from the 
Hong Kong Trade Development Council shows that there 
was a more than 300% increase in total net fund inflows 
during the three quarters from 4Q of 2022 to 1H of 2023, as 
compared to the first three quarters of 2022. The launch of 
the Cross-boundary Wealth Management Connect (WMC) 
Scheme further intensified the growth as Hong Kong has 
received almost four t imes year-on-year growth in 
cross-border remittances related to the WMC in 2023.

Insurance is another area that attracted Greater Bay Area 
(GBA) investors into Hong Kong. According to the Hong 
Kong Insurance Authority, sales of policies to Mainland 
Chinese clients surged by 32% in the first nine months of 
2023. This was attributed to the wide range of insurance 
products that Hong Kong offers and the trust in Hong 
Kong’s wel l -establ ished regulatory f ramework and 
reputation as an international financial centre.

Business Review

Leveraging Hong Kong’s commitment to develop into a 
global wealth management hub, CFSG continued to grow 
our investment and wealth management businesses.

Pursuing Platform Excellence

In our commitment to assisting clients in boosting their 
asset values, we pioneered our investment research 
platform, the CASH ISR Investment Research Platform (ISR), 
during the year. The platform was developed to enhance 
investment management capabilities and improve fund 
performance. It comprises two proprietary tools: CASH 
Radar (CR) and CASH ARM, an Artificial Intelligence Return 
Maximiser (ARM), for portfolio construction.

The CR tool analyses and compiles data based on 
fundamental and technical factors, historical financial 
information, market signals, and trading statistics to identify 
appropriate stocks for a portfolio inclusion. The ARM tool, 
on the other hand, is an artificial intelligence (AI) portfolio 
optimiser that employs LASSO GARCH to calculate 
investment parameters and provides investment weight 
recommendations based on default criteria. ISR uses big 
data analysis and AI methods to optimise portfolio weights 
and construct stylised investment portfolios to achieve 
investment goals in the most effective way possible.

Developed by CFSG, ISR is currently one of the few 
real-time investment platforms in Hong Kong that truly 
harnesses big data analysis and AI in investments. This 
robust platform not only significantly enhances the Group’s 
capabilities in investment portfolio research, analysis and 
management, but also optimises portfolio weights, builds 
stylised investment portfolios, and attains investment 
objectives with greater precision.

This powerful platform was recognised with the prestigious 
Gold award in the WealthTech category at the FinTech and 
Innovation Awards 2022/2023 by the esteemed Institute of 
Financial Technologists of Asia (IFTA). The award highly 
commended the platform for its exceptional contributions 
and innovative advancements in the application and 
development of the FinTech industry.

While Hong Kong is actively seeking to attract international 
talents, CFSG stands as one of the few financial institutions 
in the city boasting a sizable team of Chartered Financial 
Analysts (CFA®). We are also currently the only locally-listed 
Hong Kong company that uses big data to compile 
multi-factor investment models and insights for our 
i n v e s t m e n t  m a n a g e m e n t  c l i e n t s .  T h r o u g h o u r  A I 
quantitative portfolio optimisation platform, we conduct 
value analysis for investors and develop quantitative 
investment models to achieve more ideal returns.

Expanding Product Offering

In addition to receiving the esteemed FinTech accolade, ISR 
has played a pivotal role in delivering exceptional returns 
to our clients’ funds. According to data from Morningstar, 
our CASH Prime Value Equity OFC Public Fund (Bloomberg 
Ticker: CPVEQOI HK) has consistently outperformed both 
Hong Kong and mainland stock indices since its launch in 
September 2022. Remarkably, even during periods of 
market downturns, our Fund has emerged as the sole 
player in the industry to yield positive returns, surpassing 
its market peers.
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Our team of Chartered Financial Analysts (CFAs) provides 
professional External Asset Manager (EAM) services to our 
family office clients, assisting them in effectively managing 
their global investments and asset allocations. Through 
bespoke and comprehensive planning and management, 
we offer clients expert guidance to achieve their long-term 
investment management and inheritance goals. Unlike 
traditional private banks, EAM operates independently from 
the banking system, priorit is ing cl ients ’ needs and 
delivering investment advice and wealth management 
solut ions that are more personal ised, f lexible , and 
independent, all while ensuring the security of clients’ 
assets.

Throughout the year, we have continued to expand our 
network of partners, forging collaborations with various 
insurance companies and online insurance platforms. This 
expansion enables us to provide a diverse array of 
insurance products that cater to the distinct needs of our 
clients throughout different stages of their lives.

Fostering Client Communication

At CFSG, we are dedicated to nurturing strong client 
relationships through proactive communication. We 
organised various offline and online client activities to 
actively engage with them, ensuring effective and ongoing 
communication and fostering a positive and enduring 
partnership.

During the year, we continued to organise a wide range of 
investment seminars allowing our clients to interact with 
our financial analysts and expert partners. These seminars 
equipped our clients with the knowledge and tools 
necessary to meet their wealth management needs in the 
rapidly evolving information and digital age.

Fur thermore ,  CFSG act ive ly  par t ic ipated in major 
international financial forums, such as the Asia Financial 
Forum (AFF), TVB Green and Sustainable Finance Forum, 
Hong Kong FinTech Week, etc. Through these forums, we 
reached out to both local and international investors, 
strengthening our brand equity and expanding our client 
portfolio with the support of our enhanced sales team.

To actively engage in FinTech innovation, we sponsored 
the CASH Algo Trading Challenge, an international 
algorithmic trading competition that collaborated with the 
industry to bolster Hong Kong’s FinTech sector.

On the other hand, CFSG maintained close ties with our 
clients, both current and prospective, through online social 
media platforms such as Facebook, Instagram and YouTube. 
To cater to our clients in the Mainland, particularly those in 
the GBA, we established new online media platforms 
popular in Mainland China, including Xiaohongshu, WeChat 
public accounts, Kuaishou and Douyin. These platforms 
received positive feedback, attracting numerous inquiries 
about our services and products.

The outcome of these activities was highly commendable. 
CFSG was honored with the “Outstanding Family Office 
Award of the Year” and “Hall of Fame Award” at the “Best 
Greater Bay Area Enterprise Awards” by CORPHUB, a 
renowned business and financial information portal in the 
Asia-Pacific region. These awards recognise our exceptional 
performance and dedication to excellence in serving our 
clients.

Actively Promoting ESG

CFSG is, as always, dedicated to making a positive impact 
on society through our Environmental ,  Social ,  and 
Governance (ESG) initiatives. We actively engage in various 
campaigns and events to demonstrate our commitment to 
corporate social responsibility and sustainability.

One of our ongoing initiatives is our support for Food 
Angel, a charitable organisation dedicated to providing 
food assistance to those in need. We collaborate with Food 
Angel to prepare essential food aid for the underprivileged 
in society. This partnership exemplifies our commitment to 
addressing food insecurity and reducing food waste, 
contributing to the betterment of the community.

We also sponsor and recruit corporate volunteer teams to 
participate in the “Cycle for Millions” event organised by 
Pok Oi Hospital. This fundraising event supports Pok Oi 
Hospital while promoting cycling, health awareness, and 
environmental protection in Hong Kong. By contributing to 
these causes, we actively foster a healthier and more 
sustainable community while nurturing team spirit through 
this meaningful team-building event.

Employee satisfaction, engagement, and team spirit are of 
utmost importance to us. We actively participate in the “Say 
Yes To Breastfeeding” campaign initiated by the United 
Nations Children’s Fund Hong Kong (UNICEF HK), creating a 
breastfeeding-friendly work environment and supporting 
campaigns that promote a healthy work-life balance for our 
employees.
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We also organised events such as the “Smoothie Bike” 
initiative and recreational trips to Hong Kong Wetland Park, 
fostering team spirit and providing opportunities for 
employees and their loved ones to bond and create lasting 
memories. Additionally, we prioritise the physical and 
mental well-being of our col leagues by organising 
health-related workshops, offering guidance on healthy 
eat ing habits ,  and providing support for re l ieving 
workplace pain.

Through these diverse ESG efforts, CFSG strives to make a 
posit ive impact on society, enhance environmental 
susta inabi l i ty ,  and promote the wel l -being of our 
employees and the wider community. We are committed 
to being a responsible corporate citizen and contributing 
to a better future for all.

Outlook

Looking ahead, CFSG recognises the signs of recovery in 
Hong Kong’s  economy,  supported by the Centra l 
government .  However ,  we a l so acknowledge the 
challenges posed by factors such as prolonged high 
interest rates and geopol i t ical tensions negatively 
impacting investor sentiment.

In response to the evolving landscape, CFSG is actively 
evaluating the consolidation of its brokerage business into 
value-added offerings while transforming into a wealth 
management specialist. We aim to cater to the versatile 
investment needs of our clients in the GBA by leveraging 
the opportunities presented by the expanded WMC 
Scheme.

The expanded WMC Scheme strengthens f inancia l 
connectivity within the GBA and mainland China, further 
solidifies Hong Kong’s position as an international financial 
centre and the world’s largest offshore renminbi (RMB) hub. 
CFSG, with its trusted heritage of over 50 years in Hong 
K o n g ,  i s  w e l l - p o s i t i o n e d  t o  c a p i t a l i s e  o n  t h e s e 
opportunities. We are committed to supporting our clients’ 
investment and wealth management needs by offering a 
comprehensive range of services and privileges in a holistic 
approach.

In l ine with our commitment to expanding product 
offerings, CFSG established an open-ended fund in 2022 
and is now launching the first cross-border algo fund this 
year. These additions further enhance our product portfolio 
and enable us to capture the profound opportunities that 
arise.

Furthermore, CFSG recognises the advancements brought 
about by generative AI in the investment landscape. AI 
technologies, such as advanced algorithms and machine 
learning techniques, are utilised to analyse financial data, 
forecast market behaviour, and make investment decisions. 
CFSG is always at the forefront of innovation and FinTech. 
We are now transitioning into developing AI solutions for 
our FinTech business.

In summary, CFSG remains focused on flexibly adapting to 
the evolving financial landscape, leveraging opportunities 
in the GBA, expanding our product of fer ings ,  and 
harnessing the power of AI and FinTech to deliver 
exceptional investment and wealth management services 
to our valued clients.
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At 31 December 2023, the Group had 611 employees. Our 
e m p l o y e e s  w e r e r e m u n e r a t e d a c c o r d i n g t o  t h e i r 
performance, working experience and market conditions. 
The total amount of remuneration cost of employees of the 
Group for the year under review was approximately 
HK$195.0 million.

BENEFITS
The Company and some of its subsidiaries provide 
employee benefits including mandatory provident fund 
scheme, medical insurance scheme, discretionary share 
options, performance bonus and sales commission for their 
staff. The Company also provides its employees in the PRC 
with medical and other subsidies, and contributes to the 
retirement benefit plans.

TRAINING
The Group has implemented various training policies and 
organised a number of training programmes aimed 
specifically at improving the skills of its employees and 
generally to increase the competitiveness, productivity and 
efficiency of the Group including training in areas such as 
product knowledge, customer service, selling techniques, 
presentation, communication, qual ity management, 
graduate development and also professional regulatory 
training programmes as required by regulatory bodies. The 
Group also arranges for relevant staff, who are licensed 
persons under the SFO, to attend the requisite training 
courses to fulfill/comply with the continuous professional 
training as prescribed in the SFO.

The Group conducts an initial staff orientation for new 
employees in order to familiarise them with the Group’s 
h i s t o r y  a n d  s t r a t e g y ,  c o r p o r a t e  c u l t u r e ,  q u a l i t y 
management measures and rules and regulations. This 
orientation aims to prepare the new employees for the 
positions by establishing a sense of belongingness and 
cooperation; by supplying necessary information that 
resolves an employee’s concerns; and by removing any 
potential barriers for job effectiveness and continuous 
learning.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Bankee Pak-hoo KWAN, BBS, JP

Chairman, ED & CEO

DBA(Hon), MBA, BBA, FFA, FHKSI, CPM(HK), FHKIM

Dr Kwan, aged 64, joined the Board on 9 March 1998. He is 
responsible for devising the overall business strategy of the 
Group. Dr Kwan has extensive experience in corporate 
management, strategic planning, marketing management, 
financial advisory and banking. An MBA graduate from The 
Murdoch University of Perth, Australia and a BBA graduate 
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Dr Kwan was 
also conferred an Honorary Doctorate degree in Business 
Administration. Dr Kwan is also a fellow of the Institute of 
Financial Accountants, UK, the Hong Kong Securities and 
Investment Institute and the Hong Kong Institute of 
Marketing (HKIM). He is a Certified Professional Marketer 
(HK) of HKIM. He was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star 
(BBS) by the HKSAR Government and is a Justice of Peace 
(JP) of the HKSAR.

Dr Kwan is a f irm believer in youth education and 
development. He is a John Harvard fellow of The Harvard 
University, US; a member of the Harvard University Asia 
Center Advisory Committee; a trustee of New Asia College 
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong; an honorary fellow 
of The Hong Kong Metropolitan University; a member of 
the Court of City University of Hong Kong, an Adjunct 
Professor of The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong, an 
honorary director of the Pan Sutong Shanghai-Hong Kong 
Economic Policy Research Institute (PSEI) and a member of 
the Advisory Board on Business Studies of Lingnan 
University of Hong Kong, and an advisory professor and an 
honorary member of the Board of Trustees of Nanjing 
University. Dr Kwan is also an honorary advisor of several 
higher education institutions, including the LiPACE of The 
Hong Kong Metropolitan University and the Academy of 
Oriental Studies of Peking University.

In addition to education, Dr Kwan is also active in serving 
the community. Currently, he is a member of the 14th 
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political 
Consultative Conference (CPPCC); a standing committee 
member and vice convener (Hong Kong and Macao 
Members) of the 10th to 14th CPPCC, Shanghai Committee; 
the deputy chairman of the Business Facilitation Advisory 
Committee (BFAC) and also the convenor of the Wholesale 

and Retail Task Force (WRTF) of BFAC; a member of the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Advisory Committee 
(MPFSAC) and a former non-executive director of the MPF 
Authority; the president of Federation of Hong Kong-
Shanghai Associations; a member of the 5th Council of the 
China Overseas Friendship Association; a member of the 
Election Committee for the Fourth, the Fifth and the Sixth 
Term of the Chief Executive Election of the HKSAR; a 
director, an executive committee member, past honorary 
advisor and past chairman of the Hong Kong Retail 
Management Association (HKRMA); a member of the 
Securities and Futures Appeals Tribunal (SFAT); a member 
of the Labour Advisory Board of the HKSAR; a member of 
the Marketing Management Committee of the Hong Kong 
Management Association (HKMA); a director of the Hong 
Kong Justice of Peace Association. Dr Kwan has also been 
an honorary advisor of Hong Kong Small and Medium 
Enterprises Association, a member of the Central Policy Unit 
of the Government of the HKSAR and an honorary advisor 
of the CEPA Business Opportunities Development Alliance.

In December 2009, Dr Kwan was named “Entrepreneur of 
the Year 2009” in the Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards 
as organised by Enterprise Asia, which recognised his 
outstanding entrepreneurial success and signif icant 
contributions to economic life and society. In April 2016, Dr 
Kwan was named “Man of the Year for Leadership in Asia” 
by IAIR, the world’s leading financial magazine. The annual 
IAIR Awards recognise outstanding professionals who 
a c t i v e l y  p r o m o t e  e x c e l l e n c e s  i n  i n n o v a t i o n  a n d 
sustainability. In August 2018, he was bestowed with the 
“World Outstanding Chinese Award” organised by World 
Ch inese Bus iness  Investments  Foundat ion ,  which 
recognised his great contribution to the global Chinese 
society. In December 2019, The Hang Seng University of 
Hong Kong bestowed the “Junzi Entrepreneur Award” on 
Dr Kwan, recognising his continuous contribution to the 
society of Hong Kong.

Dr Kwan is the controlling Shareholder of the Company, a 
member of the Remuneration Committee and the chairman 
of the Nomination Committee. He is also an executive 
director, chairman and chief executive officer of CFSG, as 
well as a member of the remuneration committee and the 
chairman of the nomination committee of CFSG. He is the 
father of Mr Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey (executive director of 
the Company, and executive director and deputy chief 
executive officer of CFSG).
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James Siu-pong LEUNG

ED

MBA, BSocSc

Mr Leung, aged 61, joined the Board on 2 September 2019. 
He is in charge of the overall strategic development and 
business management of Pricerite Group. He has extensive 
experience in the fields of banking, debt capital market and 
retail management businesses. Mr Leung received a Master 
of Business Administration Degree from Heriot-Watt 
Un ivers i ty ,  UK and a  Bache lor  o f  Soc ia l  Sc iences 
(Management and Economics) Degree from The University 
of Hong Kong. Mr Leung is also the executive director and 
deputy chairman of Pricerite Group.

Jeffrey Teng-hin KWAN

ED

BA, MHKSI

Mr Kwan, aged 34, joined the Board on 2 September 2019. 
He is in charge of corporate management and strategic 
investments of the Group. He has extensive experience in 
financial technology, corporate and strategic management, 
private equity and investment management. Mr Kwan 
received a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Psychology from the 
Johns Hopkins University, US. He is a member of the Hong 
Kong Securities and Investment Institute. He is the son of 
Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee (the chairman, executive director 
and chief executive officer of the Company). Mr Kwan is 
also an executive director and deputy chief executive 
officer of CFSG.

Morton Tsz-yui CHEUNG

ED & CFO

BBA, CPA

Mr Cheung, aged 38, joined the Board on 20 June 2023. He 
oversees the finance and treasury function of the Group. He 
has extensive experience in the fields of auditing, financial 
reporting, investment banking and corporate finance. 
Mr Cheung received a Bachelor of Business Administration 
(Professional Accountancy) Degree from The Chinese 
Univers i ty of  Hong Kong.  He is  a Cert i f ied Publ ic 
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Mr Cheung is also an executive director and 
chief financial officer of CFSG.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS
Johnny Ka-kui LEUNG

INED

LL.B

Mr Leung, aged 66, joined the Board on 25 October 2000. 
Mr Leung has extensive experience in the legal field and is 
the managing partner of a legal firm in Hong Kong. He is a 
qualified solicitor in Hong Kong, England & Wales and 
Singapore, and is a Notary Public and China Appointed 
Attesting Officer. Mr Leung received a Bachelor of Laws 
Degree (LL.B) from The University of London, UK. Mr Leung 
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and the 
R e m u n e r a t i o n C o m m i t t e e ;  a n d a  m e m b e r  o f  t h e 
Nomination Committee. Mr Leung has resigned as 
independent non-execut ive d i rector ,  cha i rman of 
remuneration committee and member of audit committee 
and nomination committee of YNBY International Limited 
(stock code: 30), a company listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange, on 10 November 2023.

Chuk-yan WONG

INED

MSc (Business Administration), BBA, CFA, CPA, CGA

Mr Wong, aged 62, joined the Board on 3 June 1998. He has 
extensive investment management experience in the 
global financial markets. Mr Wong received a Master of 
Science Degree in Business Administration from The 
University of British Columbia, Canada and a Bachelor of 
Business Administrat ion Degree f rom The Chinese 
University of Hong Kong. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst 
(CFA)  char terholder  and a Chartered Profess iona l 
Accountant of Canada (CPA, CGA). Mr Wong is also a 
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee.
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Hak-sin CHAN

INED

PhD, MBA, BBA

Dr Chan, aged 62, joined the Board on 25 October 2000. He 
has extensive experience in the academia in the US as 
professor, researcher and consultant in the fields of 
corporate finance and international marketing. Dr Chan is 
an associate professor in the Department of Marketing at 
The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong. Dr Chan received 
a Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Business, a Master of 
Business Administration Degree from The University of 
Wisconsin-Madison, US and a Bachelor of Business 
Administration Degree from The Chinese University of 
Hong Kong. Dr Chan is also a member of the Audit 
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ada Suet-ping CHEUNG

Company Secretary

ACG, HKACG, CPA, FCCA

Ms Cheung, aged 51, joined the Group in August 2021. She 
is in charge of the company secretarial matters of the 
Group. She has extensive listed company secretarial 
exper ience .  She i s  an assoc iate of  The Chartered 
Governance Institute, UK and The Hong Kong Chartered 
Governance Institute, a Certified Public Accountant of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a 
f e l l o w o f  t h e  A s s o c i a t i o n  o f  C h a r t e r e d C e r t i f i e d 
Accountants. In addition to taking the role as company 
secretary of the Company, Ms Cheung is also the company 
secretary of CFSG.

Carrie Chiu-mei LAW

Director, Human Resources & Administration

BBA, MHKIHRM

Ms Law, aged 50, joined the Group in August 2001. She is in 
charge of the human resources and administrat ive 
functions of the Group. She has extensive experience in 
human capital management, including strategic human 
resources planning, talent management, succession 
planning and human resources measurements. She is also 
e x p e r i e n c e d  i n  m a n a g i n g  h u m a n  r e s o u r c e s  a n d 
administrative operations across regional offices. Ms Law 
received a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) 
Degree in Human Resources Management from the Hong 
Kong Baptist University. She is a professional member of 
Hong Kong Institute of Human Resources Management. 
She is also appointed as Assessor for the Recognition of 
Prior Learning Scheme with Vocational Training Council. 
Ms Law is also the Director of Human Resources & 
Administration of CFSG.

Angela Sze-kai WONG

Executive Director, CFSG

EMBA, BA, CFA

Ms Wong, aged 56, joined the Group in February 2004. She 
leads the investment management business, including 
strategic and fund product development, to align with the 
Group’s overall wealth management direction. She has over 
three decades of experience in financial services, focusing 
on investment and wealth management business in North 
America, Hong Kong, and Mainland China. Ms Wong 
received a Bachelor of Arts Degree from York University, 
Canada, and an Executive MBA Degree from Tsinghua 
University, China. She holds the Chartered Financial Analyst 
designation from the CFA Institute in the US. She is a 
responsible officer of CASH Asset Management Limited, 
CASH Wealth Management Limited and CASH Algo Finance 
Group Limited.

Daryl Wai-kwong LAI

Executive Director, CFSG

MBA, BBA

Mr Lai, aged 61, joined the Group in December 2023. He 
oversees the strategic and business development of the 
CFSG Group. He has extensive experience in marketing and 
general management, especially in the fields of wealth 
management and banking, and in both debt and equity 
capital markets in Hong Kong and Mainland China. He has 
also held senior management positions in international 
banks and an SFC-licensed financial institution of a 
Mainland State-owned Enterprise. Mr Lai received a Master 
of Business Administration Degree from Chaminade 
University of Honolulu, US, and a Bachelor of Business 
Administration Degree from University of Hawaii, US. He is a 
responsible officer of Celestial Securities Limited, CASH 
Wealth Management Limited and CASH Asset Management 
Limited.

Derek Hin-sing Ng

Chief Executive Officer, Pricerite Group

MBA, BA, PD

Mr Ng, aged 55, joined the Group in July 2023. He is in 
charge of the business development and management of 
Pricerite Group. He has extensive experience in the field of 
retail operation and management. Mr Ng received a Master 
of Business Administration Degree from Southern Illinois 
University Carbondale, US and a Bachelor of Arts Degree 
from Ottawa University, US. He holds a Professional 
Diploma in Financial Planning from The University of Hong 
Kong. In 2014, Mr Ng was bestowed with the “Asia Pacific 
E n t r e p r e n e u r s h i p  A w a r d s  2 0 1 4  –  O u t s t a n d i n g 
Entrepreneurship Award”, as organised by Enterprise Asia.



CASH  Annual Report 2023

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

23

Alfred Ka-chun MA

Managing Director, CAFG

PhD, MPhil, BSc, CIPM, ASA, PRM, CFA

Dr Ma, aged 44, joined the Group in December 2021. He is 
in charge of research and development for algorithmic 
trading and data analytics. He has extensive experience in 
the field of financial engineering and algorithmic trading. 
Dr Ma received a Doctor of Phi losophy Degree in 
Operations Research from the Columbia University, US, a 
Master of Philosophy Degree in Mathematics and a 
Bachelor of Science Degree in Mathematics from The 
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a holder of 
Certificate in Investment Performance Measurement from 
the CFA Institute, US, an associate of the Society of 
Actuaries, US and a Professional Risk Manager of The 
Professional Risk Managers’ International Association, US. 
He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst and a responsible 
officer of CASH Wealth Management Limited, CASH Asset 
Management Limited and CASH Algo Finance Group 
Limited.

William Wai-tong WONG

Managing Director, Investment Management, CFSG

MBA, LL.M, BSc, CPA(USA), CFA

Mr Wong, aged 48, joined the Group in December 2022. He 
oversees the investment management business of the 
CFSG Group. He has extensive experience in both buy and 
sell sides of the financial services sector in Hong Kong and 
in the US. His wide spectrum of f inancial services 
experience spans across investment, fund management, 
asset management, investment banking, equity research, 
wealth management and family office. Mr Wong received a 
Master of Business Administration Degree at University of 
California, Berkeley, US, a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) 
and a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). He also received a 
Master of Law (LL.M.) degree from the University of Hong 
Kong and a Bachelor of Science degree from University of 
Virginia, U.S. Mr Wong is currently a senior lecturer at the 
School of Business and Administration, Hong Kong 
Metropolitan University, and his sharing philosophy helps 
him attain the President’s award as one of the university’s 
best instructors.

Deon Chui-yee WON

General Manager of Merchandising, Pricerite Group

Ms Won, aged 55, joined the Group in May 2004. She is in 
charge of supply chain management of Pricerite Group. She 
has over 20 years’ experience in the field of supply chain 
management.

Duncan Hau-ming Ip

Director of Customer Solutions, Pricerite Group

GBM

Mr Ip, aged 41, joined the Group in 18 March 2018. He is in 
charge the overall merchandising platform of Pricerite 
Group building it as a professional data-driven organisation. 
He is responsible for fostering the understanding of 
customers’ changing preferences and buying behaviours 
whi le  opt imis ing the inventory and supply cha in 
management of Pricerite Group. Through big-data analytics, 
Mr Ip is dedicated to developing customer-oriented 
product portfolio to gain customer loyalty through 
enhanced customer sat is fact ion.  He has extensive 
experience in retail data analytics. Mr Ip holds a Bachelor of 
Global Business Management Degree from University of 
Central Lancashire, UK.

Boris Ting-pong TAM

General Manager of iRetail, Pricerite Group

BAS

Mr Tam, aged 42, joined the Group in May 2016. He is in 
charge of the e-commerce business of Pricerite Group. He 
has extensive experience in the fields of e-commerce and 
information technology. Mr Tam received a Bachelor of 
Applied Science Degree in Computing from Swinburne 
University of Technology, Australia.

Mabel Ho-yin WONG

Deputy Head of Marketing & Brand Management

BBA

Ms Wong, aged 40, joined the Group in February 2017. She 
is in charge of the development and execution of 
marketing campaigns of Pricerite Group. She has extensive 
experience in the fields of retail business and marketing. 
Ms Wong received a Bachelor of Business Administration 
Degree from Hong Kong Baptist University.
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The Directors of the Company have adopted various policies to ensure compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code as 
set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied with 
all the code provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviations:

(1) Pursuant to code provision C.2.1, the role of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual. Dr Kwan, the Chairman and ED of the Board also acted as CEO of the Company during 
the underlying year. Details were mentioned in the section of “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

(2) Pursuant to code provision C.1.6, generally independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors 
should also attend general meetings. Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny, independent non-executive director of the Company, did 
not attend the annual general meeting of the Company and Dr Chan Hak Sin, independent non-executive director of the 
Company, did not attend a special general meeting and the annual general meeting of the Company as they had other 
business engagements.

(3) Pursuant to code provision B.2.4 where all the independent non-executive directors of the Company have served more 
than nine years on the Board, the Company should appoint a new independent non-executive director on the board. 
Each of Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny, Mr Wong Chuk Yan and Dr Chan Hak Sin had served the Company as an independent 
non-executive Director for more than nine years and the Company did not appoint a new independent non-executive 
Director. Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny has served the Board for 23 years, Mr Wong Chuk Yan has served the Board for 25 years 
and Dr Chan Hak Sin has served the Board for 23 years. The Board considers that each of the three independent 
non-executive Directors have a thorough understanding of the Company’s operations, do not involve in the Company’s 
daily operations and have expressed independent advices to the Company in the past. The Board is also of the view that 
these three independent non-executive Directors are firmly committed to their responsibilities and ongoing role, and 
that the long service of these three independent non-executive Directors will not affect their independent judgements. 
The Board considers these three independent non-executive Directors to remain independent under the Listing Rules 
despite the fact that they have served the Company for more than nine years. The Board believes that the continued 
tenure of these independent non-executive Directors will help to maintain the stability of the Board as they have, over 
time, gained valuable insights into the business strategy and policies of the Group. Therefore, the Company did not 
appoint a new independent non-executive Director, which despite deviate from code provision B.2.4, would not be 
detrimental to the Company.

We will periodically review and improve our corporate governance practices with reference to the latest corporate governance 
developments.

CULTURES AND VALUES
A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral part to attain its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster a 
corporate culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies 
are aligned to it.

Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standard of business ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and 
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the relevant 
standards and requirements are set out in the relevant materials to staff and policies such as the Group’s employee handbook, 
the anti-corruption policy and whistle-blowing policy of the Group.

Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to staff development, workplace health and safety, work-life balance and 
sustainability are the key elements for staff engagement with the Group’s mission. The Group is committed to provide a safe, 
healthy and family-friendly workplace to staff so as to attracts, develops and retains the best talents and delivered the highest 
quality of work.
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THE BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board currently comprises four EDs and three INEDs. The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report 
were:

Executive Directors

Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee
Leung Siu Pong James
Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey
Cheung Tsz Yui Morton (appointed on 20 June 2023)
Li Shing Wai Lewis (resigned on 20 June 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Leung Ka Kui Johhny
Wong Chuk Yan
Chan Hak Sin

The biographies of the Directors are set out from pages 20 to 22 of this annual report under the “Board of Directors and Senior 
Management” sections.

The board possess the skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the management of the 
business of the Group. The Board of which over one third of the Board members are INEDs, thereby promoting critical review 
and control of the management process. The INEDs will also share their valuable impartial view on matters to be discussed at 
the board meetings.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Code provision C.2.1 requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and not be performed 
by the same individual. Dr Kwan, the ED and Chairman of the Board also acted as CEO of the Company during the underlying 
year. Dr Kwan is responsible for formulating the strategies and policies of the business development of the Group, providing 
leadership and overseeing the functioning of the Board. The dual role of Dr Kwan provides a strong and consistent leadership 
to the Board and is critical for efficient business planning and decisions of the Group. The CEOs of respective business units of 
the Group assisted Dr Kwan in performing CEO’s responsibilities and are responsible for formulating business plans and 
monitoring the business operation and development of the Group, and report regularly to the Chairman. The balance of power 
and authorities is also ensured by the operation of the Board and the senior management, which comprise experienced and 
high caliber individuals. In addition, the 3 INEDs provide independent and impartial opinion on issues to be considered by the 
Board. The Board is of the opinion that the current Board structure functions effectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The INEDs are all professionals with well recognised experience and expertise in professional and/or accounting fields who 
provide valuable advice to the Board. They are appointed for a term of 1 year and are subject to retirement from office and 
re-election at the AGM every year. The Company has received a confirmation of independence from each of the INEDs. The 
Board considers each of them to be independent by reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The 
INEDs have been expressly identified as such in all corporate communications of the Company that disclose the names of the 
Directors.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS
The Company has maintained a mechanism to ensure that independent view and input are available to the Board. The 
mechanism includes:

– Nomination Committee is established with clear terms of reference to identify suitable candidates, including 
independent non-executive directors, for appointment as Directors.

– Nomination Policy is in place with details of the process and criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending, cultivating 
and integrating new directorship.

– For independent non-executive directors (“INED(s)”):

(i) Every INED is required to confirm in writing to the Company his/her independence upon his/her appointment as 
Director with reference to such criteria as stipulated in the Listing Rules;

(ii) Each INED has to declare his/her past or present financial or other interests in the Group’s business as soon as 
practicable, or his/her connection with any of the Company’s connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules), if 
any;

(iii) Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal 
particulars that may affect his/her independence.

– The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs’ annual confirmations on their 
independence.

– Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED at the general meeting, it will set out in the 
circular to Shareholders the reasons it believes he/she should be elected and the reasons it considers him/her to be 
independent.

– A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the 
Company’s expense.

The implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, 
among other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies and the oversight of 
management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from these, the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on 
major acquisitions and disposals, review of interim and annual financial results, appointments and removals of directors and 
auditors, the evaluation on the performance and compensation of senior management, any material capital transactions and 
other significant operational and financial affairs. With a view to maintaining an appropriate balance between authority and 
responsibility, such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly through various committees established 
by the Board, with respective functions set out in their written terms of reference.

The Management is led by the EDs of the Board and has delegated powers and authorities to carry out the day-to-day 
management and operation of the Group; formulate business policies and make decision on key business issues; and exercise 
power and authority delegated by the Board from time to time. The Management assumes full accountability to the Board for 
the operation of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE BOARD MEMBERS
Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee (Chairman, ED and CEO of the Company) is the father of Mr Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey (ED of the 
Company). Save as disclosed herein, none of the members of the Board has any relationship (including financial, business, 
family or other material/relevant relations) between each other.

INDUCTION, SUPPORT AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
The Directors received regular updates and presentation on changes and developments to the Group’s business and on the 
latest developments in the law, rules and regulations relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities. A newly appointed 
Director will receive a comprehensive induction package covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of Directors. 
Directors’ training is an ongoing process. All Directors are encouraged to attend training sessions including but not limited to 
seminars (including online webinars), briefings, conference forums and workshop and reading materials to enrich their 
knowledge in discharging their duties as a director.

To summarise, the Directors received trainings on the following areas to update and develop their skills and knowledge during 
the year under review:–

Name of Directors
Training on corporate governance, regulatory 
development and other relevant topics

  

Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee ✔

Leung Siu Pong James ✔

Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey ✔

Cheung Tsz Yui Morton (appointed on 20 June 2023) ✔

Li Shing Wai Lewis (resigned on 20 June 2023) ✔

Leung Ka Kui Johnny ✔

Wong Chuk Yan ✔

Chan Hak Sin ✔

There is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure the Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional 
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the 
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AND TIME COMMITMENT
The attendance record of the Directors at the following meetings during the year is set out below:

Meetings attended/held
 

Name of Directors

Executive
Committee

Meeting

Full
Board

Meeting

Audit
Committee

Meeting

Remuneration
Committee

Meeting

Nomination
Committee

Meeting

Annual
General

Meeting

Special
General

Meeting
       

EDs
Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee 12/12 7/8 N/A 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1
Leung Siu Pong James 12/12 8/8 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey 11/12 8/8 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
Cheung Tsz Yui Morton 

(appointed on  
20 June 2023) 7/7 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Li Shing Wai Lewis 
(resigned on  
20 June 2023) 5/5 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

INEDs
Leung Ka Kui Johnny N/A 8/8 4/4 1/1 2/2 0/1 1/1
Wong Chuk Yan N/A 8/8 4/4 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1
Chan Hak Sin N/A 6/8 2/4 N/A 2/2 0/1 0/1

Total number of 
meetings held: 12 8 4 1 2 1 1

During the year, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting with the INEDs without the presence of the EDs.

Upon reviewing (i) the annual confirmation of the time commitment given by each Director; (ii) the directorships and major 
commitments of each Director; and (iii) the attendance rate of each Director on full Board and their executive committee 
meetings with the Management on their respective functional duties and responsibilities, the Board is satisfied that all 
Directors have spent sufficient time in performing their responsibilities during the year.

BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEEDINGS
Regular Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly interval. The Directors have access to the advice and services of 
the Company Secretary and key officers of the company secretarial team for ensuring that the Board procedures, and all 
applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

All Directors are consulted as to whether they wish to include any matter in the meeting agenda before the agenda for each 
board meeting is issued. Board meeting notice is sent to the Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular board meeting. 
Originals of the minutes of board meetings will be kept by the Company Secretary and are opened for inspection at any 
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, 
the Director will abstain from voting on the relevant board resolution in which he/she or any of his/her associates has a 
material interest and that he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at the board meeting.



CASH  Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

29

AUDIT COMMITTEE (SET UP ON 28 JUNE 1999)
The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny (chairman of the committee), Mr Wong Chuk 
Yan and Dr Chan Hak Sin.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 
Company.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of 
the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor, reviewing financial 
information and overseeing of the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control procedures. The Audit 
Committee held 4 meetings during the year.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the annual and interim financial statements and the quarterly business operation and development of the 
Group;

ii. discussed/met with the external auditor on general accounting issues of the Group, and reviewed their work and 
findings relating to the annual audit and the effectiveness of the audit process;

iii. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

iv. annual review of the non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Group; and

v. reviewed the external auditor’s independence, approved the engagement and remuneration of external auditor and 
recommended the Board on the re-appointment of external auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (SET UP ON 1 JUNE 2005)
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny (chairman of the committee) and 
Mr Wong Chuk Yan, both being INEDs, and Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee, being Chairman of the Board.

The specific written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 
the Company. Pursuant to the CG Code E.1.2(c)(ii) and the terms of reference adopted by the Remuneration Committee, its 
primary duties are to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure of the remuneration of 
Directors and senior management and the remuneration packages of individual EDs and senior management. Details of the 
remuneration of each of the Directors for the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. The 
Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year is set out as follows:

i. determined and endorsed to the remuneration policy and structure for the Directors and senior management; and

ii. assessed the performance of executive Directors and reviewed their current level and remuneration structure/package 
and approved the specific remuneration package of executive Directors.
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Remuneration policy of the Directors

The Company adopted a remuneration policy providing guideline for the Directors’ remuneration.

Under the remuneration policy, the Directors’ remuneration should be based on internal equity factors and external market 
conditions and will be reviewed from time to time.

The remuneration of EDs generally consists of:

• fixed monthly salary/allowance – which is set in accordance to the Director’s duties, responsibilities, skills, experiences 
and market influences;

• pension – which is based on the local Mandatory Provident Fund Contribution Scheme;

• short term variable incentive – which may include discretionary cash bonus depending on the achievement of 
short-term corporate objectives and/or personal targets;

• long term variable incentive – which may include share options designed to encourage long-term commitment.

The remuneration of the non-executive Director(s) of the Company (if any) and the INEDs will be a lump sum of Directors’ 
remuneration made annually.

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors for the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated 
financial statements in this annual report.

The share options granted to and/or entitled by the Directors during the year under review (if any) are set out in the section 
headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ report of this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (SET UP ON 31 MARCH 2022)
The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee (chairman of the committee), being 
Chairman of the Board, Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny and Dr Chan Hak Sin, both being INEDs.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 
the Company. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity 
of the Board; (b) reviewing the board diversity policy; (c) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members 
and making recommendations to the Board for directorship; (d) assessing the independence of INEDs; and (e) making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment, re-election or re-designation of Directors and succession 
planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

ii. reviewed the independence of the INEDs; and

iii. made recommendation to the Board on the appointment and re-election of Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the Nomination Committee to identify and evaluate a suitable candidate 
for nomination to (i) the Board for appointment; or (ii) the Shareholders for election, as Directors, at general meetings.
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Selection Criteria

The nomination policy of the Company specifies the selection criteria of Directors including but not limited to the following:

– character, experience and integrity;

– skills, experience and professional expertise which are relevant to the operations of the Group;

– diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

– requirements of independence of the proposed independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing 
Rules;

– commitment in respect of sufficient time and participation to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board 
Committee(s).

Nomination Process

– the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if though fit, approve the 
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

– to make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment; and

– the Board will have the final authority on determining the selection of nominees.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve 
diversity of the Board and is subject to annual review by the Nomination Committee. In designing the Board’s composition, 
Board diversity is considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, experience, cultural and 
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director. The Company 
will also take into account factors relating to its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate 
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Gender Diversity

The Board currently has no female Director. The Board would continue to take initiatives to identify suitable candidates so as 
to appoint at least one female Director on the Board no later than 31 December 2024 via different channels such as by 
engaging human resources agencies to identify potential successors for the Board and enhance gender diversity.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not only within the Board but among its workforce generally. As at 
31 December 2023, the number of female employees of the Group accounted for 54.01% of the total workforce. The Board is 
of the view that the Group has achieved gender diversity among employees.

The Group’s recruitment strategy is underpinned by the appointment of the right employee for the right position, in order to 
achieve employee diversity for all employees (including the senior management) in terms of gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions of the Group. The specific written terms of reference of the 
corporate governance functions is available on the Company’s website. The primary duties of the corporate governance 
functions are (a) reviewing the policies and practices on (i) corporate governance and (ii) compliance with legal and 
regulations requirements of the Company; (b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional 
development of the Directors and senior management; and (c) reviewing the Company’s compliance with code and disclosure 
in this report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the policies and practices on corporate governance, the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior management and the Company’s compliance with code and disclosure in 
this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy as set out below:

1. Purpose

The policy aims to set out the approach for the declaration and payment of dividend by the Board.

2. Vision

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders to be our goal.

3. Power of the Board

3.1 The Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that the 
Board considers appropriate.

3.2 In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:–

(i) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iii) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial covenants;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(v) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

(vi) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal or external factors 
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

3.3 Any declaration and/or payment of future dividend is subject to the Board’s determination that the same would be 
in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

4. Governing rules

Declaration of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the Laws of Bermuda, the bye-laws 
of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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5. Approval

5.1 The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim and/or special dividends as it considers to 
be justified by the profits of the Group.

5.2 Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at 
an AGM and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

6. Review of this policy

The Board will review the policy from time to time and may exercise at its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend 
and/or modify the policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

7. Legal validity

The policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend 
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time. There is no assurance 
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary, a full time employee of the Company, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia, 
providing updated and timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules 
and took no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions of Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 
of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to 
the Directors of the Company, all of them confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings and the 
code of conduct throughout the year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities to prepare the financial statements of the Group and other financial 
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and the Management has provided such explanation and information to the Board 
to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and other Board decisions. The Directors believe that they have 
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and 
reasonable and ensured the financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis. The auditor of the Company has 
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The Management has provided all members of the Board with monthly internal financial statements so as to give the Directors 
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and 
internal control systems, and for determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic 
objectives. The Management is primarily responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management 
and internal control systems.

Procedures have been designed for safeguarding the Group’s assets against unauthorised use or disposal, maintaining proper 
accounting records, ensuring the reliability and usefulness of financial information for internal business use or for publication, 
and monitoring the compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. Furthermore, they are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatements or losses.
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The key risk management and internal control procedures include the following:

(i) Delegation of authority within limits set by the Board

The Management of business units and functional departments have been delegated powers and authorities by the 
Board to carry out the day-to-day management, operation, and maintenance of the internal control systems that are 
appropriate to their business or function. The Group has adopted a tailored governance and organisational structure 
with formal and clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority to ensure segregation of duties with 
check and balance controls are effectively in place.

(ii) Risk management process

System and procedures are in place to identify, evaluate, manage, and report on the material risk types facing the Group 
including strategic, operations, compliance, reporting, information and technology risks as well as environmental, social 
and governance risks. Exposure to these risks is monitored by the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”). RMC oversees 
and defines the Group overall risk management framework, formulates the Group’s risk management policy and 
guideline, determines the overall risk acceptance level, assesses the Group’s risk profile, prioritises top risks for the Group, 
and promotes risk awareness and management knowledge.

Under the Risk Management Framework, the five steps of the risk management process adopted are risk identification, 
risk assessment and prioritisation, risk manager appointment, risk responses, and risk communication and monitoring. 
The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register provides the 
Board, the Audit Committee and management with a profile of its major risks and records management’s action taken to 
mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential 
impact upon the Group.

(iii) Changes in market condition/external environment

Processes are in place to identify new risks (including environmental, social and governance risks) arising from changes 
in market conditions or external environment which could expose the Group to heightened risk of loss or reputational 
damage. The Management is primarily accountable for measuring, monitoring, mitigating and managing the risks and 
controls in their areas of responsibility.

(iv) Financial reporting

The Management monitors the business activities closely and reviews monthly financial results of operations against 
budgets and forecasts. Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and timely accounting and 
management information. In addition, regular reviews and statutory audits are performed by our external auditor to 
ensure that the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are carried out in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable laws and regulations.

(v) Internal audit

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit 
function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be 
more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit function for the Group in 
order to meet its needs.

The Company currently engaged external independent professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls 
and risk management annually and will further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems as 
appropriate. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit function.
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(vi) Inside information

There are internal procedures and controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The Group discloses 
inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe 
harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the 
information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be 
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Group will immediately disclose the information to the 
public. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained in announcement or circulars are not false or 
misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of presenting 
information in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

(vii) Whistle-blowing channels

The Group maintains a whistle-blowing policy to encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct contrary to 
our ethical belief in confidence without the fear of recrimination. Procedures are established for employees to raise 
complaints directly to the human resources department, which will evaluate the complaint and determine whether an 
investigation is appropriate. Human resources department coordinates with relevant departments for investigation 
where necessary and recommendations on improvements are communicated to the respective management for 
implementation. Audit procedures, investigation results and subsequent follow-up actions taken are reported to the 
Audit Committee on an annual basis.

(viii) Anti-corruption policy

The Board has adopted an anti-corruption policy. The Group is committed to conducting business honestly, ethically and 
with integrity. In line with such commitment, the anti-corruption policy sets out the responsibilities of all business units 
and employees of the Group to comply with the applicable anti-corruption laws, rules and regulations. The Group 
adopts a zero-tolerance principle against corrupt practices. All employees are prohibited from soliciting, accepting or 
offering advantages from or to clients, suppliers or any person having business dealings of any kind with the Group.

Overall assessment

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of our risk management and 
internal controls systems covering all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and the 
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting, 
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group engaged an independent professional consultancy firm for performing 
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control and risk management. The consultancy firm 
identified and assessed the risks of the Group through a series of interviews; and independently performed internal control 
review and assessed effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The review results has been 
properly reported to the Audit Committee.

In addition, the Board has received confirmation from the Management that the Group’s risk management and internal 
controls systems are in place and functioning effectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board is not aware of any material internal control deficiency or significant 
areas of concern that may affect Shareholders’ interests.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategy and reporting. The Board is 
responsible for the Group’s environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) risk management and internal control systems to 
ensure that ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met. Details information on the ESG practices adopted by the Group 
is set out in the “Board Statement” section of the ESG Report of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing Shareholders’ knowledge 
and understanding of the Company. To achieve this, the Company pursues a proactive policy of promoting Shareholders 
communications. The main purpose of the Company’s Shareholders communication policy, therefore, is to enable 
Shareholders to have access, on a fair and timely basis, to information that is reasonably required for making the best 
investment decisions.

Information relating to the Group is mainly communicated to Shareholders through publication of notices, announcements 
and circulars at the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and despatch of interim reports, annual reports and 
circulars to the Shareholders. Shareholders’ general meetings are held in compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal 
requirements to ensure communication and interaction with Shareholders.

The Board reviews the Shareholders communication policy on an annual basis, and makes any changes it considers necessary 
to ensure its effectiveness and that the legal interests of Shareholders are substantially protected.

The Board has conducted a review of the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders communication policy of the 
Company. Having considered the diverse channels of communication in place, the Board is satisfied that an effective 
Shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year under review, there was no change in the constitutional documents. The Company’s Memorandum of 
Association and Amended and Restated Bye-laws is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening a SGM and putting forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than 
one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall 
have the right to submit a written requisition requiring a SGM to be called by the Board.

The written requisition (i) must state the object(s) of the meeting, and (ii) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited 
at the registered office of the Company for attention of the Company Secretary of the Company, and may consist of several 
documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with the Company’s share 
registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to 
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in 
order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM for a day 
within 2 months after the date of deposit of such requisition, the requisitionists or any of them representing more than 
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after the 
expiration of 3 months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be 
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors.
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Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than 
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company 
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to 
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is 
intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any 
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to 
be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists must be deposited at the registered office of the 
Company with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than 6 weeks before the 
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than 1 week before the meeting in the case of any 
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the 
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes 
thereof.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, 
Tricor Standard Limited at 17/F Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or tel: (852) 2980 1333 or email: 
cash1049@cash.com.hk.

Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the Group Public Affairs Department of the Company at 28/F Manhattan Place, 
23 Wang Tai Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong or tel: (852) 2287 8888 or fax: (852) 2287 8000 or email: inquiry@cash.com.hk.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND REMUNERATION
The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the 
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements in accordance with applicable standard. Members of the Audit 
Committee were of the view that the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is independent and has 
recommended the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting. During the 
year, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has rendered audit services and certain non-audit services to the Company and the 
remuneration paid/payable to it by the Company are set out as follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable
HK$

  

Audit services 4,862,000
Non-audit services:

Tax advisory 359,020
Preparation for connected transaction circular 1,093,048
Preparation for sales report 63,000
Review of continuing connected transactions and preliminary results announcement 210,000

 

6,587,068
 

On behalf of the Board
Dr Bankee P. Kwan, BBS, JP
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance 
(“ESG”) initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

SCOPE OF REPORTING
As CFSG (SEHK Stock Code: 510), a subsidiary of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange, is listed separately and issued its 
ESG report separately, this ESG Report mainly focuses on major measures and performance of the Group in its retail 
management business – Pricerite Group in respect of environmental and social aspect during the year. The ESG data and 
related ESG key performance indicator (“KPI”) of this ESG Report focuses on the head office in Kowloon Bay and 21 Pricerite 
retail stores in Hong Kong, of which 4 retail stores were closed during the Reporting Period, however, their ESG data are still 
included in this ESG Report.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK
The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG 
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 (formerly known as Appendix 27) to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on Main Board of Stock Exchange.

During the preparation for this ESG Report, the Group has applied the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting 
Guide as the following:

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 24 to 37 of this annual report.

Materiality Quantitative

ConsistencyBalance

• The materiality assessment was conducted 
to identify material issues during the 
�nancial year ended 31 December 2023 
(the “Reporting Period”), thereby adopting 
the con�rmed material issues as the focus 
for the preparation of the ESG Report. 
Please refer to the sections headed 
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality 
Assessment” for further details.

• The Group follows the 
principles of accuracy, 
objectivity and fairness to 
report its achievements and 
challenges in sustainable 
development.

• Under feasible situation, the 
Group records, calculates and 
discloses quantitative 
information and conducts 
comparisons with past 
performance. Supplementary 
notes are added along with 
quantitative data disclosed in 
the ESG Report to explain any 
standards, methodologies, and 
source of conversion factors 
used during the calculation of 
emissions and energy 
consumption.

• The preparation approach 
of this ESG Report was 
substantially consistent with 
the previous year, and 
explanations were provided 
regarding data with 
changes in the scope of 
disclosure and calculation 
methodologies.
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REPORTING PERIOD
The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges, measures taken, compliance and results of the Group during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD STATEMENT
Oversight of ESG Issues

The board of directors (the “Board”) holds the ultimate responsibility on monitoring the Group’s ESG issues, including ESG 
management approach, strategy, and policies. In order to better manage the Group’s ESG performance and identify potential 
risks, the Board conducts materiality assessment where necessary with the assistance of the ESG committee to evaluate and 
prioritise material ESG-related issues with reference to the opinions of our stakeholders.

The ESG Committee

The ESG committee, composing of core members from different departments, is established to facilitate the Board’s oversight 
of ESG matters. The ESG committee is responsible for collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the 
Group’s ESG performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The ESG 
committee arranges meetings when required to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies and procedures and formulate 
appropriate solutions to improve the overall performance of ESG policies. At meetings, the ESG committee discussed the 
existing and upcoming plans to monitor and manage the Group’s strategic goals in terms of sustainable development, 
mitigate potential risks, and minimise their negative impacts on our business operations. By setting ESG-related goals and 
targets to minimise the environmental impacts from the Group’s operation, the Group affirmed its commitment in embedding 
sustainability into the business operation and fulfil its corporate responsibility. The ESG committee would report to the Board, 
assist in assessing and identifying the Group ESG risks and opportunities, evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of 
internal control mechanism, and review the progress of the set goals and targets.

TOTAL CARING ORGANISATION
To become a Total Caring Organisation, the Group is dedicated to:

• Meeting the needs of our customers with quality products and innovative services;

• Creating an enjoyable work environment to highly engage our employees so as to maximise their potential;

• Minimising our operational impact on the natural environment; and

• Contributing to the betterment of the community, especially that of the next generation.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding its businesses and ESG performance. To understand and 
address their key concerns, the Group has maintained close communication with its key stakeholders, including but not limited 
to employees, shareholders and investors, customers, suppliers and business partners, government and regulatory authorities, 
and the community.

In formulating operational and ESG strategies, the Group considers stakeholders’ expectations through a diverse range of 
engagement methods and communication channels, as shown below:

Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations

   

Employees • Regular performance appraisal
• Training and workshops
• Internal announcement

• Remuneration and benefits
• Equal opportunities
• Career development
• Occupational health and safety

Shareholders and investors • Annual general meeting
• Financial reports
• Announcements and circulars

• Financial performance
• Information transparency
• Shareholder rights protection

Customers • Customer service hotline and email
• Company website

• Customer privacy protection
• High quality customer services
• Business ethic and integrity

Suppliers and business  
partners

• Supplier conferences and meetings • Supply chain management
• Fair and open procurement
• Mutual benefit

Government and regulatory 
authorities

• Regular performance supervision and 
evaluation

• Written or electronic correspondences
• Publications

• Compliance with laws and 
regulations

• Corporate governance

Community • Community events
• ESG reports

• Community participation
• Corporate social responsibility
• Providing job opportunities
• Environmental protection
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted during the Reporting Period, where the Group identified 
sustainability factors that were material to our business operations. The management and employees who are responsible for 
the key functions of the Group have participated in preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing its operations, 
identifying key ESG issues and assessing the importance of these issues to our businesses and stakeholders. The Group has 
compiled a questionnaire in reference to the identified material ESG aspects to collect the information from relevant 
departments and business units of the Group. The Group’s material sustainability aspects will be covered in the ESG Report, 
and the materiality matrix is as follow:

Major ESG Issues
  

1.  Customer services
2.  Product and service quality assurance
3.  Supply chain management
4.  Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination
5.  Employee remuneration and benefit
6.  Occupational health and safety
7.  Data and privacy protection

8.  Development and training
9.  Employee recruitment and promotion
10.  Anti-corruption
11.  Corporate social responsibility
12.  Anti-money laundering (“AML”) and counter-terrorist 

financing (“CTF”)
13.  Environmental protection
14.  Climate change
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CONTACT US
The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions. You can provide your valuable advice with 
regard to the ESG Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable development by visiting our website at www.cash.com.
hk.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1. Emissions

Environmental protection and sustainable development rely on concerted and continuous efforts from all 
industries and society. We strive to promote the vision of “Green CASH”, by being an environmentally responsible 
company. The Group proactively seeks opportunities to conserve energy, utilise resources more efficiently and 
reduce waste. Besides establishing environmental policies and communicating measurable environmental 
objectives to our employees, we also keep ourselves up-to-date with local environmental standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and its subsidiaries received several awards which recognised our effort in 
promoting environmental protection. The Group and its subsidiaries, collectively received the following 
environmental and social awards during the Reporting Period:

Name of Award Awarding Organisation
  

Hong Kong Awards for Environment Excellence (HKAEE) 
– Wastewi$e Certificate (Excellence Level)

Environmental Campaign Committee

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certificate Environmental Campaign Committee

The Group strives to continuously improve our performance on environmental management.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations 
relating to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and land, and the generation of 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a significant impact on the Group. The said laws and 
regulations include but are not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, only an immaterial amount of air emissions was generated from the use of 
company vehicles. Description of mitigation measures of emissions are described in the following section headed 
“GHG Emissions”.

Summary of air emissions performances:

Types of air emissions Unit 2023 2022
    

Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 1.26  1.42 1

Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 0.03 0.03
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 0.09  0.10 1

  

Notes:

1. The Group has reviewed the methodology of data collection on use of vehicles for the corresponding period in 2022 and restated 
the data of air pollutant emissions accordingly.

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were generated from purchased electricity consumed in offices and 
retail stores (Scope 2). To mitigate the biggest attributor of the GHG emissions, the Group has actively adopted 
energy conservation measures to achieve green office which are described in the section headed “Energy 
Management” under aspect A2.

In the retail management business, transportation and deliveries of products are provided by external 
transportation service providers. To reduce the carbon emissions from the mobile transportation activities of our 
business partners, we aim to optimise the number of deliveries, which includes:

• Working closely with logistic partners in developing a better fuel-efficient transportation practice;

• Packing and loading products more efficiently to reduce the number of delivery journeys; and

• Continuously improving our transportation management system to achieve more efficient journey planning.

On the other hand, video-conferencing systems have been installed in offices to reduce travel and as a result 
reduce other indirect GHG emissions.

The Group’s total GHG emissions intensity during the Reporting Period increased by approximately 12%, mainly 
due to the significant decrease in revenue while daily operations materially remained as usual despite the closure 
of 4 retail stores during the Reporting Period. To ensure the effectiveness of the measures, the Group had set a 
target of reducing the total GHG emissions intensity (tCO2e/million revenue) by 2025 when compared to 2021, 
which is also the baseline year.
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Summary of GHG emissions performances:

Scope of GHG emissions2 Unit3 2023 2022
    

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO2e 4.69 5.26
Energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO2e 1,622.30 1,729.11
Total GHG emissions tCO2e 1,626.99 1,734.37
Total GHG emissions intensity4 tCO2e/million revenue 1.60 1.43

  

Notes:

2. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business 
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG report – Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” 
issued by the Stock Exchange, the Global Warming Potential Values from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the 
Sustainability Report 2022 issued by Hong Kong Electric, and the Sustainability Report 2022 issued by CLP Holdings Limited.

3. tCO2e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

4. During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$1,016,423,000 (2022: HK$1,210,887,000). The data 
is also used for calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

Due to the Group’s business nature, the sewage discharge into land is insignificant. Similarly, there was no 
significant and unreasonable amount of sewage water discharged; used water was discharged to the municipal 
sewage network to the regional water treatment plant.

Waste Management

Due to the Group’s business nature, no significant hazardous waste is generated during operation. The waste 
generated from the business activities in offices and retail stores of the Group is mostly paper. The Group pursues 
high standard in waste reduction and educates all staff on the importance of sustainability while providing them 
with the skills and support to implement it.

A series of programmes and activities have been launched in the office to encourage the participation of staff 
towards waste management, which include:

• Implementing a Green Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Platform, including systems such 
as E-workflow and CASHARE (intranet) to build a highly efficient “paperless, IT-driven and systematic” 
working environment;

• Setting pull printing features on copy machines which is an efficient way to reduce paper waste in the office 
by preventing uncollected printouts from piling up in the printer tray;

• Achieving waste reduction goals set under the Wastewi$e Certificate recognition scheme;

• Posting a “Green message” reminder at all office equipment;

• Applying used envelopes for internal document circulation; and

• Recommending duplex or 2-on-1 page copying on recycled paper.
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The Group hopes that our stakeholders will join us and pursue a sustainable operation. We encourage reduction of 
paper consumption by offering shareholders choices to consent to receiving corporate communications materials 
by electronic means. We also encourage customers to use e-statements on our online portal in order to save 
paper.

The Group’s paper disposal intensity during the Reporting Period decreased by approximately 20%. This is mainly 
attributable to the reduction of retail stores and the total paper usage of office paper as a result during the 
Reporting Period. To ensure the effectiveness of the measures, the Group had set a target of reducing the total 
non-hazardous wastes intensity (kg/million revenue) by 2025 when compared to 2021, which is also the baseline 
year. Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge performance is as below:

Types of waste Unit 2023 2022
    

Office paper kg 7,589.65 11,230.03
Total non-hazardous wastes kg 7,589.65 11,230.03
Total non-hazardous wastes intensity kg/million revenue 7.47 9.27

  

In our offices, waste separation facilities have been implemented. We provide recycling bins for collecting scrap 
paper, plastic bottles, aluminum cans, and recyclable toner cartridges, which are then delivered to the recycling 
agents for further processing. In Pricerite retail stores, recycling bins are implemented to facilitate recycling for 
customers, and we have engaged qualified service providers for the collection and recycling on a regular basis.

The amount of recycled items at our collection points during the Reporting Period is summarised as follows:

Types of waste collected for recycling Unit 2023 2022
    

Paper kg 4,469 5,430
Aluminum cans Pieces 38 227
Plastic bottles Pieces 175 479
Toner cartridges Pieces 40 48
Battery kg 98 100
Lighting tube Pieces 499 150
Light bulb Pieces 499 1,347

  

Target Achievement Progress

For each target established, the details of corresponding measures to achieve such target will be disclosed in the 
sections of “Emissions” and “Use of Resources”. To ensure the effectiveness of the measures, the Group has set 
target to reduce the total GHG emissions intensity and the total non-hazardous wastes intensity by 2025 when 
compared to 2021, which is also the baseline year.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions intensity of the Group increased by approximately 12% 
compared to each of 2022 and 2021, of which 2021 is the baseline year for setting the target. This is mainly due to 
the significant decrease in revenue while daily operations materially remained as usual despite the closure of 4 
retail stores during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous wastes intensity of the 
Group decreased by 20% compared with that in 2022, and by 38% compared with that in 2021 which is the 
baseline year for setting the target. This is mainly attributable to the reduction of retail stores and the total paper 
usage of office paper as a result during the Reporting Period.

In the future, we will develop more specific quantitative environmental goals to nurture the environment and 
cherish natural resources. The Group will strive to achieve the targets by implementing appropriate measures in its 
operation.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group recognises its responsibility to take the initiative in efficiently utilising finite resources and carries out its 
corporate social responsibility to introduce additional eco-friendly approaches to enhance the Group’s 
sustainability performance. Therefore, the Group has established the Green Office Policy to achieve energy 
conservation.

Energy Management

In daily operation, the Group’s major energy consumption is electricity consumed in office and retail stores. In 
order to reduce our energy consumption, the Group has launched a wide variety of green measures for awareness 
building towards energy conservation:

1) Lighting

• T5 energy-efficient lighting tubes have been installed at offices;

• Staff is encouraged to switch off lighting while they are duty-off;

• Partial lighting should be switched off provided that sufficient sunlight is available indoors; and

• “Light-off” during lunch hour is highly recommended.

2) Office equipment

• Computers and other electronic equipment should be powered off while they are not in use for energy 
conservation; and

• Security guards patrol the offices at night to ensure all non-use equipment is switched off.

Apart from the measures adopted at office, the Group participated in the “Earth Hour” campaign by turning 
off the offices’ lighting for one hour with an aim to encourage the participation of staff and arise their 
concern.

The Group’s energy consumption intensity during the Reporting Period increased by approximately 7%, 
mainly due to the decrease in revenue while daily operations materially remained as usual despite the 
closure of 4 retail stores during the Reporting Period. To ensure the effectiveness of the measures, the Group 
had set a target of reducing the total energy consumption intensity (kWh/million revenue) by 2025 when 
compared to 2021, which is also the baseline year.

Summary of energy consumption performance:

Types of energy Unit 2023 2022
    

Direct energy consumption
– Petrol kWh 17,090.63 19,167.96
Indirect energy consumption
– Electricity kWh 3,603,695.00 3,996,178.00

  

Total energy consumption kWh 3,620,785.63 4,015,345.96
  

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/million revenue 3,562.29 3,316.04
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Water Management

The Group does not consume significant amounts of water through our business activities. Water usage in the 
office in Kowloon Bay and Pricerite retail stores is included in the management fee as water supply facilities are 
provided and managed by property managers on our rental premises, no meter reading is therefore available.

Although the water consumption is considered minimal, we also encourage saving by driving behavioural changes 
in the workplace. Green messages are posted in pantries and washrooms as reminders for using water efficiently. 
During the Reporting Period, the Group targets to promote water conservation in our offices and retail stores in 
the coming year.

Use of Packaging Material

In the retail management business, Pricerite, packaging material is used for delivery of goods. The major packaging 
material used in the business is plastic bag, which is offered to customers upon request.

We strictly implement the Plastic Shopping Bag Charging enforced by the Government. Customers are required to 
pay a levy in requesting a plastic bag, hence restricting the consumption of plastic bags. Promotion material of 
BYOB – Bring Your Own Bag is displayed in our retail stores to raise customer awareness in order to reduce plastic 
bag usage. In addition, we had closed down four retail stores during the Reporting Period, as a result, the number 
of plastic bags being used during the Reporting Period reduced significantly.

Summary of packaging material consumption performance:

Types of packaging material Unit 2023 2022
    

Plastic bags pieces 103,000 219,500
  

Target achievement progress

The Group has set target to reduce the energy consumption intensity by 2025 when compared to 2021, which is 
also the baseline year.

During the Reporting Period, the energy consumption intensity of the Group increased by approximately 7% 
compared to 2022, and by approximately 6% compared to 2021, which is the baseline year for setting the target. 
This is mainly due to the significant decrease in revenue while daily operations materially remained as usual 
despite the closure of 4 retail stores during the Reporting Period.

In the future, we will develop more specific quantitative environmental goals to nurture the environment and 
cherish natural resources. The Group will strive to achieve the targets by implementing appropriate measures in its 
operation.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to minimising negative environmental impacts occasioned by the Group’s business 
operations. Despite that the business activities of the Group do not significantly impact the environment and 
natural resources, we continue to be vigilant to the potential environmental impacts arising from its business 
operations.

Working Environment

The Group is committed to providing employees with a comfortable and green working environment to increase 
work efficiency. We strive to maintain a hygienic and neat environment in the workplace. The Group signed the 
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce’s Clean Air Charter to reduce emissions and create cleaner air. We 
acted on the Chamber’s 7-7-7 Care-for-Air Guidelines for the public and called on our staff to take practical steps 
to contribute to improving air quality at home, at work, and while travelling. Besides, the Group engaged in many 
different governmental environmental protection campaigns, including Green Office Education, Green Day, Biz 
Green Dress Day, Reuse and Recycle Program and Action Blue Sky.

Light Pollution

Due to the high building density in Hong Kong, external lighting at night may disturb nearby residents. To reduce 
the impact of light pollution, Pricerite strictly follows the “Charter on External Lighting” which has been in effect 
since April 2016. Certain Pricerite stores are committed to switching off decorative, promotional or advertising 
lighting, which affects the outdoor environment during the preset time (i.e. midnight to 7 am). This measure also 
helps reduce energy wastage.

A4. Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues, 
therefore closely monitors the potential impact of climate change on our business and operations. In accordance 
with the reporting framework developed by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are two 
major categories of climate-related risks, physical and transition risks.

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather events such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and 
extreme cold or heat pose acute and chronic physical risks to the Group’s business. The Group’s assets may be 
damaged and store operations disrupted, resulting in reduced revenue from lower sales and higher maintenance 
costs. Climate change may also adversely impact our employees in terms of health and commuting and cause 
displacements in communities where we operate.

To minimise the potential risks and hazards of extreme weather events, such as typhoon and black rainstorm, 
which might cause interruptions on our business, the Group has established mitigation plans including flexible 
working arrangements, and precautionary measures such as regular inspection of office premises. Moreover, we 
maintain comprehensive insurance coverage for assets that are prone to damage by extreme weather conditions, 
minimising the potential maintenance and repair costs required.

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision on carbon neutrality, the Group expects evolution of the regulatory, technological and 
market landscape due to climate change, including the tightening of national policies and listing rules and the 
emergence of environmentally related taxes. Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose enterprises 
to higher risks of claims and lawsuits, which might incur additional compliance costs and affect the reputation of 
the Group.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation risks, the Group constantly monitors any changes 
in laws or regulations and global trends on climate change to avoid cost increments, non-compliance fines or 
reputational risks due to delayed response. In addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive environmental 
protection measures, including GHG reduction measures, and has set targets to gradually reduce the Group’s 
energy consumption and GHG emissions in the future.
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B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

Respect for the rights of everyone who works for us is fundamental to the sustainability of the Group and the 
communities in which we operate. Our commitment to operate with respect for individuals is reflected in all 
aspects of the Group’s business operations and is integrated in our policies and relevant procedures. We are 
committed to providing a happy and family-friendly workplace.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with employment-related 
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the 
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of 
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the 
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the Disability Discrimination Ordinance 
(Chapter 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 514 employees (2022: total 624 employees). The headcount 
change is mainly due to the optimisation and digitisation of frontline business, and the reduction of part-time 
employees during the reporting period. Total workforce by gender, age group, geographical region and 
employment type is as follows:

2023 2022
   

Total number of employees 514 624
Gender
Male 220 262
Female 294 362
Age Group
Below 30 years old 51 80
30-50 years old 308 386
Over 50 years old 155 158
Geographical region
Hong Kong 514 624
Employment Type
Full-time 467 536
Part-time 46 88
Temporary contract 1 –

  

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has set out the Staff Recruitment Policy for our Human Resources Department to ensure that 
appropriate and standardised recruitment process is maintained. The policy will be reviewed regularly, and 
modified as required, to reflect changes in the Group’s development, best practice in recruitment process and 
compliance with the relevant legislation.

The Group devised an effective performance management system where regular performance appraisal is carried 
out to provide a two-way communication platform for improved employee relationships with the support of 
timely coaching and counseling and to give feedback on employees’ performance and help identify individual 
training needs so as to enhance performance and to develop the potential of the employee for further 
advancement. Procedures are set out in the Employee Handbook. Through the performance appraisal, the Group 
reviews and adjusts salary based on our transparent incentive structure.

The termination of employment contract is set out in the Employee Handbook and governed by internal policies 
to ensure all dismissal comply with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group strictly prohibits any 
kinds of unfair or illegitimate dismissals.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a turnover rate of approximately 33.57% (2022: 29.07%). The 
table below shows the employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region:

2023 2022
Turnover rate (%) Turnover rate6 (%)

   

Gender5

Male 31.54 29.16
Female 35.06 29.00
Age Group5

Below 30 years old 58.02 47.71
30-50 years old 33.14 27.31
Over 50 years old 24.28 21.05
Geographical region5

Hong Kong 33.57 29.07
  

Notes:

5. Calculation methodology of turnover rate: employees in the specified category leaving employment divided by the average of 
total number of employees in the specified category of the Group at the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period.

6. The Group has reviewed the methodology of data calculation on turnover rate for the corresponding period in 2022 and restated 
the data of turnover rate accordingly.

Remuneration and Benefits

As a multi-faceted service conglomerate, the Group fully understands that our success lies in the quality of service 
we provide to our customers and therefore our ability to attract, retain and motivate quality employees. The 
Employee Handbook is formulated to stipulate general practices and policies related to employment, 
compensation and benefits. To stay competitive, our base salaries are within industry norms, contributing to our 
ability to attract and retain highly skilled and motivated staff.

To attract talented people, the Group provides fair and competitive remuneration and benefits to our employees. 
We benchmark our remuneration system with the market to ensure our ability to motivate our talent pool. The 
Group adopts a comprehensive and people-oriented leave system, where comprehensive benefits are provided to 
all staff, including annual leave, birthday leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, compassionate leave, and paternity 
leave. We have pioneered the introduction of the following benefits for employees, including marriage gift 
coupon, red packet for new-born babies, purchase discount and financial trade discount for our employees. In 
addition, to express our appreciation to staff who have contributed to the Group for many years, we regularly show 
our gratitude with long service awards.

Pricerite has set up the “Best Staff” and “Best Manager” award schemes, held yearly, to recognise top-performing 
employees and teams and to raise morale. Competition is also held on a monthly basis to present awards to 
recognise outstanding frontline employees and boost their confidence from time to time. The Group believes that 
our employees’ dedication deserves recognition.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to developing, maintaining and supporting a culture of equality and diversity in 
employment, on the basis of age, race, colour, nationality, religious belief, disability, sexual orientation, political 
opinion and any other status protected by applicable legislations and ordinances. We believe that the diversity can 
enrich all employees by providing a more rewarding and less stressful environment. No one shall be discriminated 
at recruitment, selection, employment, compensation, transfers, promotion, training or development. Qualified 
individuals are employed to carry out our fiduciary duties based on their education, experience, and ability without 
discrimination.
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Work-life Balance

The Group strives to help employees maintain a good work-life balance, which we believe helps them to sustain 
their performance at work and our business. To assist employees to balance their lives, we arrange activities under 
three different themes: wellness, happiness and vivacity. The Group introduces family-friendly employment 
practices, including offering family leave benefits and employee support schemes. To promote well-being and 
enhance their relationships, the Group also organised after-work activities for employees.

B2. Health and Safety

Ensuring the health and safety of our employees is an integral part of our business activities. Therefore, we are 
dedicated to maintaining a safe, hygienic, and productive workplace by minimising the potential risk of accidents, 
injuries and exposure in relation to health risks. We ensure all employees are competent at work and are given 
adequate training to comply with all local legislations and ordinances with regard to health and safety.

The Group attaches prime importance to ensure a safe working environment, with measures in place to deal with 
natural disasters, fire, disease and accidents. We encourage our employees to treat health and safety as parts of 
their individual responsibility. The Group’s health and safety procedures are revised from time to time to ensure 
that they are risk-focused and that responsibilities are clearly defined.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with health and 
safety-related laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group including but not limited to 
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Employees’ 
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has achieved zero work-related 
fatalities in the past three years, including the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, there were 30 (2022: 
36) lost days due to 4 (2022: 5) work-related injuries, mainly occurred on our frontline staff during products and 
inventories transportation. Immediate investigation was carried out and the effectiveness of occupational health 
and safety measures was evaluated with the aim of improving the safety of workers. To avoid similar accidents in 
the future, the Group provided frontline staff with training regarding personal safety during operation, equipment 
handling, and report procedures for accidents.

Occupational Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety record is maintained to ensure that a healthy and safe workplace is provided for 
our employees at all times. Preventive measures were undertaken with the use of appropriate office equipment as 
well as performing periodic office risk assessment to enhance workplace safety. We offer comprehensive medical 
insurance plans covering clinical, hospital and dental benefits to protect the health of our employees and their 
families, as well as regular vaccination programs to reduce their risk of getting infectious diseases.

B3. Development and Training

We are committed to ensuring that the talents, skills and abilities of our employees are recognised and are utilised 
to their full capacity. The Group has implemented various training policies and organised a number of training 
programmes aiming specifically at improving the skills and developing the talents of our employees and generally 
increasing the competitiveness, productivity and efficiency of the Group.

Our training programmes are developed based on business needs and capabilities of employees. We provide 
tailor-made management training workshops for management-level employees and high-calibre talent to enhance 
their professional knowledge and competency, the mindset to take on leadership roles, the ability to face adversity 
and team spirit. During the reporting period, we organized tailor-made internal training and learning activities to 
let employees understand the latest business trends, industry needs, and the Group’s business direction and 
strategy for this year. In order to improve frontline performance, we regularly provide training programmes to 
strengthen employee’s communication and cooperation, cultivate the spirit of competition and stimulate team 
spirit. Furthermore, we leveraged our digital platforms to promote online courses and e-learning to accommodate 
the post-pandemic “new normal”.
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The Group conducts an initial staff orientation for new employees in order to familiarise them with the Group’s 
history and strategy, corporate culture, quality management measures and rules and regulations. This orientation 
aims to prepare the new employees for the positions by establishing a sense of belongingness and cooperation; 
by supplying necessary information that resolves an employee’s concerns; and by removing any potential barriers 
for job effectiveness and continuous learning.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has achieved a total training hour of 3,408 (2022: 3,114) hours. The table 
below shows the employee training data by gender and employee category:

Percentage of 
employees trained7 

(%)

Average training hours 
per employee 

(hours)8

2023 2022 2023 2022
     

Gender
Male 41.82 57.63 7.40 9.31
Female 46.26 55.52 6.05 8.50
Employee Category
Senior Management 75.00 78.95 17.50 21.40
Middle Management 77.78 53.57 11.33 13.60
General 42.08 55.81 6.09 8.04

    

Notes:

7. Calculation methodology of percentage of employees trained: number of employees in the specified category who took part in 
training divided by number of employees in the specified category at the end of the Reporting Period.

8. Calculation methodology of average training hours per employee: total training hours of employees in the specified category 
divided by total number of employees in the specified category at the end of the Reporting Period.

B4. Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group prohibits the recruitment of child and forced labour as prescribed by laws and regulations. The Group 
strictly complies with local laws and shall not provide job opportunities to those who are under the legal working 
age of respective jurisdictions.

To avoid illegal employment of child labour and underage workers, the Human Resources and Administration 
Department of the Group is responsible for verifying personal data such as the identification card during the 
recruitment process. If violation is involved, it will be dealt with according to circumstances. No employee shall be 
compelled to work against his or her will through force or intimidation of any form or subjected to corporal 
punishment or coercion of any type related to work. Overtime compensation procedures are set out in the 
Employee Handbook where overtime compensation leave will be provided to eligible employees when they are 
required to work overtime.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with child and forced 
labour-related laws and regulations, that would have a significant impact on the Group including but not limited 
to the Employment of Children Regulations (Chapter 57B of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Employment 
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to creating a sustainable relationship with our suppliers and consultants through 
operating in an open and fair manner. Our major suppliers are mainly engaged by Pricerite Marketing Limited, 
Pricerite Food Limited, and Pricerite Pet Necessities Limited. During the Reporting Period, the Group has engaged 
386 suppliers (2022: 422 suppliers), which breakdown by geographical regions as below:

2023 2022
   

Geographical Regions
Hong Kong 345 379
China (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) 33 34
South Korea 2 2
Japan 3 2
Taiwan 1 1
India 1 1
Thailand – 1
United Kingdom – 1
Vietnam 1 1

  

Total number of suppliers 386 422
  

To ensure that the suppliers meet our requirements in regard to quality, environmental and social standards, we 
carry out assessment for review, approval and disapproval of suppliers and subcontractors. Prior to making any 
procurement decisions, we will conduct assessments on suppliers and consultants to avoid environmental and 
social risks. We maintain a list of approved suppliers and consultants; they may be suspended or removed from the 
approved list if they fail to fulfil the agreed standards.

Green Procurement

To support sustainability, our Green Supply Chain initiative applies strict environmental, social and ethical criteria 
to the suppliers of our business. We place high demands on suppliers and the Group shall select suppliers with 
similar standards set by the Group as our prefer suppliers. We have incorporated sustainability considerations into 
our sourcing and outsourcing practices, requiring suppliers to meet the basic standards. For example, all suppliers 
are expected to adhere to these basic principles:

• Operating as an equal opportunity employer and recognising the right to collective bargaining as well as 
minimum and prevailing wages and benefits;

• Maintaining probity and accountability standards;

• Minimising discrimination against small and medium-sized enterprises or local vendors;

• Providing a healthy and safe working environment, not using any forced or child labour, and refraining from 
harassment or abuse of employees; and

• Supporting sustainable development, acting responsibly with regard to the environment, observing 
environmental criteria to conserve resources, minimising the negative environmental effects of the 
production, application and disposal of products, and reducing the use of hazardous products as much as 
possible.
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B6. Product Responsibility

As a total caring organisation, it is our mission to provide our customers with a meaningful experience when 
utilising our services, therefore the Group understands the importance of expertise for ensuring service quality. 
Satisfying our clients is our central focus. This principle guides all our activities and applies to all business divisions. 
The key elements are transparency and high-quality advice, which enable us to improve client satisfaction and 
achieve customer loyalty in the long term.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations 
that would have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the Trade Descriptions Ordinance 
(Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong), concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and 
services and methods of redress.

Quality Assurance

In the sales of furniture and household items, the Group strives to achieve the highest standard in terms of quality, 
safety, and consistency. We have implemented the Product Approval & Pre-Shipment Inspection Policy to regulate 
the quality assurance procedure regarding our products, covering the New Product Quality Assurance Approval for 
our electrical appliances, household products, and pet products. Pricerite has received Q-Mark Service Certification 
from Hong Kong Q-Mark Council since 2006, and TMF has received the certification since 2018. The certification 
recognises our competency on providing high standards of service to customers.

To safeguard our baseline, we involve an independent Quality Assurance Team in assuring product quality and 
safety. The team assures the satisfaction of customer expectations by the following means:

• Product development – review of new designs, examination of product specifications, analysis of customer 
expectation conformance;

• Supplier assessment – inspection of suppliers’ capability in satisfying quality requirements, solving supply 
problem by establishing communication channels with suppliers;

• Pre-shipment inspection – inspection of functionality and safety of finished goods to ensure conformance to 
required specifications; and

• Complaint handling – review of product defects and mismatches against customer expectation, provision of 
improvement plans on product quality.

As part of the standard operating procedure, the Group also has in place the Product Recall Procedure to mitigate 
the distribution and sale of the affected product, so as to protect customer health and safety. With the procedure, 
we ensure that the removal of affected product from the marketplace as well as the stores is carried out efficiently. 
After the recall procedure, Improvement Note will be completed by the quality assurance department to analyse 
the root cause and determine the nature of the problem while corrective action plan is implemented to prevent 
another recall. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not recall any products for safety and health reasons.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received approximately 212 (2022: 380) complaints regarding product 
issues, such as product defect and missing parts, and approximately 209 (2022: 480) complaints regarding delivery 
and installation services. To conduct immediate investigation, we collected information, including sales 
transaction, detailed complaints content with photo and video, and acknowledge the customer’s case within 3 
working days to provide solution that meet customer’s need. All follow up action were ensured to be strictly 
complied with our standard operating procedures and tickets in Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”) 
System were created for record.
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The Group considers the customers’ feedback as an opportunity to improve our product quality and business 
operation. After the follow-up actions were taken, the root causes of complaints are analysed and review meetings 
with stakeholders are conducted. We implement remedy plans such as continuous quality improvement plan 
(“CQI”) and scorecard marking scheme. To ensure the effectiveness of our procedures, the Group sets relevant KPIs 
and reviews standard operating procedure periodically through monthly performance tracking reports, so that 
prompt adjustment can be made and action plan can be fine-tuned where necessary.

Customer Services

The Group maintains an open and welcoming attitude to feedback and complaints from the Group’s customers 
and guests, as the Group views it as an opportunity to improve its service. Procedures for handling complaints are 
detailed in the Complaint and Suggestion Handling Policy for the reference of relevant employees. Should the 
Group receive any complaints, the Group will strive to act immediately to resolve the issue with effective corrective 
actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received approximately 63 (2022: 90) complaints regarding customer 
services. With immediate response to the customers, investigation and interview were conducted by store 
operation management with the staff concerned. To ensure similar issues will be avoided, relevant staff are 
provided with intensive training course, while case study and field sharing are conducted by staff training 
department with frontline staff. The improvement plan regarding the complaints is closely monitored and 
reviewed by staff training department and operation management team.

Handling of Personal Data

The Group strictly adheres to regulatory requirements on data privacy, through fulfilling high security and 
confidentiality of personal data privacy protection. We are committed to maintaining and protecting personal data.

Internal policy has been established to govern the collection and handling of personal data received from a data 
subject. Under our data protection principles, a Privacy Policy Statement (“PPS”) is acknowledged to enable the 
public to ascertain the data user’s general policies and practices in relation to the collection, holding and use of 
individual personal data.

Furthermore, in accordance with our data protection principles, a Personal Information Collection Statement 
(“PICS”) is acknowledged whenever there is collection of personally identifiable information from individuals to 
notify data subjects of certain matters in relation to specific collections of personal information from them. The 
Group will not use or provide personal data to any person for use in direct marketing unless we have obtained the 
data subject’s consent in writing. Meanwhile, the Group maintains sound safety system and measures to prevent 
unauthorised use of personal data.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Policies and measures regarding the protection of intellectual property rights are in place. For any infringement of 
the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group will urge infringers to cease such action. The Group shall take 
further action should infringement continue.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group strives to promote and maintain the highest standards of honesty, integrity and fairness. All of our staff 
must ensure that the Group’s reputation is not tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Policies on the 
aforementioned matters are clearly stated within the Employee Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited to the Prevention of 
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) that would have a significant impact on the Group. 
During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded legal cases regarding any forms of fraud brought against 
the Group or its employees.

Whistle-blowing Channels

The Group maintains a Whistle-blowing policy to encourage employees to report any suspected misconduct 
contrary to our ethical belief in confidence without the fear of recrimination. Procedures are established for 
employees to raise complaints directly to the Compliance Department, which will evaluate the complaint and 
determine whether an investigation is appropriate. Compliance Department coordinates with relevant 
departments for investigation where necessary and recommendations on improvements are communicated to the 
respective management for implementation. Audit procedures, investigation results and subsequent follow-up 
actions taken are reported to the Audit Committee on an annual basis.

Anti-corruption Training

Training related to anti-corruption are rendered to our management and employees to boost their awareness on 
the prevention of any kind of unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. During 
the Reporting Period, Directors and senior management have attended anti-corruption training held by the 
Company.

B8. Community Investment

Adhering to our core value of “Total Caring”, the Group has been caring for different sectors and groups in society 
for many years. We and our employees are dedicated to working hand-in-hand with local communities in a variety 
of initiatives ranging from job creation to youth education and disaster relief.

Community Engagement

The Group believes that contributing to society is the due responsibility of every local organisation – and we 
contribute to a variety of causes in Hong Kong every year. Apart from taking care of the needy during the 
pandemic, the Group also contributed to the community, engaging in various big and small activities.

• In support of the social service funding of Pok Oi Hospital, and promoting cycling in Hong Kong and the 
awareness of environmental living, the Group sponsored and recruited corporate teams to participate in the 
Pok Oi Cycle for Millions 2023 event and donated approximately HK$32,000 in this event.

• Putting into practice our core value of “Total Caring”, the Group invited Gingko Store, a service project to 
promote employment for the elderly, to offer organic vegetables and organic products at discounted prices 
to our Group. Through the purchase of hand-made packaged food from Hong Kong kitchens and organic 
crops from the organic farm, we provided diverse employment opportunities for the elderly and promoted a 
low-carbon and environmentally friendly lifestyle.

• Embracing diversity and respecting individual needs, Pricerite Home and CFSG supported UNICEF’s campaign 
Say Yes to Breastfeeding by establishing private breastfeeding-friendly zones in our stores and offices. Our 
effort was recognised by UNICEF and the Department of Health with a Gold Label certificate presented to 
Pricerite Home. CFSG also received a Certificate of Appreciation for their contribution to supporting 
breastfeeding.
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• Pricerite Group has teamed up with a number of enterprises to create “smart community” in the transitional 
housing project, which alleviates housing problems faced by low-income citizens. Promoting sustainable 
development and supporting smart communities, Pricerite Group set up an innovative smart shopping wall 
with self-service points for home product purchases, offering a variety of household goods, appliances, 
furniture, food, and beverages to meet the residents’ daily needs. Residents are eligible to enjoy discounted 
prices and free shipping on Pricerite online store.

• In support of the development of local football, Pricerite Group sponsored the Kwai Tsing District Football 
Association to support aspiring football players, especially young football players, in their training and 
matches.

• As part of our commitment to assisting grassroots families, our staff volunteered at the “Food Angel” Kitchen 
in May 2023, where they prepared surplus food to create nutritious meals for redistribution to the 
underprivileged communities.

On behalf of the Board
Dr Bankee P. Kwan, BBS, JP
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG 
KONG LIMITED

Subject Areas, 
Aspects, General 
Disclosures and 
KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and 
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Emissions

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

Emissions

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity. Emissions
(Not applicable – Explained)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity. Emissions
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emissions
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 

and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

Emissions

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 

other raw materials.
Use of Resources

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and 
intensity.

Use of Resources

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 

achieve them.
Use of Resources

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

Use of Resources

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and 
with reference to per unit produced.

Use of Resources

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer ’s s ignif icant impact on the 

environment and natural resources.
The Environment and Natural 
Resources

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

The Environment and Natural 
Resources

Aspect A4: Climate Change
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related 

issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
Climate Change

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions 
taken to manage them.

Climate Change
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Subject Areas, 
Aspects, General 
Disclosures and 
KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

B. Social
Aspect B1: Employment
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, 
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination 
and other benefits and welfare.

Employment

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full– or 
part-time), age group and geographical region

Employment

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting 
employees from occupational hazards

Health and Safety

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past 
three years including the reporting year.

Health and Safety

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and 

how they are implemented and monitored.
Health and Safety

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 

duties at work. Description of training activities.
Development and Training

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

Development and Training

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 
employee category.

Development and Training

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Labour Standards

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child 
and forced labour.

Labour Standards

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standards
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Subject Areas, 
Aspects, General 
Disclosures and 
KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 

chain.
Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of 

suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they 
are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks 
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy matters 
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

Product Responsibility

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 
safety and health reasons.

Product Responsibility

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how 
they are dealt with.

Product Responsibility

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 
intellectual property rights.

Product Responsibility

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how 

they are implemented and monitored.
Product Responsibility

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-Corruption

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the 
outcomes of the cases.

Anti-Corruption

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 
and how they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-Corruption

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-Corruption
Aspect B8: Community Investment
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take 
into consideration the communities’ interests.

Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, 
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

Community Investment

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Group during the year consisted of 
(a) retail management business including sales of furniture and household items, electrical appliances, food and pets 
accessories through the chain stores under multi-brand names including “Pricerite Home”, “TMF”, “SECO”, “Pricerite Food” and 
“Pricerite Pet” in Hong Kong; (b) the provision of investment management services to fund investors (the “Investment 
Management Business”); and (c) the other financial services business (other than the Investment Management Business) 
provided through CFSG (a 64.47%-owned listed subsidiary of the Company).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income on page 77 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on the Group’s future business development and possible 
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided in the sections of “Financial Review”, “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” and “Chairman’s Letter” of this annual report and note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 41 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the section of 
“Financial Review” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no important event affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
We fully understand that our business is built on the long-term well-being of the “people” in our service areas at large.

Throughout the course of our business development, we care about the needs of our key stakeholders, inter alia, our 
shareholders, our employees, our customers, our suppliers and our community. As such, we strive to become a “Total Caring 
Organisation” to embrace the all-round needs of our key stakeholders.

The Group upholds the “People-oriented” principle as our core belief and this forms the essence of our corporate culture. We 
respect the various needs of these “people” as our stakeholders and we strive to balance the different spectrum of interests for 
the development of a better future.

Our five core values namely “People”, “Customers”, “Quality”, “Teamwork” and “Change” serve as the guiding principles for the 
whole team to move ahead.

We are dedicated to creating an enjoyable work environment to highly engage our employees so as to maximise their 
potential, meeting the needs of our customers with quality products and innovative services and enhancing cooperation with 
our suppliers so as to provide high-quality products and services to our customers so as to ensure our sustainable 
development.
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Shareholders

The Group is committed to communicating with our shareholders and the financial community proactively, transparently and 
effectively, and thereby ensuring consistent and timely dissemination of information to shareholders and potential investors.

We have established effective channels of communication with our shareholders to ensure that the corporate information is 
readily accessible. Corporate communications materials with regard to regulatory disclosures and notices of the Company, 
such as financial reports, results announcements, corporate announcements and circulars will be distributed according to the 
principles of continuous disclosure, and complies with the legal and regulatory requirement applicable to the Company. 
Corporate communications and other general information concerning the Company and its businesses such as press releases 
will be posted on the corporate website (www.cash.com.hk) and distributed to the media as soon as practicable. The Company 
adheres to its corporate policy of not disclosing unpublished or potentially price-sensitive information such as sales and profit 
forecasts.

Employees

Our staff is regarded as the most important asset of the Group. We offer a competitive remuneration package and great 
opportunities for career advancement based on performance-linked appraisal system. Our passion in fostering a learning 
culture is recognised. The honour of “Super MD” from Employees Retraining Board (“ERB”) Manpower Developer Award 
Scheme recognises the Group’s efforts and commitment to training and development. We also provide our staff with regular 
trainings, including internal trainings and refresher courses offered by professional organisations, so as to keep them abreast of 
the latest development in the market, industry and various businesses.

The Group is committed to the well-being of our employees as we believe that a healthy body and soul will have a positive 
impact on people’s professional and personal lives.

Along with initiatives designed to improve the health, safety and well-being of our employees, the Group also offers 
recreational and educational activities in different topics such as professional growth, work-life balance, health and safety, 
rewards and recognitions, employees’ families, amazing occasions to help staff to pursue their interests, explore their full 
potential and recharge after work. The Group is the “Family-Friendly Employer” under the scheme by the Home Affairs Bureau 
and the Family Council in recognition of our family-friendly employment policies and practices which have positive impact to 
the Company and employees’ family life.

In recognition of our commitment and effort in developing employee-orientated human resources management and 
promoting Family-friendly Employment Practices, we have been recognised as a Signatory of Good Employer Charter under 
the scheme by the Labour Department.

We sincerely care about our employees’ retirement needs and have gone the extra mile to provide additional retirement 
benefits for them. The Group and CFSG have been awarded the accolade of “Good MPF Employer 5 Year+” with e-Contribution 
Award & MPF Support Award, and Pricerite Home has been awarded the accolade of “Good MPF Employer” with 
e-Contribution Award & MPF Support Award by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority (MPFA).

CFSG and Pricerite Home were honoured by UNICEF with the Certificate of Appreciation for being a Breastfeeding Friendly 
Workplace in recognition of their support for mothers to continue breastfeeding and provide optimal nutrition to the next 
generation upon their return to work.
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Customers

We value the customers’ interests as the first priority. It is our mission to provide customers with a meaningful experience 
when utilising our services.

We value the feedback from customers and always try to understand their thoughts through Internet, daily communication, 
customer services and after-sale services etc. In addition, we also set up website, e-portal, email, Facebook and customer 
service hotline to respond to the feedback of customers.

In recognition of Pricerite Home’s excellent quality service performance, the Company was accredited with Hong Kong Retail 
Management Association’s (HKRMA) “Quality Service Recognition”. Pricerite Home and TMF have been recognised as “QTS 
Certified Retail Shop” by Hong Kong Tourism Board for their high standards of product quality and service.

Pricerite Home received Hong Kong Q-Mark Service Scheme Certificate from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, proving 
that the service provided by the Company is of high quality and meets the standards set by the prestigious certification 
scheme.

For its outstanding performance in O2O customer experience, Pricerite Home was awarded the HKRMA’s Top 10 O2O Retail 
Brand Award, the Top 10 Quality Trusted E-Shop Award (Silver) and the “O2O Customer Experience Recognition (C.X.R)”.

Pricerite Home gained the honour of “Excellence in Best Marketability” at Brand Design Awards organised by Hong Kong 
Designers Association in recognition of the Company’s distinguished creativity as well as its excellent customer experience and 
customer communication.

Pricerite Home received the Mame Awards which recognised the parent-child brands for their outstanding performance and 
contributions, proving that the Company was popular among the public.

Pricerite Home and CFSG have been recognised as “Hong Kong Premier Service Brand” and “Hong Kong Top Service Brand” 
respectively in Hong Kong Top Brand Mark Scheme by Hong Kong Brand Development Council.

With our excellent and professional services in wealth management and family office, CFSG has been recognised as “Hall of 
Fame” and received the Outstanding Family Office Award in the Greater Bay Area Most Outstanding Awards organised by 
Corphub, a well-known business and financial information website in the Asia-Pacific region.

CASH Wealth Management Limited and CASH Quant-Finance Lab Limited, the subsidiaries of the Group, received the Gold 
Award of Corporate Achievements in FinTech Solutions (Wealth Tech) from the Institute of Financial Technologists of Asia 
(IFTA) in the IFTA Fintech and Innovation Awards in recognition of their outstanding innovative achievement in FinTech 
application and development.

Suppliers

We firmly believe that our suppliers are equally important in building high-quality businesses. We proactively communicate 
with our suppliers to ensure they are committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable products and services.
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Community

The Group is devoted to supporting the community in which we operate through donation, education, volunteering and 
encourage others to give.

Over the past years, we show our care about the community with unsparing support for wide-ranging community services and 
charities. We have also been encouraging our employees and their family members to take part in voluntary services after work 
and serve the disadvantaged in the community.

Showing the sustainability and breadth of our corporate social responsibility efforts, the Group and CFSG have been awarded 
the accolade of “15 Years Plus Caring Company” and Pricerite Home has been awarded the accolade of “20 Years Plus Caring 
Company” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service (HKCSS) in recognition of our achievements in “Caring for the 
Community”, “Caring for the Employee” and “Caring for the Environment”. They serve as a recognition for our contribution to 
community services and commitment to employee engagement.

Pricerite Home has been recognised as “QF Star Supporter” by the Education Bureau for its dedication to promoting the 
Qualifications Framework.

CFSG was honoured by UNICEF with the Certificate of Appreciation for being an Effective Outreach Partner of the Say Yes To 
Breastfeeding Campaign 2023/24, and Pricerite Home received the Certificate of Appreciation (Gold Label) for being a 
Breastfeeding Friendly Premises. This recognition underscores CFSG’s support in promoting breastfeeding, while 
acknowledging Pricerite Home’s commitment to creating a breastfeeding-friendly environment.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
As a total caring organisation, the Group is dedicated to keeping the environmental impact of our operations to a minimum, 
balancing business needs with conservation.

The Group adopted “Green Office Policy” with various measures regarding minimisation of energy and paper consumption and 
recycling being implemented. We also execute different types of “Green Office Campaign” in our office to enhance staff 
awareness and participation for environmental protection.

Over the years, the Group has participated in various environmental protection programmes and campaigns organised by 
reputable institutions and have been recognised with awards. CFSG received Wastewi$e Certificate (Good Level) and Pricerite 
Home received Wastewi$e Certificate (Excellence Level) at 2022 Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence from 
Environmental Campaign Committee. CFSG and Pricerite Home have been recognized as the “Hong Kong Green Organisation” 
by the Committee. The achievements highlighted the Group’s total caring culture and commitment to responsible business.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have 
significant impact on the Group. During the year, the Group has materially complied with the relevant laws and regulations on 
corporate level as well as those that have a significant impact on the operations of the Group.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the audited results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31 December 
2023 is set out on pages 181 to 182 of this annual report.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements during the year in the property and equipment of the Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.



CASH  Annual Report 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

65

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity” of the consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 81 of this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are shown in note 49 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

At 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders, calculated in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to approximately HK$129,808,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
During the year under review, the Company had the following continuing connected transaction under Rules 14A.55 and 
14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

On 20 February 2023, Celestial Securities Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of CFSG, and a subsidiary of the Company held 
through CFSG) entered into the margin financing agreements with each of the following connected clients (collectively the 
“Connected Clients”):

(i) Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee;

(ii) Mr Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey;

(iii) Mr Leung Siu Pong James;

(iv) Mr Law Hin Ong Trevor (resigned on 10 January 2024);

(v) Ms Wong Sze Kai Angela; and

(vi) Cash Guardian Limited.

Pursuant to the respective margin financing agreements above, Celestial Securities Limited granted a margin financing 
facilities to each of the Connected Clients for a term commencing on 20 February 2023 and ending on 31 December 2024 at 
an annual cap of a sum up to HK$40 million (which represents the maximum outstanding balance, including accrued 
outstanding interests, of the margin financing facility) for each of the two financial years ending 31 December 2024.

As at the date of the respective margin financing agreements, (i) each of Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee, Mr Leung Siu Pong James 
and Mr Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey is a director of the Company; (ii) Cash Guardian Limited is indirectly wholly-owned by Dr Kwan 
Pak Hoo Bankee; and (iii) each of Mr Law Hin Ong Trevor and Ms Wong Sze Kai Angela is a director of CFSG, each of the 
aforesaid persons is a connected person of the Company. Therefore, the margin financing arrangement with each of the 
Connected Clients constitutes a continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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As (i) each of Mr Law Hin Ong Trevor and Ms Wong Sze Kai Angela is only a connected person of the Company at the 
subsidiary level; (ii) the Board has approved the margin financing arrangement with each of Mr Law Hin Ong Trevor and 
Ms Wong Sze Kai Angela; and (iii) the independent non-executive directors of the Company have confirmed that the terms of 
each of such transactions are fair and reasonable, each of such transactions are on normal commercial terms or better and in 
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, the margin financing arrangement with each of Mr Law Hin Ong 
Trevor and Ms Wong Sze Kai Angela was exempted from the circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’ approval 
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

Save and except of the above, all of the above margin financing agreements were approved by the independent Shareholders 
at the SGM held on 29 March 2023. Details of the transactions were disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and 
CFSG dated 20 February 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 13 March 2023.

Mr Law Hin Ong Trevor has resigned as directors of CFSG and its certain subsidiaries on 10 January 2024 but remained as 
connected person of the Company until 10 January 2025 (i.e. after 12 months of his resignation form the Group).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Connected Clients has used the margin financing facilities.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that the abovementioned continuing connected 
transaction was entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business; (ii) on normal commercial terms or 
better; and (iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the aforesaid Group’s continuing connected transactions of the Company 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to 
Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has 
issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions 
disclosed above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the 
auditor and the Company to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
Details of the related party transaction entered into by the Group are set out in notes 34 and 45 to the consolidated financial 
statements and those related party transactions which are related to the continuing connected transactions of the Group as 
disclosed under heading “Continuing Connected Transactions” above in this section or are connected transactions exempted 
from announcement, reporting, annual review and shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation 
to the related party transaction of the Group during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, the Group’s turnover attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the 
Group’s total turnover.

In the year under review, the Group’s purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the 
Group’s total purchases.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the publication date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee
Leung Siu Pong James
Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey
Cheung Tsz Yui Morton (appointed on 20 June 2023)
Li Shing Wai Lewis (resigned on 20 June 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Leung Ka Kui Johnny
Wong Chuk Yan
Chan Hak Sin

The following Directors shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM:

(i) Mr Cheung Tsz Yui Morton, being newly appointed ED, shall retire at the AGM in accordance with the Company’s 
bye-laws; and

(ii) Mr Leung Ka Kui Johnny, Mr Wong Chuk Yan and Dr Chan Hak Sin, all being INEDs, shall retire at the AGM in each year 
in accordance with their terms of office of directorship.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF 
THE LISTING RULES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no other changes to the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by 
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory obligation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed under the heading of “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Related Party Transactions” in this section 
above or are connected transactions exempted from announcement, reporting, annual review and shareholders’ approval 
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, no transaction, arrangement, or contract of significance to which the 
Group was a party, and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any 
time during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) 
which (a) were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (b) as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

A. The Company

Long positions in the Shares

Number of Shares
 

Name Capacity Personal Corporate interest Shareholding
(%)

     

Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee Beneficial owner and interested in 
a controlled corporation 598,501 39,599,098* 49.79

Leung Siu Pong James Beneficial owner 37,642 – 0.05
   

636,143 39,599,098 49.84
   

* The Shares were held by Cash Guardian. Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee was deemed to be interested in all these Shares as a result of his 
interests in Cash Guardian as disclosed in the “Substantial Shareholders” below.

B. Associated corporation (within the meaning of SFO)

CFSG

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each

Number of shares
 

Name Capacity Personal Corporate interest Shareholding
(%)

     

Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee Beneficial owner and interest in 
a controlled corporation 2,472,000 277,989,563* 65.05

Kwan Teng Hin Jeffrey Beneficial owner 2,472,000 – 0.57
   

4,944,000 277,989,563 65.62
   

* The shares were held by CIGL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Praise Joy Limited (which was 100% beneficially owned by the Company). 
The Company was beneficially owned as to approximately 49.79% by Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee, details of which were disclosed in the 
“Substantial Shareholders” below. Pursuant to the SFO, Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee was deemed to be interested in all the shares held by 
CIGL in CFSG.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors, chief executive or their associates had any 
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(A) The Company

The Old Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 21 May 2012 was terminated pursuant to an ordinary 
resolution passed at the SGM held on 30 September 2021. The New Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to an 
ordinary resolution passed at the SGM held on 30 September 2021 in place of the Old Share Option Scheme dated 21 
May 2012. The Old and New Share Option Schemes were adopted before the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules 
effective on 1 January 2023. The Company will comply with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in accordance with 
the transitional arrangements for the Old and New Share Option Schemes. The options granted under the Old Share 
Option Scheme before termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the 
options. Particulars of the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and the Old Share Option Scheme are set out in note 
42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the movements in the share options to subscribe for the Shares granted under the Old Share Option Scheme 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below. No option has been granted under the New Share Option 
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Number of options 

Participants Date of grant Exercise period
Exercise price

per share Notes

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January
2023

lapsed 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December
2023

(HK$) (Note (6))        

Directors 16/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 1.450 (1), (3) 3,200,000 (3,200,000) –

Service Providers 
(including consultants) 16/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 1.450 (2),(3),(5) 550,000 (550,000) –   

3,750,000 (3,750,000) –   

Notes:

(1) The options are vested in 2 tranches as to 50% exercisable from 1 August 2021 to 31 July 2023 and 50% exercisable from 1 August 2022 
to 31 August 2023 respectively. The options must be exercised within 1 month from the date on which the Board’s approval of the 
vesting of the options.

(2) The vesting of options is subject to the satisfactory delivery of services to members of the Group as approved by the chairman of the 
Board and/or the Board determined at their sole discretion.

(3) The options must be exercised within 1 month from the date on which the Board’s approval of the vesting of the options.

(4) No option was granted, exercised or cancelled during the year.

(5) The options were granted to Mr Law Ping Wah Bernard (“Mr Law”) as consultant of the Group for provision of advisory services to the 
Group in relation to financial planning and analysis, risk management, business restructuring, mergers and acquisitions etc. Mr Law is a 
former executive director and chief financial officer of the Company with extensive experience in financial management and accountancy 
and is familiar with the Group’s financial and corporate structure and management system. The Board is of the view that the grant of 
options will provide incentives for Mr Law to provide professional financial advisory services and planning to cater for business needs of 
the Group which will align his interests with the Group and secure his long-term support and commitment to the Group.

(6) The lapsed options were due to expiry of the options in accordance with the terms of the share options.

(7) The total number of Shares available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme is 8,072,018 representing approximately 10% of the 
issued Shares as at the date of this annual report. There were no outstanding options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme as at 
the date of this annual report, therefore no Shares available for issue under the Old Share Option Scheme.

(8) The number of options available for grant under the mandate of the New Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 
2023 was 8,072,018. The Old Share Option Scheme was terminated on 30 September 2021 and therefore no options were available for 
grant as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023.
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(B) The subsidiary

CFSG

The CFSG Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting 
of CFSG held on 8 June 2018. The CFSG Share Option Scheme was adopted before the new Chapter 17 of the Listing 
Rules effective on 1 January 2023. CFSG will comply with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in accordance with the 
transitional arrangements for the CFSG Share Option Scheme.

Details of the movements in the share options to subscribe for shares of HK$0.04 each in CFSG granted under the CFSG 
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:

Number of options 

Participants Date of grant Exercise period
Exercise price

per share Notes

outstanding 
as at 

1 January
2023

lapsed 
during 

the year

outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2023

(HK$) (Note (6))        

Directors 29/07/2021 01/08/2021–31/07/2023 0.572 (1),(5) 7,200,000 (7,200,000) –

Other Employee Participants 
(Note (7)) 29/07/2021 01/08/2021–31/07/2025 0.572 (2),(3),(5) 4,500,000 (3,000,000) 1,500,000

Service Providers 
(including consultants) 29/07/2021 01/08/2021–31/07/2023 0.572 (4),(5),(11) 3,810,000 (3,810,000) –   

15,510,000 (14,010,000) 1,500,000   

Notes:

(1) The options are vested in 2 tranches as to 50% exercisable from 1 August 2021 to 31 July 2023 and 50% exercisable from 1 August 2022 
to 31 August 2023 respectively.

(2) The options are vested in 4 tranches as to 25% exercisable from 1 August 2021 to 31 July 2022, 25% exercisable from 1 August 2022 to 31 
July 2023, 25% exercisable from 1 August 2023 to 31 July 2024 and 25% exercisable from 1 August 2024 to 31 July 2025 respectively.

(3) The options are subject to the achievement of agreed milestones/performance indicators and/or business budget plan for the relevant 
year during the option period as approved by the chairman of CFSG Board and/or the CFSG Board determined at their sole discretion.

(4) The vesting of the options is subject to the satisfactory delivery of services to members of the Group as approved by the Chairman of the 
CFSG Board and/or the CFSG Board determined at their sole discretion.

(5) The options must be exercised within 1 month from the date on which the CFSG Board’s approval of the vesting of the options.

(6) The lapsed options were due to expiry of the options in accordance with the terms of the share options.

(7) Other Employee Participants include employee of the Company and its subsidiaries.

(8) The total number of shares of CFSG available for issue under CFSG Share Option Scheme is 27,317,477, representing approximately 6.34% 
of the issued shares of CFSG as at the date of this annual report.

(9) The number of options available for grant under the mandate of the CFSG Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 
2023 were 26,117,477.

(10) No option was granted, exercised or cancelled during the year.

(11) The options were granted to Mr Law, Mr Lai Wing Hung Alfred and Ms Luke Wing Sheung (the former company secretary) as consultants 
of the Group. The rationale for granting the share options to consultants was to reward each of them for their quality service, professional 
advice, expertise and contribution to the Group by introducing potential business opportunities to the Group. The CFSG Board is of the 
view that the grant of options will provide incentives for them to provide professional financial and new business opportunities advisory 
services and planning to cater for business needs of the Group, which will align their interests with the Group and secure their long-term 
support and commitment to the Group.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME
The subsidiary

CFSG

CFSG has adopted a share award scheme on 1 December 2022 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The Share Award Scheme does 
not constitute a share option scheme within the meaning of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme of 
CFSG. However, it shall constitute a share scheme that is funded by existing CFSG Shares and is subject to the applicable 
disclosure requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules came in effect on 1 January 2023.

Particulars of the terms of the Share Award Scheme are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

No share awards has been granted under the Share Award Scheme during the period from the date of adoption to the end of 
the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the persons/companies 
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short 
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or as 
otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Name Capacity Number of Shares Shareholding
(%)    

Hobart Assets Limited (Notes (1) & (2)) Interest in a controlled corporation 39,599,098 49.05

Cash Guardian (Notes (1) & (2)) Interest in a controlled corporation 39,599,098 49.05

Mr Wang Shui Ming (Note (3)) Beneficial owner, interest in a controlled 
corporation and other interest

4,110,245 5.09

Notes:

(1) This refers to the same number of the Shares held by Cash Guardian, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hobart Assets Limited, which in turn was 
100% beneficially owned by Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee. Pursuant to the SFO, Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee and Hobart Assets Limited were deemed to 
be interested in the Shares held by Cash Guardian.

(2) Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee (a Director whose interests is not shown in the above table) was interested and/or deemed be interested in a total of 
40,197,599 Shares (49.79%), which were held as to 39,599,098 Shares by Cash Guardian and as to 598,501 Shares in his personal name. Detail of 
his interest is set out in the section “Directors Interests in Securities” above.

(3) The shareholding interest of Mr Wang Shui Ming was based on the notice dated 7 September 2020 (filed by him on 9 September 2020) pursuant 
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO after adjusting the number of Shares held by him due to the 20-to-1 share consolidation of the 
Company which took effect on 7 September 2020. Based on the said notice filed by Mr Wang Shui Ming, the Shares were held as to 1,022,061 in 
his personal name, as to 2,223,607 held by Mingtak Holdings Limited (a 100%-owned controlled corporation of Mr Wang Shui Ming), and 864,577 
held by him as nominee under a power of attorney. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr Wang Shui Ming was deemed to be interested in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors and chief executive of the Company were not aware of any 
other parties or corporation (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to 
have, any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept under 
Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of 
the Company listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has 
maintained sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its Shares in the hands of the public in accordance with the Listing 
Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Group were entered into or in existence during the year ended 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as the share option schemes and share award scheme of the Group as disclosed in notes 42 and 43 to the consolidated 
financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 
or subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the 
Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received a written confirmation in respect of independence from each of the INEDs in compliance with rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company still considers that each of them to be independent.

AUDITOR
There have been no changes of auditor in the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year were audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A 
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the 
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Dr Bankee P. Kwan, BBS, JP
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CELESTIAL ASIA SECURITIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Celestial Asia Securities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 180, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) classified as level 3 under fair 
value hierarchy

We identified the valuation of level 3 financial assets 
measured at FVTOCI as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of the judgment and estimates made by the 
management and the subjectivity in determination of level 
3 fair value given the lack of availability of market-based 
data and the significant unobservable inputs.

The total fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI classified as 
level 3 amounted to HK$25,821,000 as at 31 December 
2023 and the key sources of estimation uncertainty are 
disclosed in notes 4 and 41 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Our audit procedures for the valuation of the level 3 financial 
assets at FVTOCI include:

• assessing the independence, competence, capabilities 
and objectivity of the professional valuer engaged by the 
Group and its experience in conducting similar valuation;

• evaluat ing the appropr iateness of  the valuat ion 
methodologies and assumptions based on the industry 
knowledge;

• evaluating the appropriateness and consistency of the 
valuation techniques used by the management;

• eva luat ing the rat iona le and reasonableness  o f 
management’s judgment on the significant inputs;

• examining supporting documents and assessing the 
reasonableness of significant inputs; and

• p e r f o r m i n g s e n s i t i v i t y  a n a l y s i s  t o  e v a l u a t e  t h e 
reasonableness of the valuat ion and performing 
independent valuation together with our internal 
valuation specialist and comparing the valuation with the 
Group’s valuation.
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to 
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Poon Kam Chuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 5 1,016,423 1,210,887
Cost of inventories 14 (553,580) (691,433)
Other income 7 16,590 15,601
Other gains and losses, net 7 2,159 65,661
Salaries, allowances and related benefits 8 (194,992) (199,011)
Other operating, administrative and selling expenses 11 (217,342) (237,328)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal 10 (42,906) (323)
Depreciation of property and equipment 17 (15,466) (23,742)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets and related rent concessions 14 (124,485) (138,308)
Finance costs 9 (25,070) (20,755)
Share of loss of associates – (25,984)

  

Loss before taxation (138,669) (44,735)
Income tax (expense) credit 13 (4,256) 9,486

  

Loss for the year 14 (142,925) (35,249)
  

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Share of fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) of an associate – (198)

Fair value gain on financial assets at FVTOCI 1,493 1,058
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (1,757) (1,994)
Share of exchange difference on translation of foreign operation of  

an associate – 113
  

(264) (1,021)
  

Total comprehensive expense for the year (143,189) (36,270)
  

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (108,009) (33,641)
Non-controlling interests (34,916) (1,608)

  

(142,925) (35,249)
  

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (108,273) (34,662)
Non-controlling interests (34,916) (1,608)

  

(143,189) (36,270)
  

Loss per share 15
– Basic (HK cents) (133.81) (41.68)
– Diluted (HK cents) (133.81) (41.68)
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property and equipment 17 29,083 40,495
Right-of-use assets 18 113,384 193,590
Goodwill 19 39,443 39,443
Intangible assets 20 47,501 52,552
Rental and utilities deposits 24 15,514 24,387
Financial assets at FVTOCI 26 25,821 24,328
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 27 4,691 4,812
Other assets 5,452 6,846
Deferred tax assets 22 5,450 5,450

  

286,339 391,903
  

Current assets
Inventories – finished goods held for sale 30,209 56,623
Accounts receivable 23 130,805 189,839
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 186,765 206,709
Contract assets 2,838 2,617
Loans receivables 25 5,188 12,194
Tax recoverable 4,526 4,297
Financial assets at FVTPL 27 37,349 51,594
Pledged bank deposits 28 54,061 54,159
Bank balances – trust and segregated accounts 28 346,215 482,196
Bank balances (general accounts) and cash 28 233,362 334,411

  

1,031,318 1,394,639
  

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 29 499,437 684,467
Financial liabilities arising from consolidated investment funds 30 122 5,757
Accrued liabilities and other payables 31 103,720 156,518
Contract liabilities 32 62,504 48,728
Taxation payable 7,628 7,636
Lease liabilities 33 64,786 142,031
Borrowings 34 339,612 375,245

  

1,077,809 1,420,382
  

Net current liabilities (46,491) (25,743)
  

Total assets less current liabilities 239,848 366,160
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 35 16,144 16,144
Reserves 99,821 179,950

  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 115,965 196,094
Non-controlling interests 36 53,015 95,180

  

Total equity 168,980 291,274
  

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 22 11,111 6,825
Lease liabilities 33 59,757 68,061

  

70,868 74,886
  

239,848 366,160
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 180 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 
27 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN PAK HOO BANKEE CHEUNG TSZ YUI MORTON
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Non- 
controlling 

interests

 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

General 
reserve

Other 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Revaluation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total Total
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (a)) (Notes (b)&(c)) (Note (d)) (Note (e)) (note 45)
              

At 1 January 2022 16,144 79,127 88,926 1,160 64,097 2,224 23,089 6,966 (41,093) 240,640 (37,946) 202,694
            

Loss for the year – – – – – – – – (33,641) (33,641) (1,608) (35,249)
Other comprehensive 

(expense) income  
for the year – – – – – – (1,881) 860 – (1,021) – (1,021)

            

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year – – – – – – (1,881) 860 (33,641) (34,662) (1,608) (36,270)

            

Deemed disposal of associates – – – – – – – (6,768) 6,768 – – –
Acquisition of subsidiary 37 – – – – – – – – – – 134,734 134,734
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments – – – – – 2,224 – – – 2,224 – 2,224
Amount transferred to 

accumulated losses  
(Note (f)) – (75,000) – – – – – – 75,000 – – –

Transfer between reserves – – – – – – (9,000) – 9,000 – – –
Dividend recognised as 

distribution during the year 16 – – – – – – – – (12,108) (12,108) – (12,108)
            

At 31 December 2022 16,144 4,127 88,926 1,160 64,097 4,448 12,208 1,058 3,926 196,094 95,180 291,274
            

Loss for the year – – – – – – – – (108,009) (108,009) (34,916) (142,925)
Other comprehensive 

(expense) income  
for the year – – – – – – (1,757) 1,493 – (264) – (264)

            

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year – – – – – – (1,757) 1,493 (108,009) (108,273) (34,916) (143,189)

Acquisition of additional 
interest in a subsidiary 38 – – – – 40,258 – – – – 40,258 (40,258) –

Deemed disposal of partial 
interest in a subsidiary 
without loss of control 39 – – – – (12,114) – – – – (12,114) 33,009 20,895

Lapse of share options – – – – – (4,448) – – 4,448 – – –
            

At 31 December 2023 16,144 4,127 88,926 1,160 92,241 – 10,451 2,551 (99,635) 115,965 53,015 168,980
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Notes:

(a) Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the share premium of the Company can be used in paying up unissued shares of the Company to 
be issued to members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

(b) Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is available for distribution to shareholders. However, a company cannot declare 
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contribution surplus, if:

(i) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and 
share premium accounts.

(c) The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired 
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1994 and the nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof, and 
the net amount arising from the reduction of share premium account, capital reduction and the amounts transferred to set-off accumulated 
losses.

(d) The other reserve of the Group represents the reserve arising from the distribution of shares of CASH Financial Services Group Limited (“CFSG”) in 
year 2000 and the issue of new shares of CFSG in year 2023 and the effect arising from the change in the Gro’up’s ownership interest in existing 
subsidiaries without losing control.

(e) Revaluation reserve of the Group represented the adjustment to the fair value of trademark (included in the intangible assets) related to 
previously held interest in an associate and fair value changes on financial assets at FVTOCI held by the associate were reclassified to 
accumulated losses upon deemed disposal of the associates and fair value gain on financial assets at FVTOCI during the year ended 31 
December 2022.

(f) Pursuant to ordinary resolution passed on 1 June 2022, the amount of HK$75,000,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the 
Company be reduced and that the credit arising therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus account of the Company. On 1 June 2022, 
the amount of HK$75,000,000 was further transferred from the contributed surplus account to the accumulated losses of the Company.
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2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (138,669) (44,735)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment 17 15,466 23,742
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 18 124,485 148,642
Write-down of inventories 14 2,501 3,587
Finance costs 9 25,070 20,755
Interest income 7 (1,793) (2,058)
Dividend income 7 (71) (122)
Net (gain) loss on financial liabilities arising from consolidated investment 

funds (5,635) 206
Net gain on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL (1,396) –
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal 42,906 –
Share-based payments – 2,224
Write-off of intangible assets 7 5,051 –
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 7 116 746
Net gain on deemed disposal of associates and acquisition of subsidiary – (22,585)
Share of loss of associates – 25,984

  

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital 68,031 156,386
Decrease in other assets 1,394 2,842
Decrease in inventories 23,913 5,551
Decrease in accounts and other receivable 32,796 22,210
Increase in contract assets (221) (374)
Decrease in financial assets at FVTPL 1,343 5,496
Decrease in bank balances – trust and segregated accounts 135,981 47,505
Decrease in accounts payable (182,710) (100,043)
(Decrease) increase in accrued liabilities and other payables (55,118) 77,883
Increase in contract liabilities 13,776 15,419

  

Net cash generated from operations 39,185 232,875
Income taxes paid (31) (279)

  

Net cash from operating activities 39,154 232,596
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Investing activities
Interest received 1,793 2,058
Dividend received 71 122
Placement of pledged bank deposits (2) –
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 100 1,299
Repayment of loans receivable 7,383 1,352
Purchase of property and equipment (4,170) (30,623)
Refund of rental deposits 6,803 620
Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI – (1,058)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL 32,421 –
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL (18,002) (4,812)
Acquisition of additional interests in an associate – (4,968)
Acquisition of subsidiary 37 – 168,069

  

Net cash from investing activities 26,397 132,059
  

Financing activities
Dividends paid – (12,108)
Drawdown of borrowings 660,384 119,780
Repayment of borrowings (696,017) (126,540)
Repayment of lease liabilities (127,766) (157,826)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (6,574) (8,815)
Interest paid on borrowings (18,496) (11,940)
Repayment to an associate – (1,001)
Proceeds from deemed disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary without loss 

of control 20,895 –
  

Net cash used in financing activities (167,574) (198,450)
  

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (102,023) 166,205
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 334,411 167,274
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 974 932

  

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of year 233,362 334,411
  

Being:
Bank balances (general accounts) and cash 233,362 334,411
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Celestial Asia Securities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda as an 
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are 
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Kwan Pak Hoo 
Bankee held 49.79% of ordinary share capital of the Company and he is the ultimate controlling shareholder. The 
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate 
Information of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional 
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s 
annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020  
and February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting 
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information 
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users 
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related 
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy 
information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose 
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how 
an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether information 
about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice 
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Groups’ financial position and performance but 
has affected the disclosure of the Groups’ accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the 
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such information is 
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing 
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the 
future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by 
HK$46,491,000 (2022: HK$25,743,000) as at 31 December 2023. The directors of the Company have, at the time of 
approving these consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group has sufficient working 
capital, including the expectation of continuous roll-over of the existing trust receipts and term loans which are due 
within one year, presently available banking facilities, subsequent extension of repayment date of other borrowings of 
HK$96,060,000 to May 2025 and internal financial resources, to finance the Group’s operations and to pay the Group’s 
financial obligations as and when fall due within twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated 
financial statements. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 
set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 
“Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be 
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the 
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 
the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee);

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee 
are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

When the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns of an investee, in which the Group also acts as a general 
partner, or the Group will determine whether it is a principal or an agent for the purpose of assessing whether the Group 
controls the relevant fund.

An agent is a party primarily engaged to act on behalf and for the benefit of another party or parties (the principal(s)) 
and therefore does not control the investee when it exercises its decision-making authority. In determining whether the 
Group is an agent to the fund, the Group would assess:

• the scope of its decision-making authority over the investee;

• the rights held by other parties;

• the remuneration to which it is entitled in accordance with the remuneration agreements; and

• the decision maker’s exposure to variability of returns from other interests that it holds in the investee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group 
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including 
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if 
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying 
amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to owners of the Company. All amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another 
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business 
less any accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or 
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at 
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, 
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that 
reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss 
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets on a 
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation 
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the 
relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared 
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under 
the equity method, investment in associates are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost, and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not 
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share 
of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of 
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes 
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is 
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any 
objective evidence exists the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value 
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including 
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in 
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity method, the 
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit 
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate 
that are not related to the Group.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

Goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the consideration paid over the share of carrying amount 
of net assets attributable to the additional interests in associates acquired.

Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional interests in associates acquired over 
the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the additional interest are acquired, net 
of impairment loss, if applicable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business 
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at 
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms 
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are 
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated financial 
statements would not differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components to a lease

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the 
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and are accounted for by applying other applicable 
standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of 
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the 
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions 
of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent 
concessions in which the Group applied practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the 
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use 
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term, the cost of the relevant 
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and 
equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair 
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value of 
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the 
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate 
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement of lease 
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for 
a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase 
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular 
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on 
the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the 
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant 
right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative 
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has elected 
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease modification if all of the following 
conditions are met:

• the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less 
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

• any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

• there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the 
same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness 
or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to 
reflect the amounts forgiven or waived using the unchanged discount rates with a corresponding adjustment 
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the 
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of 
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises 
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are 
deducted from the related expenses, other government grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans including state-managed benefit scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the 
contributions.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to be offset as a deemed 
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measured on a net basis. The 
estimated amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued 
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be 
contributions from the relevant employees.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer 
of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and 
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another 
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after 
deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised 
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time 
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Material accounting policy information (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets 
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use 
assets or the lease liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment held for use in supply of goods or services, or for administrative purpose are stated at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their costs).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful lives are 
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. 
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is 
derecognised.

Impairment losses on property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use 
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. 
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent 
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the 
CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant 
cash– generating unit or group of CGUs.
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Impairment losses on property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill 
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of 
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which 
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group 
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of 
CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata 
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is 
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and 
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to 
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU 
or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances (general accounts) and cash presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to 
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months or less). Cash 
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other 
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances 
(general accounts) and cash as defined above. Bank balances held under trust and segregated accounts are excluded 
from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and presented under operating activities.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted 
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly 
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease, are recognised at the date of inception of the lease at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would 
be required to restore the assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for accounts receivable arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with 
customers”. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of 
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the 
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other 
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by 
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost 
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk 
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, 
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer 
credit-impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising 
from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve; and are not 
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal 
of the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses. Dividends from these investments in 
equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, 
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in 
the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest 
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including 
accounts receivable, loans receivable, other receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank deposits and bank 
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The assessment of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable arising from retailing business, contract assets and 
commission receivable from brokerage of general and life insurance, mutual funds and MPF products. The ECL on these 
assets are assessed based on the Group’s historical default rates or default rates by reference to the probability of default, 
loss given default over the expected life and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates and are assessed individually for 
each debtor.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether 
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since 
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on 
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both 
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and 
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly:

a. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal 
credit rating;

b. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit 
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

c. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause 
a significant decrease in debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

d. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

e. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment 
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group 
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying 
significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed 
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the 
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes observable data about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of accounts receivable arising 
from retailing business, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets 
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into 
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss 
if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default 
is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate 
determined at initial recognition.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Lifetime ECL for contract assets and accounts receivable except for those from margin clients are considered on a 
collective basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward 
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when formulating the 
grouping:

• Nature of financial instruments;

• Loan to collateral value ratio;

• Past-due status; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share 
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is 
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their 
carrying amount with the exception of accounts receivable arising from retailing business and loans receivable 
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

• For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains/losses’ line item (note 7) as part of the net foreign 
exchange gain (loss);

• For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences 
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains/losses’ line item as part of the net gains/losses on financial assets 
at FVTPL (note 7);

• For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
in the fair value through other comprehensive income.
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Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure 
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified 
to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL arising from consolidated investment funds

A financial instrument that gives the holder the right to put it back to the Group for cash or another financial asset 
(a “puttable instrument”) is a financial liability. The financial instrument is a financial liability even when the amount 
of cash or other financial assets is determined on the basis that has the potential to increase or decrease.

Net assets attributable to holders of consolidated investment funds are determined based on the attributable 
shares or units of the residual assets of the consolidated investment fund after deducting the consolidated 
investment fund’s other liabilities. The holders have the right to put their attributable shares to the fund for cash 
with no cause.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, with any fair value gains 
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss is included in the “other gains 
and losses” line item.

As at the end of the reporting period, such financial liability of net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling 
interests in consolidated investment funds is presented as “financial liabilities arising from consolidated investment 
funds” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accounts payable, other payables and borrowings) are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously
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Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees of the Group for their services to the Group

The fair value of services received in exchange for the grant of the share options is recognised as an expense. The total 
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date without 
taking into account any service and non-market performance vesting conditions. Services and non-market performance 
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of share options that are expected to vest. The total 
expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are 
to be satisfied, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share options that are expected to 
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimates, with a corresponding adjustment to share 
option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share 
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the 
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty 
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or 
services qualify for recognition as assets).

In case of share options granted by a subsidiary, the share options reserve of the subsidiary is classified as and grouped 
under non-controlling interests by the Group on consolidation. At the time when the share options are exercised, the 
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium of that subsidiary. The 
Group will account for the dilution as an equity transaction if the exercise of share options does not constitute a loss of 
the Group’s control over that subsidiary. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained 
profits of the Group and non-controlling interests’ share of net assets of that subsidiary according to the proportion of 
interests held by the Group and non-controlling shareholders on consolidation.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the 
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group applies judgment to determine the lease term for lease contracts in which it is a lease that include renewal 
option, specifically, the leases relating to certain retail stores. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of 
the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the 
contract is enforceable.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease term, which 
significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-assessment is performed upon 
the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within the control of lessee 
and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances including economic 
incentives/penalties for exercising or not exercising the options. Factors considered include:

• contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods compared with market rates;

• the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by Group; and

• costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs and costs of identifying another underlying asset 
suitable for the Group’s needs).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period, that have significant risks of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment under ECL model for accounts receivable arising from margin financing

The impairment assessment under ECL model for accounts receivable arising from margin financing is an area that 
requires the use of models and management assumptions about future economic conditions and the credit risk of the 
margin clients.

In applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, the management involves significant judgements, estimates 
and assumptions to determine criteria for significant increase in credit risk, select appropriate models and assumptions 
for the measurement of ECL and consider the forward-looking scenarios.

Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

ECL of accounts receivable arising from margin financing is measured by the Group on either a 12-month or lifetime 
basis depending on whether they are in Stage 1, 2 (credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition) or 3 
(credit-impaired) as defined in note 41. In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial asset has significantly increased, 
the Group considered the historical trend in Loan-to-Value (“LTV”) ratio as well as qualitatively, if applicable, and 
quantitatively reasonable and supportable forward-looking information available without undue cost or effort. ECL is the 
discounted product of expected future cash flows by using the Probability of Default (“PD”), Loss Given Default (“LGD”) 
and Exposure at Default (“EAD”), of which PD and LGD are based on significant management judgement and estimates. 
For non-credit impaired accounts receivable arising from margin financing, the management performed collective 
assessment and ECL are estimated on a portfolio basis based on the Group’s historical default and loss data and adjusted 
for forward-looking factors that are available without undue cost or effort. For credit-impaired accounts receivable 
arising from margin financing, the management performed individual assessment for each client by considering various 
factors, including the realisable value of securities or collaterals held by the Group.

Forward-looking information

The calculation of ECL considers forward-looking information through the use of publicly available economic data and 
forecasts and management judgement to reflect the qualitative factors and through the use of multiple probability 
weighted scenarios of the market performance.

Details of the impairment assessment of accounts receivable arising from margin financing are disclosed in note 41.

Estimated impairment of property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life

Property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life are stated at costs less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise 
judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may 
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, the higher 
of the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the case 
of value in use or fair value less cost of disposal; and (3) the appropriate key inputs to be applied in estimating the 
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate in determining fair value less cost 
of disposal as disclosed in note 21. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate 
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is 
determined at the smallest group of CGUs, for which the relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the 
inputs and estimates could materially affect the relevant fair value of the various CGUs.

In view of impairment indicators, the Group performed impairment assessment on property and equipment and 
right-of-use assets of HK$142,467,000 (2022: HK$234,085,000). No impairment losses have been recognised on property 
and equipment and right-of-use assets during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. Details of the impairment 
assessment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets are disclosed in note 21.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes

No deferred tax asset was recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position in relation to the 
estimated unused tax losses of HK$1,540,582,000 (2022: HK$1,457,216,000) and deductible temporary differences of 
HK$103,966,000 (2022: HK$100,433,000). The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient 
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future, which is a key source of estimation 
uncertainty especially the uncertainty on how the market volatility may progress and evolve. In case where the actual 
future profits generated are more than expected, recognition of deferred tax asset in relation to estimated unused tax 
losses and deductible temporary differences may arise, which would be recognised in the profit or loss for the period in 
which such a recognition takes place.

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI

The Group holds financial instruments that are not listed and are not traded in active markets. The Group employs 
valuation methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions as at the reporting date. These 
investments are valued by independent external valuation specialists based on generally accepted valuation models. The 
model may employ observable data where available and to the extent practicable. However, the model may also use 
unobservable data such as the discount rate for lack of marketability and discount rate, the determination of these 
unobservable inputs and other assumptions used in the model may involve subjective judgement and estimates.

Whilst the Group considers these valuations are the best estimates, the ongoing market volatility may cause uncertainty 
to the investees’ businesses, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current 
year. Changes in assumptions or inputs could affect the reported fair values of these instruments. Details of valuation 
methodologies or inputs are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite life are impaired requires an estimation of 
recoverable amounts of relevant intangible assets and the respective group of CGUs in which the goodwill and 
intangible assets with indefinite life have been allocated, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of 
disposal. The management of the Group estimates the value in use using the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the group of CGUs based on the cash flows from operations, taking into account revenue growth 
rates, gross margin and long term growth rate used in the cash flow projections and a suitable discount rate by 
reference to comparable companies. The discount rate reflects current market assessments of time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset or the group of CGUs for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. 
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or there is a downward revision of future estimated cash flows 
due to unfavourable changes in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

Furthermore, the revenue growth rate and discount rate are subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the 
current year due to uncertainty on how the market volatility may progress and evolve, including potential disruptions of 
the Group’s retail operations. Details of the recoverable amount calculation of the group of CGUs are disclosed in note 
21.
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5. REVENUE
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Types of goods or service
Sales of furniture and household goods 807,866 997,004
Sales of electrical appliances 103,965 131,448
Sales of tailor-made furniture 46,672 70,855

  

Revenue from retailing segment 958,503 1,199,307
Investment management services 4,733 4,334
Broking services, wealth management services, handling and other services 23,921 2,568
Interest income arising from financial assets at amortised cost 29,266 4,678

  

1,016,423 1,210,887
  

Timing of revenue recognition
A point in time 965,018 1,135,698
Over time 51,405 75,189

  

1,016,423 1,210,887
  

Geographical market
Hong Kong 1,011,690 1,206,553
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) 4,733 4,334

  

1,016,423 1,210,887
  

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods 
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series 
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards 
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 
the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
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5. REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Broking services, wealth management services, handling and other services

The Group provides (1) broking services to customers on securities, futures and options trading; (2) placement 
services for general and life insurances, mutual funds and MPF products to customers; and (3) handling and other 
services in securities, futures and options trading and customer’s account handling.

Commission income from broking services is determined at a certain percentage of the transaction value of the 
trades executed and is recognised as income on the date the trades are executed. Normal settlement terms are 
one or two days after trade date, unless specifically agreed with counterparties.

Placement services income is recognised at a point in time when the placement is successful. Revenue is 
calculated at a certain percentage of the premium receivable for certain period of the mutual funds and 
insurance-linked investment products, subject to constraints on variable consideration. The Group receives a 
certain percentage of the premium paid for a certain period over the life of the underlying products after satisfying 
its performance obligation, depending on the payment terms of the products. The Group has considered the 
effects of financing component on the consideration as insignificant.

Handling and other services fee income are recognised when the transactions are executed and services are 
completed.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group 
has transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 
9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. 
only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net 
basis.
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5. REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Sales of furniture and household goods and electronic appliances

The Group makes sales transactions of furniture and household goods and electronic appliances with customers 
both through its own retail stores directly and through internet sales.

For sales of furniture and household goods and electronic appliances to retail customers, revenue is recognised 
when control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the customer purchased and took the goods at the 
retail stores directly or being when the goods have been transported to the customers’ specific location (delivery). 
Transportation and other related activities that occur before customers obtain control of the related products are 
considered as fulfilment activities. Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the point the customer 
purchases the goods in the retail stores, except for corporate customers that the Group allows an average credit 
period of 30 days for their accounts receivable. The transaction price received by the Group for goods that require 
delivery is recognised as a contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the customer.

For internet sales, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the 
point the goods are delivered to the customer. Delivery occurs when the goods have been transported to the 
customer’s specific location. Transportation and other related activities that incurred before customers obtain 
control of the related products are considered as fulfilment activities. When the customer initially purchases the 
goods online, the transaction price is due immediately and amount received by the Group is recognised as a 
contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the customer.

Sales of tailor-made furniture

The Group makes sales transactions of tailor-made furniture through its own retail stores.

Revenue are recognised over time as the Group does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and 
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Revenue is recognised for 
these tailor-made orders based on the stage of completion of the contract using input method.

The Group requires customers to provide full amount of upfront payments. When the Group receives the advance 
payments in the retail stores, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue 
recognised on the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a customer loyalty programme for sales through the Group’s retail stores and internet sales 
where retail customer award points for purchases made which entitle them to redeem award points as sales 
discounts in the future. The transaction price is allocated to the product and the award points on a relative 
stand-alone selling price basis. The customer loyalty award points expire every year and customers can redeem the 
award points any time before the specified expiration date. Revenue from the award points is recognised when the 
award points are redeemed or expired. Contract liabilities are recognised until the award points are redeemed or 
expired. The sales discounts is recognised and net to the revenue.

Investment management services

Investment management services to customers are recognised over time as the Group provides investment 
management services and the customers simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit provided by the 
Group. The investment management income is charged at a fixed percentage per annum of the asset value of the 
accounts under management of the Group. The Group is also entitled to a performance fee for certain accounts 
when pre-set performance target for the relevant performance period is met. The performance fee is recognised 
when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the revenue recognised will not occur when the 
performance target is evaluated on an annual basis for each of the account. Management fee is normally due on 
account opening date and the subsequent anniversary date while performance fee is normally due at the end of 
the relevant performance period.
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5. REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

Output method – investment management services

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output method, 
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the services transferred to the 
customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best depict the 
Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with the 
value of the Group’s performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the 
Group has the right to invoice.

Input method – tailor-made furniture

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input method, 
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance 
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict 
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, such as management fee from investment management services, 
the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is 
highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the 
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including updating its 
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the 
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the reporting 
period.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations (sales of goods and award credits for customers 
under the Group’s customer loyalty scheme), the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance 
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation is determined 
at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or service separately 
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate 
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount 
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or 
services to the customer.
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5. REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether the 
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is 
a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a 
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or service 
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by another party 
before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue 
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the 
specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, contracts with customers with unsatisfied performance obligations, including 
customer loyalty award points, have original expected durations of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, 
the transaction prices allocated to these unsatisfied contracts or customer loyalty programmes are not disclosed.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers (“CODM”), for 
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods delivered or 
services provided.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable segments are as follows:

Retailing Sales of furniture and household goods and electrical appliances
Investment Management Provision of investment management services to the fund investors
Other Financial Services Provision of broking and wealth management services under the business operations 

of CFSG
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Other
Investment financial

Retailing management services Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 958,503 4,733 53,187 1,016,423
    

Segment (loss) profit (19,291) 3,751 (95,888) (111,428)
   

Unallocated other income 246
Unallocated other gains and losses 2,396
Corporate expenses (24,957)
Unallocated finance costs (4,926)

 

Loss before taxation (138,669)
 

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Other
Investment financial

Retailing management services Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 1,199,307 4,447 7,133 1,210,887
    

Segment (loss) profit (13,033) 13,814 (7,779) (6,998)
   

Unallocated other income 5,523
Unallocated other gains and losses 20,844
Corporate expenses (34,232)
Share of loss of associates (25,984)
Unallocated finance costs (3,888)

 

Loss before taxation (44,735)
 

All the segment revenue is derived from external customers.

Segment result represents the profit earned/loss incurred by each segment without allocation of certain other income, 
certain other gains and losses, corporate expenses, share of loss of associates and certain finance costs. This is the 
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and reportable segment:

As at 31 December 2023

Other
Investment financial

Retailing management services Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS
Segment assets 416,644 135,602 733,497 1,285,743

   

Unallocated property and equipment 348
Unallocated right-of-use assets 9,735
Tax recoverable 4,526
Loans receivables 900
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL 966
Unallocated prepayments, deposits and  

other receivables 7,409
Unallocated bank balances and cash 8,030

 

Total assets 1,317,657
 

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 494,879 23,767 486,559 1,005,205

   

Unallocated accrued liabilities and  
other payables 19,835

Tax payable 15,260
Unallocated lease liabilities 12,317
Unallocated borrowings 96,060

 

Total liabilities 1,148,677
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Other
Investment financial

Retailing management services Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS
Segment assets 525,201 126,559 1,037,343 1,689,103

   

Unallocated property and equipment 159
Unallocated right-of-use assets 16,516
Tax recoverable 4,297
Loans receivables 12,194
Unallocated financial assets at FVTPL 4,812
Unallocated prepayments, deposits and  

other receivables 51,672
Unallocated bank balances and cash 7,789

 

Total assets 1,786,542
 

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 599,647 26,422 644,119 1,270,188

   

Unallocated accrued liabilities and  
other payables 52,651

Taxation payable 7,636
Deferred tax liabilities 6,825
Unallocated lease liabilities 31,107
Unallocated borrowings 126,861

 

Total liabilities 1,495,268
 

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to the reportable and operating segment other than certain property and equipment, 
certain right-of-use assets, tax recoverable, deferred tax assets, loans receivables, certain financial assets at FVTPL, 
certain prepayments, deposits and other receivables and certain bank balances and cash; and

• all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating segment other than certain accrued liabilities and other 
payables, taxation payable, certain deferred tax liabilities, certain lease liabilities and certain borrowings.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Other
Investment financial

Retailing management services Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Amounts included in the measure of  
segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Additions of property and equipment 3,919 61 190 – 4,170
Additions of right-of-use assets 37,441 1,498 – 5,367 44,306
Interest income 1,205 500 – 88 1,793
Depreciation of property and equipment 14,538 8 918 2 15,466
Depreciation of right-of-use assets and  

related rent concessions 107,626 1,768 11,067 4,024 124,485
Finance costs 14,642 218 5,284 4,926 25,070
Net (gain) loss on financial assets/liabilities at FVTPL – (10,526) 11,527 (2,397) (1,396)
Write-down on inventories 2,501 – – – 2,501
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 95 – 21 – 116
Write-off of intangible assets – – 5,051 – 5,051

     

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Investment Financial
Retailing management services Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Amounts included in the measure of  
segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Additions of property and equipment 28,948 178 1,493 4 30,623
Additions of right-of-use assets 114,460 3,389 124 16,017 133,990
Interest income 1,708 350 – – 2,058
Depreciation of property and equipment 22,256 12 1,409 65 23,742
Depreciation of right-of-use assets and  

related rent concessions 128,746 1,280 989 7,293 138,308
Finance costs 15,170 115 1,582 3,888 20,755
Net (gain) loss on financial assets/liabilities at FVTPL – (43,072) (9,366) 9,052 (43,386)
Write-down on inventories 3,587 – – – 3,587
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 746 – – – 746
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and services:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sales of furniture and household goods 854,538 1,067,859
Sales of electrical appliances 103,965 131,448
Broking and wealth management services 53,187 7,246
Management fee from investment management services

– Fixed 1,234 1,495
– Variable 3,499 2,839

  

1,016,423 1,210,887
  

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group’s segment revenue from external customers determined based on location of the group entities’ operations 
and information about its non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets) by geographical 
location of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue Non-current assets
2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Hong Kong 1,011,690 1,206,553 230,535 328,272
PRC 4,733 4,334 4,328 4,654

    

1,016,423 1,210,887 234,863 332,926
    

No customers individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue during both years.



CASH  Annual Report 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023

123

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Other income
Dividends from financial assets at FVTPL 71 122
Interest income from banks and loans receivable 208 671
Interest income from rental deposits 1,585 1,387
Sundry income (Note) 14,726 13,421

  

16,590 15,601
  

Note: Sundry income mainly represented the rebates from the suppliers or services providers.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other gains and losses, net
Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL (Note) 1,396 43,386
Net gain on financial liabilities arising from consolidated investment funds 5,635 –
Loss on disposal of property and equipment (116) (746)
Write-off of intangible assets (5,051) –
Net gain on deemed disposal of associates and acquisition of subsidiary (Note 37) – 22,585
Net foreign exchange gain 295 436

  

2,159 65,661
  

Note: The amount includes dividend income of HK$850,000 (2022: Nil) from financial assets at FVTPL.

8. SALARIES, ALLOWANCES AND RELATED BENEFITS
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Salaries, allowances and related benefits represent the amounts paid  
and payable to the directors of the Company and employees comprises of:

Salaries and allowances 169,538 168,761
Sales commission 21,051 20,207
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 4,403 7,819
Share-based payments – 2,224

  

194,992 199,011
  

For the year ended 31 December 2022, government grants in respect of the Employment Support Scheme launched by 
the Hong Kong SAR government of HK$15,243,000 had been offset against salaries and allowances.
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9. FINANCE COSTS
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Interest on:
– bank borrowings 9,911 9,513
– lease liabilities 6,574 8,815
– loan from a related company 8,585 2,427

  

25,070 20,755
  

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Net impairment losses (reversal) recognised on:
Accounts receivable 43,283 913
Loan receivable (377) (590)

  

42,906 323
  

Details of impairment assessment for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out in note 41.

11. OTHER OPERATING, ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Auditor’s remuneration 4,670 2,000
Handling expenses for securities dealing 1,758 3,194
Advertising and promotion expenses 30,154 31,987
Utilities expenses 17,227 22,583
Telecommunication expenses 13,048 6,743
Repair and maintenance expenses 6,224 6,670
Printing and stationery expenses 2,892 2,551
Licence and registration fee 10,478 12,653
Legal and professional fees 9,956 9,869
Travelling and entertainment expenses 8,567 12,009
Other selling and distribution expenses 51,183 56,465
Expenses relating to short-term and low-value leases 2,663 3,027
Variable lease payments 10,160 4,773
Rates and building management fee 32,510 44,458
Insurance 2,266 3,075
Others 13,586 15,271

  

217,342 237,328
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
  

Kwan Leung Kwan Li Cheung Leung
Pak Hoo Siu Pong Teng Hin Shing Wai Tsz Yui Ka Kui Chan Wong

Bankee James Jeffrey Lewis Morton Johnny Hak Sin Chuk Yan Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (1)) (Note (2)) (Note (3))
          

2023
Fee – – – – – 150 150 – 300
Other remuneration:

Salaries and allowances 4,200 1,870 1,140 595 623 – – – 8,428
Contributions to retirement 

benefits scheme 36 36 36 9 11 – – – 128
         

Total remuneration 4,236 1,906 1,176 604 634 150 150 – 8,856
         

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
  

Kwan Leung Li Kwan Leung
Pak Hoo Siu Pong Shing Wai Teng Hin Ka Kui Chan Wong

Bankee James Lewis Jeffrey Johnny Hak Sin Chuk Yan Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (1))
         

2022
Fee – – – – 150 150 – 300
Other remuneration:

Salaries and allowances 2,650 1,680 1,008 670 – – – 6,008
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 21 36 18 21 – – – 96
Share-based payments 556 556 556 556 – – – 2,224

        

Total remuneration 3,227 2,272 1,582 1,247 150 150 – 8,628
        

Note:

(1) Dr Kwan Pak Hoo Bankee is also the Company’s chief executive and his remunerations disclosed above include those for services rendered 
by him as chief executive.

(2) Mr Li Shing Wei Lewis resigned as director of the Company on 20 June 2023.

(3) Mr Cheung Tsz Yui Morton was appointed as director of the Company on 20 June 2023.
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration (continued)

The emoluments of executive directors are for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 
Company and the Group. The emoluments of independent non-executive directors are for their services as directors of 
the Company.

During both years, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or 
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which a director or the 
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years.

The performance related bonuses (if any) of executive directors are based on the review and recommendation from the 
remuneration committee of the Company with reference to the performance in discharging their duties and 
responsibilities within the Group, the Group’s performance and prevailing market situation.

Employees’ remuneration

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included two directors (2022: two directors), details of 
whose remuneration are set out in the disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three 
(2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and allowances 2,639 2,672
Performance related bonus (Note) 7,520 2,960
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 54 51

  

10,213 5,683
  

Note: The performance related bonus are based on the performance of individuals and market trends.

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within 
the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees
2023 2022

   

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 – –
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2 –
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13. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Current tax:
– Hong Kong Profits Tax – (166)
– PRC Enterprise Income Tax (22) (47)

Overprovisions in prior years 228 9,699
  

206 9,486

Deferred tax (Note 22) (4,462) –
  

(4,256) 9,486
  

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed 
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of 
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before taxation (138,669) (44,735)
  

Tax at domestic income tax rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (22,880) (7,381)
Tax effect of share of loss of associates – 4,287
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 29,494 12,281
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (14,687) (15,179)
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference not recognised 650 252
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary  

difference previously not recognised (67) (1,212)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised 13,302 9,003
Tax effect of utilisation of estimated tax losses previously not recognised (1,177) (1,818)
Tax effect on two-tiered tax rate (165) (165)
Overprovisions in prior years (228) (9,699)
Others 14 145

  

Income tax expense (credit) 4,256 (9,486)
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 18) 124,485 148,642
Covid-19-related rent concessions (Note 18) – (10,334)

  

Depreciation of right-of-use assets and related rent concessions 124,485 138,308

Cost of inventories in retailing business (including write-down of  
inventories of HK$2,501,000 (2022: HK$3,587,000)) 553,580 691,433

  

15. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 
data:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss
Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share (108,009) (33,641)

  

’000 ’000
   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose  

of basic and diluted loss per share 80,720 80,720
  

The incremental shares from assumed exercise of share options granted by the Company are excluded in calculating the 
diluted loss per share during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 because they are antidilutive in calculating 
the diluted loss per share.

The effect of assumed exercise of share options granted by CFSG are excluded in calculating the diluted loss per share 
for years of 2023 and 2022 because they are antidilutive.

16. DIVIDENDS
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised  
as distribution during the year:

Final dividend of Nil per share for 2023 (2022: HK15 cents per share) – 12,108
  

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since 
the end of the reporting period.
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17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

COST
At 1 January 2022 102,328 21,113 3,311 126,752
Additions 18,424 11,363 836 30,623
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 37) 6,116 881 – 6,997
Disposals (32,427) (5,209) – (37,636)
Exchange adjustments – (61) – (61)

    

At 31 December 2022 94,441 28,087 4,147 126,675
Additions 415 3,755 – 4,170
Disposals (12,910) (4,314) – (17,224)

    

At 31 December 2023 81,946 27,528 4,147 113,621
    

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2022 87,491 8,602 3,295 99,388
Provided for the year 14,808 8,864 70 23,742
Eliminated on disposals (31,681) (5,209) – (36,890)
Exchange adjustments – (60) – (60)

    

At 31 December 2022 70,618 12,197 3,365 86,180
Provided for the year 9,459 5,925 82 15,466
Eliminated on disposals (12,910) (4,198) – (17,108)

    

At 31 December 2023 67,167 13,924 3,447 84,538
    

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2023 14,779 13,604 700 29,083

    

At 31 December 2022 23,823 15,890 782 40,495
    

The above property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following years:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease terms or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 7 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Leased Motor

properties vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

COST
At 1 January 2022 857,457 2,322 859,779
Additions 133,990 – 133,990
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 37) 21,385 – 21,385
Written off upon end of leases (3,241) – (3,241)
Exchange adjustments (718) – (718)

   

At 31 December 2022 1,008,873 2,322 1,011,195
Additions 44,306 – 44,306
Written off upon end of leases (256,161) – (256,161)
Exchange adjustments (59) – (59)

   

At 31 December 2023 796,959 2,322 799,281
   

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2022 671,005 1,714 672,719
Provided for the year 148,177 465 148,642
Written off upon end of leases (3,241) – (3,241)
Exchange adjustments (515) – (515)

   

At 31 December 2022 815,426 2,179 817,605
Provided for the year 124,342 143 124,485
Written off upon end of leases (256,161) – (256,161)
Exchange adjustments (32) – (32)

   

At 31 December 2023 683,575 2,322 685,897
   

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2023 113,384 – 113,384

   

At 31 December 2022 193,447 143 193,590
   

The Group has the following expenses and cash outflow in relation to leases:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Additions 44,306 155,375
Expense relating to short-term leases 2,623 2,987
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding  

short-term leases of low value assets 40 40
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 10,160 4,773
Total cash outflow of the leases 147,163 174,441
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
For both years, the Group leases various retail stores, warehouses, office premises and motor vehicles for its operations. 
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 4 years (2022: 1 year to 6 years), but may have extension 
options for certain lease contracts as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a 
wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the 
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract 
is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for smaller office premises and office equipment. For the year ended 
31 December 2023, the Group also entered into several short-term leases for advertising billboards. The short-term lease 
expense disclosed above, which excluded expenses relating to leases with a lease term of one month or less.

Variable lease payments

Leases of retail stores are either with only fixed lease payments or higher of variable lease payment that are based on 5% 
to 14% (2022: 5% to 13%) of sales and minimum annual lease payment that are fixed over the lease term. The payment 
terms are common in retail stores in Hong Kong where the Group operates. The amount of fixed and variable lease 
payments paid/payable to relevant lessors:

Number of Fixed Variable
retail stores payments payments Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Year ended 31 December 2023
Retail stores without variable lease payments 6 26,532 N/A 26,532
Retail stores with variable lease payments 16 68,007 10,160 78,167

   

94,539 10,160 104,699
   

Year ended 31 December 2022
Retail stores without variable lease payments 8 34,521 N/A 34,521
Retail stores with variable lease payments 22 90,831 4,773 95,604

   

125,352 4,773 130,125
   

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms is that higher rental costs are incurred by stores with higher 
sales. Variable rent expenses are expected to continue to represent a similar proportion of retail store sales in future 
years.
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Extension and termination options

The Group has extension option in certain leases for retail stores (2022: office premise and retail stores) as at 31 
December 2023. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s 
operations. The extension held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The 
potential exposures to these future lease payments for extension options in which the Group is not reasonably certain to 
exercise is summarised below:

Potential Potential
future lease future lease

payments payments
not included not included

Lease in lease Lease in lease
liabilities liabilities liabilities liabilities

recognised (undiscounted) recognised (undiscounted)
as at as at as at as at

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2022 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Retail stores – Hong Kong 9,094 10,800 9,758 11,875
Warehouse – Hong Kong – – 35,332 39,596

    

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has exercised one extension option included in the Group’s lease 
contracts and recognised HK$8,890,000 of additional lease liabilities. In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, upon the occurrence of 
either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During the 
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there is no such triggering event.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, lessors of retail stores provided rent concessions to the Group through rent 
reduction ranging from 10% to 57% over one to six months.

These rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and met all of the conditions in HKFRS 
16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient not to assess whether the changes constitute lease modifications. 
The effects on changes in lease payments due to forgiveness or waiver by the lessors for the relevant leases of 
HK$10,334,000 were recognised as negative variable lease payments during the year ended 31 December 2022. No such 
concessions was recognised during the year.



CASH  Annual Report 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023

133

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$124,543,000 are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$113,384,000 as at 31 
December 2023 (2022: lease liabilities of HK$210,092,000 are recognised with related right-of-use assets of 
HK$193,590,000). The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased 
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 33 and 41.

19. GOODWILL
HK$’000

  

COST
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 238,440

 

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 198,997

 

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2023 and 2022 39,443

 

The carrying amounts of goodwill are allocated to the retailing CGU. Particulars regarding impairment testing on 
goodwill as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are disclosed in note 21.

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Trading

rights of
Domain financial

name Trademark services Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
     

COST
At 1 January 2022 5,460 38,000 – 43,460
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 37) – – 9,092 9,092

    

At 31 December 2022 5,460 38,000 9,092 52,552
Written-off – – (5,051) (5,051)

    

At 31 December 2023 5,460 38,000 4,041 47,501
    

AMORTISATION AND  
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and  
31 December 2023 – – – –

    

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2023 5,460 38,000 4,041 47,501

    

At 31 December 2022 5,460 38,000 9,092 52,552
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2023, intangible assets with carrying amounts of HK$5,460,000 (2022: HK$5,460,000) represent domain name. It 
represents the legal and beneficial ownership of domain name “www.shanghai.com” and has indefinite useful life. The domain name is 
considered by management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to be used indefinitely. The domain 
name will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite, instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing on domain name at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the recoverable amount has been determined 
based on fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value less costs of disposal is arrived at by market approach, with reference to the 
desirability of the domain name through recent sales or offering of similar domain name currently on the market in order to arrive at an 
indication of the most probable selling price for the domain name. The fair value less costs of disposal at 31 December 2023 and 2022 
was supported by a valuation carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected 
with the Group.

(b) At 31 December 2023, trademark amounting to HK$38,000,000 (2022: HK$38,000,000) represents the perpetual right for the use of the 
brand name ‘Pricerite’ in Hong Kong which takes the form of a sign, symbol, name, logo design or any combination thereof arising from 
acquisition of retail business. Various studies including product life cycle studies, market, competitive and environmental trends, and 
brand extension opportunities have been performed by management of the Group, which supports that the trademark has no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which the products are expected to generate future economic benefits for the Group. As a result, the 
trademark is considered by the management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life. The trademark will not be amortised until its 
useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that it may be 
impaired. Particulars regarding impairment testing on trademark are disclosed in note 21.

(c) At 31 December 2023, intangible assets amounting to HK$4,041,000 (2022: HK$9,092,000) represent trading rights that confer eligibility of 
the Group to trade on the Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange. The trading rights have no foreseeable limit to the 
period over which the Group can use to generate future economic benefits. As a result, the trading rights were considered by the 
management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life. The trading rights will not be amortised until their useful life is determined 
to be finite. Instead these will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

For impairment testing purpose, the recoverable amount of the trading rights is determined based on the fair value less cost of disposal. 
The directors of the Company consider that the fair value less cost of disposal of the trading rights is more than the carrying amounts and 
accordingly, no impairment is recognised in profit or loss for both years. During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain trading rights 
amounted to HK$5,051,000 were written-off.

21. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE 
ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(a) Retailing CGU

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts of goodwill and trademark set out in notes 19 and 20 
have been allocated to the group of retailing CGUs.

Goodwill of HK$39,443,000 (2022: HK$39,443,000) and trademark of HK$38,000,000 (2022: HK$38,000,000) are 
allocated to the group of CGUs of retailing business in Hong Kong. In addition to goodwill and trademark, property 
and equipment of HK$23,301,000 (2022: HK$33,140,000) and right-of-use assets (including allocation of corporate 
assets) of HK$88,576,000 (2022: HK$173,070,000) that generate cash flows together with the related goodwill and 
trademark are also included in the group of CGUs of retailing business for the purpose of impairment assessment.
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21. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE 
ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)
(a) Retailing CGU (continued)

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs of retailing business has been determined based on a value in use 
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management of 
the Group covering a three-year period having an average annual growth rate of 2.5% and pre-tax discount rate of 
16.3% (2022: three-year period, average annual growth rate of 2.5% and pre-tax discount rate of 16.2%) and 
projection of terminal value using the perpetuity method at a growth rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.5%). A key assumption 
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted growth rate, which is determined based on past performance and 
management’s expectations for the market development in Hong Kong.

The cash flow projections and growth rates have been taking reference to the Group’s financial performance for 
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 and management’s expectations using market data.

No impairment on this group of CGUs is made for both years as the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying 
amount. Management of the Group believes that any reasonably possible change in any of the assumptions would 
not cause the carrying amount of the group of CGUs to exceed the recoverable amount of the above CGUs.

(b) Financial Services CGU

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, as a result of the recurring losses of the Group and significant 
uncertainty on global and local economic environment, the management of the Group concluded there was 
indicator for impairment on property and equipment. The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the various 
CGUs of broking, investment management and wealth management which in aggregate are reported as financial 
services segment and proprietary trading which is a separate segment to which the asset belongs, using the 
higher of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal of the respective CGU.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which the asset 
belongs when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of corporate 
assets when reasonable and consistent basis can be established.

The recoverable amount of cash-generating units has been determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal. 
The cash-generating units were measured at fair value based on Level 3 hierarchy using the income method. The 
cash flows projections and discount rate reflect assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 
relevant CGUs of the Group covering the following 3 years with a pre-tax discount rate of 11% (2022: 8.75%) as at 
31 December 2023. The annual growth rates used range is from 0% to 20% (2022: 0% to 30%), which are based on 
the forecast of business activities prepared by the management. The cash flows beyond the three-year period are 
extrapolated using 2.3% (2022: 2.4%) growth rate. The growth rates and discount rate as at 31 December 2023 
have been reassessed taking into consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties due to uncertainty on 
how the inflationary environment and interest rates hike may progress and evolve.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, based on the results of the assessment, management of the 
Group determined that no impairment on property and equipment is required.
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Deferred tax assets 5,450 5,450
Deferred tax liabilities (11,111) (6,825)

  

(5,661) (1,375)
  

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and the movements thereon during the current 
and prior years:

Fair value
Unrealised adjustment

Right-of-use gain on on intangible
assets and Decelerated financial assets under

related tax assets business
lease liabilities depreciation at FVTPL combination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 – 5,450 (176) (6,649) (1,375)
Charge to profit or loss (Note 13) – – (11,111) 6,649 (4,462)
Exchange adjustment – – 176 – 176

     

At 31 December 2023 – 5,450 (11,111) – (5,661)
     

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has deductible temporary differences in respect of decelerated tax depreciation and 
estimated unused tax losses of HK$103,966,000 and HK$1,502,582,000 (2022: HK$100,433,000 and HK$1,468,310,000) 
available for offset against future profits, while HK$1,218,000 (2022: HK$2,265,000) of estimated unused tax losses from 
certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC expired during the year ended 31 December 2023. No deferred tax asset has 
been recognised as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 in respect of these deductible temporary differences 
and estimated unused tax losses as it is not probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilised.

For certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC, unrecognised tax losses of HK$6,852,000 (2022: HK$7,634,000) will expire in 
various dates up to 2027 (2022: 2026). The remaining unrecognised tax losses of the Group can be carried forward 
indefinitely.
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Accounts receivable arising from retailing business (a) 2,039 1,268
Accounts receivable arising from the business of dealing in securities (b) 37,178 48,207
Accounts receivable arising from the business of margin financing (b) 127,276 128,182
Accounts receivable arising from the business of dealing in futures 

and options (b) 19,051 23,638
Less: allowance for impairment (54,739) (11,456)

  

130,805 189,839
  

As at 1 January 2022, the accounts receivable arising from retailing business were amounted to HK$33,150,000.

Notes:

(a) The Group allows an average credit period of 30 – 60 days to its corporate customers on retailing business. The ageing analysis based on 
the invoice date, which is approximately the revenue recognition date, is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 – 30 days 843 685
31 – 60 days 117 119
61 – 90 days 11 161
Over 90 days 1,068 303

  

2,039 1,268
  

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s accounts receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of 
HK$1,079,000 (2022: HK$464,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$1,068,000 (2022: 
HK$303,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default since the directors of the Company are of the opinion 
that the balances are still considered fully recoverable due to the management’s historical experience on the settlement pattern or record 
from these debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(b) Accounts receivable from clients, brokers, dealers and clearing houses arising from the business of dealing in securities are repayable on 
demand subsequent to settlement date. The normal settlement terms of accounts receivable arising from the business of dealing in 
securities are two days after trade date or at specific terms agreed with clients, brokers, dealers and accounts receivable arising from the 
business of dealing in futures and options are one day after trade date.

The Group provides customers with margin financing for securities transactions secured by customers’ securities held as collateral. 
Securities are assigned with specific margin ratios for calculating margin values. Additional funds or collateral are required if the amount 
of accounts receivable from margin clients outstanding exceeds the eligible margin value of the securities deposited.

The customers’ listed securities can be sold at the Group’s discretion to settle any margin call requirements imposed by their respective 
securities transactions. The Group is able to use clients’ securities up to the amount of 140% of the accounts receivable from margin 
clients as collateral of the Group’s borrowings. The accounts receivable from margin clients are repayable on demand and bear interest at 
commercial rates. As at 31 December 2023, accounts receivable from margin clients are secured by clients’ pledged securities with fair 
value of HK$169,837,000 (2022: HK$315,752,000), of which 35% (2022: 58%) of accounts receivable arising from the business of margin 
financing are fully collateralised.

The Group offsets certain accounts receivable and accounts payable when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off 
the balances and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the balances simultaneously. Details are set out in note 41.

No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not give additional value in 
view of the nature of business in margin financing.
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24. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Receivables from securities brokers (a) 106,284 145,914
Prepayments 14,985 10,801
Rental deposits 38,930 40,366
Other deposits (b) 18,040 23,043
Other receivables (b) 24,040 10,972

  

202,279 231,096
  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 186,765 206,709
Non-current assets 15,514 24,387

  

202,279 231,096
  

Notes:

(a) Receivables from securities brokers represents deposits placed with securities brokers for securities trading purposes and carry interest at 
prevailing market rates.

(b) Other deposits and other receivables are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand or within one year.

25. LOANS RECEIVABLES
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Revolving loans receivable denominated in:
Hong Kong dollars 6,251 8,967
Renminbi – 4,667
United States dollars 367 367

  

6,618 14,001
Less: allowance for impairment (1,430) (1,807)

  

5,188 12,194
  

The Group has policy for assessing the impairment of loans receivable on an individual basis. The assessment is based on 
a close monitoring and evaluation of collectability and on management’s judgment, including the current 
creditworthiness, collateral value (if any), the past collection history of each client and supportive forward-looking 
information.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s loans receivable were individually assessed for impairment. In 
determining the recoverability of the loans receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the loans 
receivable from the date of the credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2023, loans receivable are unsecured and have contractual interest rates ranging from 2% to 10.5% 
(2022: 2% to 10%) per annum. The Group has concentration of credit risk from two (2022: one) senior management and 
Nil (2022: one) staff, of the Group, in which the loans receivable included a total carrying amount of HK$4,288,000 (2022: 
HK$2,335,000) and HK$900,000 (2022: HK$2,332,000) respectively.

Details of impairment assessment at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out in note 41.
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25. LOANS RECEIVABLES (continued)
The carrying amount of the loans receivable has remaining contractual maturity dates as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

On demand or within one year 5,188 12,194
  

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Unlisted equity investments at fair value 25,821 24,328
  

The unlisted investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. These unlisted 
investments are designated as at FVTOCI, as recognising short-term fluctuations in the investments’ fair value in profit or 
loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the investments for long-term purposes and realising 
their performance potential in the long run.

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:

Listed securities held for trading:
– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note (a)) 20,342 40,939

  

Other investment:
– Unlisted fund investment (note (b)) 4,691 4,812
– Unlisted fund investments (note (c)) 17,007 10,655

  

42,040 56,406
  

Notes:`

(a) The fair values of the listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchanges.

(b) The fair value of the unlisted fund investment is determined with reference to the net asset value of the fund.

(c) The fair value of the unlisted fund investment is determined with reference to the dealing price of the investment funds derived from the 
net assets values of the investment funds with reference to observable quoted prices of underlying investment portfolio in active markets 
and fair value of the remaining assets, as provided by a broker.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 37,349 51,594
Non-current assets 4,691 4,812

  

42,040 56,406
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28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES (TRUST AND SEGREGATED 
ACCOUNTS)/BANK BALANCES (GENERAL ACCOUNTS) AND CASH
Pledged bank deposits

The pledged bank deposits carried fixed rate in a range of 0.01% to 3% (2022: 0.01% to 0.50%) per annum, which was the 
effective interest rate on the Group’s bank deposits. Pledged bank deposits of HK$50,000,000 (2022: HK$50,000,000) and 
HK$4,061,000 (2022: HK$4,159,000) are pledged to secure short-term loan and short-term undrawn facilities, respectively, 
and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the repayment of relevant bank borrowings or expiration of the 
facilities.

Bank balances – trust and segregated accounts

The Group receives and holds monies deposited by clients and other institutions in the course of the conduct of the 
regulated activities of its ordinary business. Such monies are maintained in one or more segregated bank accounts and 
bear interest at commercial rate. The Group has recognised the corresponding liabilities to respective external clients 
and other institutions as accounts payable (note 29). However, the Group does not have a currently enforceable right to 
offset those payables with the deposits placed.

Bank balances (general accounts) and cash

The amounts comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits at market interest rates in a range of 0.01% 
to 3% (2022: 0.01% to 0.50%) per annum with an original maturity of three months or less.

29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Accounts payable arising from retailing business (a) 123,271 174,287
Accounts payable arising from the business of dealing in securities (b) 343,832 464,481
Accounts payable arising from the business of dealing in futures and 

options (b) 31,815 45,699
Accounts payable arising from the business of wealth management (b) 519 –

  

499,437 684,467
  

Notes:

(a) Trade creditors arising from retailing business principally comprise amount outstanding for trade purpose and ongoing cost. The credit 
period taken for trade purchases ranges from 15 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days).

The following is an ageing analysis (from invoice date) of trade creditors arising from retailing business at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 – 30 days 30,167 52,526
31 – 60 days 52,813 69,222
61 – 90 days 32,978 50,650
Over 90 days 7,313 1,889

  

123,271 174,287
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29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (continued)
Note: (continued)

(b) The settlement terms of accounts payable from the business of dealing in securities are two days after trade date, and accounts payable 
arising from the business of dealing in futures and options contracts are one day after trade date. No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the 
opinion of directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of this business.

Accounts payable to clients arising from the business of dealing in futures and options are margin deposits received from clients for their 
trading of these contracts. The required margin deposits are repayable upon the closure of the corresponding futures and options 
position. The excess of the outstanding amounts over the required margin deposits stipulated are repayable to clients on demand.

Accounts payable to independent financial advisors arising from business of wealth management services are generally settled within 30 
days upon receipt of payments from product issuers/clients.

Except for the accounts payable to clients arising from the business of dealing in securities which bear interest at a fixed rate, all other 
accounts payable are non-interest bearing.

Accounts payable amounting to HK$346,215,000 (2022: HK$482,196,000) are payable to external clients and other institutions in respect of 
the trust and segregated bank balances received and held for clients and other institutions in the course of the conduct of regulated 
activities. However, the Group does not have a currently enforceable right to offset these payables with the deposits placed.

30. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES ARISING FROM CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT FUNDS
The Group had consolidated three (2022: two) structured entities including investment funds. For the investment funds 
where the Group involves as general partner and also as investors holding substantial shares which makes the Group has 
control over these structured entities.

31. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Accrued liabilities
– Salaries and commission payables 17,623 23,312
– Other accrued liabilities 27,664 44,899

Other payables 58,433 88,307
  

103,720 156,518
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Advances received in relation to tailor-made furniture 9,041 7,613
Advances received in relation to other furniture 52,051 40,043
Reward points under customer loyalty programme 1,412 1,072

  

62,504 48,728
  

Tailor-made furniture and other furniture

Contract liabilities in relation to tailor-made and other furniture represent the advance payments received from the 
customers upon ordering of tailor-made furniture commences, or before delivery of other furniture, until the revenue 
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Customer loyalty programme

The Group offers customer loyalty programme in the Group’s retailing operation. Basically, the customers can earn one 
point for each dollar spent in the shops of the Group. The customers can enjoy discount by utilising the award points 
earned under the customer loyalty programme. All award points can be accumulated up to 31 December each year and 
will be expired in January of the following year.

Contract liabilities in relation to award points under customer loyalty programme represent the aggregate amount of the 
transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the reporting period. The 
Group expects the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations will be recognised as revenue 
when the award points are redeemed.

For the contract liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2022, the entire balances were recognised as revenue in profit or loss 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 64,786 142,031
More than one year but not more than two years 34,269 43,586
More than two years but not more than five years 25,488 24,475

  

124,543 210,092
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under current liabilities (64,786) (142,031)

  

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current liabilities 59,757 68,061
  

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 4% to 4.875% (2022: 4% to 
4.125%) per annum.

34. BORROWINGS
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Secured bank borrowings 109,192 96,064
Unsecured bank borrowing 5,000 –
Secured trust receipts 24,394 43,933
Unsecured trust receipts 104,966 108,387
Unsecured other borrowings 96,060 126,861

  

339,612 375,245
  

Bank borrowings and trust receipts

Carrying amount repayable based on scheduled repayment terms:

Within one year 163,441 168,320
  

Carrying amount of bank borrowings and trust receipts 
containing a repayment on demand clause:

Within one year 80,111 80,064
  

Total 243,552 248,384
Less: Amount under current liabilities (243,552) (248,384)

  

Amount shown under non-current liabilities – –
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34. BORROWINGS (continued)
Other borrowings

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount repayable based on scheduled repayment terms:

Within one year 96,060 126,861
  

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s secured bank borrowings and trust receipts of HK$133,586,000 (2022: 
HK$139,997,000) were secured and/or guaranteed by:

(a) corporate guarantees from the Company;

(b) corporate guarantees from certain subsidiaries of the Company;

(c) marketable securities of the Group’s clients with fair value of HK$141,030,000 (2022: HK$150,158,000) at 31 
December 2023 (with clients’ consent); and

(d) pledged bank deposits of HK$50,000,000 (2022: HK$50,000,000) for short-term bank borrowings as disclosed in 
note 28.

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings amounting to HK$114,192,000 (2022: HK$96,064,000) are variable-rate 
borrowings which carry interest at either Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) or Hong Kong Prime Rate plus a 
spread. Trust receipts amounting to HK$129,360,000 (2022: HK$152,320,000) carry interest at either HIBOR or Hong Kong 
Prime Rate plus a spread.

The unsecured bank borrowing amounting to HK$5,000,000 (2022: Nil) as at 31 December 2023 and unsecured trust 
receipt loans amounting to HK$104,966,000 (2022: HK$108,387,000) are guaranteed by the Company. The Group has 
unused short-term banking facilities of approximately HK$100.6 million (2022: HK$255.4 million) as at 31 December 2023.

The other borrowings amounting to HK$96,060,000 (2022: HK$126,861,000) were drawn from a related company 
controlled by a substantial shareholder with significant influence to the Group. It was unsecured, carried interest rate at 
Hong Kong Prime Rate plus a spread and repayable within one year (2022: within one year).

The effective interest rates on the Group’s borrowings ranged from 4.25% to 7.47% (2022: 4.13% to 6.60%) per annum.
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35. SHARE CAPITAL
Par value 

of each 
ordinary share

Number 
of shares Amount

HK$ ’000 HK$’000
    

Ordinary shares

Authorised:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 0.2 150,000 30,000

  

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 0.2 80,720 16,144

  

All the shares in issued rank pari passu in all respects.

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Share of

net assets
of subsidiaries

HK$’000
  

At 1 January 2022 (37,946)
Share of total comprehensive expense for the year (1,608)
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 37) 134,734

 

At 31 December 2022 95,180
Share of total comprehensive expense for the year (34,916)
Acquisition of additional interests from non-controlling shareholders of a subsidiary (Note 38) (40,258)
Deemed disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries without loss of control (Note 39) 33,009

 

At 31 December 2023 53,015
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY
The Group held 37.50% equity interest in an associate, CFSG as at 31 December 2021 and increased to 39.40% during the 
year ended 31 December 2022. On 21 October 2022, the Group further acquired 21.08% equity interest in CFSG for a 
consideration of HK$23,125,000 and CFSG is treated as a subsidiary of the Group since that date. CFSG is a listed 
company incorporated in Bermuda and engaged in provision of finance services. The acquisition has been accounted for 
as acquisition of business using the acquisition method. The amount of the non-controlling interests is measured on the 
basis of its proportionate interests in the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The following table summarises the 
consideration transferred for CFSG and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognised at the 
acquisition date.

Fair values
HK$’000

  

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:
Property and equipment 6,997
Right-of-use assets 21,385
Intangible assets 9,092
Other assets 9,688
Rental and utility deposits 1,886
Financial assets at FVTOCI 23,270
Accounts and other receivable 226,406
Contract assets 2,243
Loans receivable 12,046
Financial assets at FVTPL 41,139
Bank balances – trust and segregated accounts 529,701
Bank balances (general accounts) and cash 191,194
Accounts payable (553,587)
Accrued liabilities and other payables (2,694)
Taxation payable (3,000)
Lease liabilities (26,522)
Borrowings (146,388)
Provision for restoration (1,842)

 

341,014
Less: Non-controlling interests (134,734)

 

206,280
 

Net gain arising on deemed disposal of associates and acquisition of subsidiary:
Net assets acquired 206,280
Less: Consideration (23,125)
Previously held interests in CFSG (160,570)

 

Net gain (Note) 22,585
 

Net cash inflow arising from acquisition:
Bank balances and cash acquired 191,194
Less: Consideration (23,125)

 

168,069
 

Note: This represents bargain purchase gain arising from the acquisition, net of remeasurement of the Group’s previously held interests in CFSG.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (continued)
CFSG contributed revenue of HK$7,133,000 and a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$4,705,000 to the 
Group since the acquisition. Had the acquisition of CFSG been completed on 1 January 2022, the Group’s revenue and 
the loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 would have been 
HK$1,272,408,000 and HK$48,190,000 respectively. The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not 
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had 
the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

38. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Equity interest
held 

by the Group
before 

acquisition

Equity interest
held 

by the Group
after acquisition

Total 
Consideration

     

CFSG Hong Kong 60.49% 72.93% HK$61,000,000
   

On 24 May 2023, CFSG acquired 51% of the issued shares of Cash Algo Finance Group International Limited (“CAFG”) 
from Confident Profit Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at the consideration of 
HK$61,000,000 by satisfied as to HK$10,000,000 in cash and HK$51,000,000 by issuing of 120,000,000 new CFSG shares.

This acquisition has been accounted for as equity transaction and the total difference between the consideration paid 
and the carrying amount of the attributable non-controlling interests acquired of HK$40,258,000 had been recognised 
directly in other reserve.

39. DEEMED DISPOSAL OF PARTIAL INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY WITHOUT LOSS OF 
CONTROL
On 4 August 2023, CFSG has made placement of 50,000,000 shares to independent third parties at the placing price of 
HK$0.42 per share. Following the completion of the placement, the Group’s shareholding in CFSG decreased from 
72.93% to 64.47%. The Group continuously control over CFSG after the partial disposal. The difference between 
consideration received by placement and the attributable equity interest in CFSG disposed of HK$12,114,000 had been 
recognised directly in other reserve.

40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of 
the Group consists of debts, which include the lease liabilities and borrowings disclosed in notes 33 and 34, respectively, 
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital disclosed in note 35, reserves and 
accumulated losses as disclosed in consolidated statement of changes in equity. The management of the Group reviews 
the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, 
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the issue of new shares as well as the issue of new debt or 
the redemption of existing debt. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.

Following the acquisition of CFSG, certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Hong Kong Securities and 
Futures Commission (“SFC”) and are required to comply with the financial resources requirements according to the Hong 
Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”). The Group’s regulated entities are subject to 
minimum paid-up share capital requirements and liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R. Management of the 
Group closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid capital level of these entities to ensure compliance with the minimum 
liquid capital requirements under the SF(FR)R. The Group’s regulated entities have complied with the capital 
requirements imposed by the SF(FR)R throughout the year.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
At FVTPL 42,040 56,406
At FVTOCI 25,821 24,328
At amortised cost 956,925 1,293,094

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost 897,482 1,148,019
At FVTPL 122 5,757

  

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include accounts receivable and payable, deposits and other receivables, 
financial assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, loans receivable, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, 
financial liabilities arising from consolidated investment funds, other payables, lease liabilities and borrowings. Details of 
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and 
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors 
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from equity investments, unlisted fund investment, Unconsolidated Investment 
Funds and financial liabilities arising from consolidated investment fund classified as at FVTPL. The Group’s equity 
investments are listed on the Stock Exchange, while the unlisted investment funds are traded in the over-the-counter 
markets. In both years, the directors of the Company manage the exposure by closely monitoring the portfolio of 
investments and imposing trading limits on individual trades.

In addition, the Group also invested in unlisted equity investments for long-term strategic purposes which had been 
designated at FVTOCI.

The exposure to equity price risk for the Group’s investments held for trading are insignificant to the Group. Accordingly, 
no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to accounts payable to clients arising from business of 
dealing in securities, a loan receivable carrying fixed interest rate and lease liabilities. The Group does not have fair value 
hedging policy. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to balances with banks, accounts 
receivables arising from the business of margin financing, bank borrowings and certain loans receivable carrying interest 
at prevailing market rates. The Group currently does not have a cash flow interest rate hedging policy. However, 
management of the Group closely monitors its exposure arising from margin financing and other lending activities 
undertaken by allowing an appropriate margin on the interest received and paid by the Group.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this 
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Prime Rate and 
HIBOR arising from the Group’s variable interest rate instruments.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of 
some interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk 
management strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform and the progress towards implementation of 
alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.

A 200 basis points (2022: 200 basis points) change is used and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in interest rates. The sensitivity analysis is prepared assuming the variable-rate financial instruments 
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. Bank balances are excluded from 
sensitivity analysis as these are subject to minimal interest rate fluctuation for both years. As at 31 December 2023, if the 
interest rate had been 200 basis points (2022: 200 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, 
the Group’s loss after tax would increase/decrease by HK$4,424,000 (2022: HK$6,063,000). This is mainly attributable to 
the Group exposure to the interest rates on variable-rate borrowings and loans receivable.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the cash flow interest rate 
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The group entities have financial assets denominated in currencies other than their respective functional currencies. 
Consequently, the Group is exposed to risks that the exchange rate of functional currencies relative to other currencies 
may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of the position of the Group’s assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies.

The exposure primarily arises from the receivables from foreign brokers, foreign currency deposits with banks, equity 
securities listed outside Hong Kong denominated in United States dollars (‘’USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”) and accounts 
payable to clients denominated in USD and RMB. The management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure 
and will consider hedging significant foreign exposure should the need arises. The directors of the Company do not 
expect significant foreign exchange risk arising from USD denominated monetary items in view of the Hong Kong dollar 
pegged system to the USD.

The carrying amounts of the major foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

USD 40,174 136,203 15,699 59,194
RMB 13,765 43,238 1,820 13,042

    

As at 31 December 2023, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022: 5%) against HK$ and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s loss after tax would decrease/increase by HK$499,000 (2022: HK$1,261,000). Under the 
pegged exchange rate system, the financial impact in exchange fluctuation between HK$ and USD is considered to be 
immaterial and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign 
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to accounts receivable arising from retailing business and financial 
services business, loans receivable, receivables from securities brokers, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank 
deposits and bank balances. Except for accounts receivable arising from the business of margin financing, the Group 
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with these financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets and other items under ECL model. Information about 
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if 
applicable, are summarised as below:

Accounts receivables arising from retailing business

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination 
of credit limits and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. 
Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit rating system to assess the potential customer’s 
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL 
model on balances individually. Based on assessment by the directors of the Company, the directors of the Company 
considers the ECL for these balances is insignificant.

Account receivables arising from financial services business

In order to minimise the credit risk on brokerage and financing services, Credit and Risk Management Committee of 
CFSG is set up to compile the credit and risk management policies, to approve credit limits and to determine any debt 
recovery action on delinquent receivables. In addition, the Group has a policy for assessing the credit risk of accounts 
receivable. The assessment is based on a close monitoring and evaluation of collectability and on management’s 
judgment, including the current creditworthiness, account executives concentration analysis, collateral distribution and 
concentration analysis and the past collection history of each client, etc. In this regard, the directors of the Company 
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Loans receivable

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has delegated teams at respective subsidiaries responsible for 
determination of credit limits and interest rate offered to customers. Monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that 
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL 
model on balances individually based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors, and 
forward-looking information that is available undue cost or effort. Based on assessment by the directors of the Company, 
the directors of the Company considers the ECL is insignificant.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment on the 
recoverability of significant balances based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also available 
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The directors of the Company believe that there is no material 
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables and deposits. Based on assessment by the 
management of the Group, the ECL for these balances is insignificant.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Receivables from securities brokers, pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The management of the Group considers that the credit risks on receivables from securities brokers, pledged bank 
deposits and bank balances are limited because the banks and securities brokers are financial institutions with high 
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed 12-month ECL by reference to 
probability of default, loss given default by the relevant credit rating grades published by international credit rating 
agencies. Based on assessment by the management of the Group, the ECL for these balances is insignificant.

Except for CFSG’s financial assets, the Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit 
rating Description Accounts receivables Other financial assets
    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 
does not have any past-due amounts

Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired 12-month ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but 
usually settle in full

Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired 12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit 
risk since initial recognition through 
information developed internally or external 
resources

Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – not 
credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – 
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor  
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group 
has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Receivables from securities brokers, pledged bank deposits and bank balances (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal credit
credit management 12-month or 2023 2022

Financial assets Notes rating and assessment lifetime ECL Gross carrying amounts Gross carrying amounts
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000         

Amortised cost

Accounts receivable arising from 
retailing business 23 N/A Low risk

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired) 2,039 2,039 1,268 1,268

    

Accounts receivable arising from 
business of dealing in securities, 
futures and options 23 N/A Note (f) 12-month ECL 56,229 56,229 71,845 71,845

    

Accounts receivable arising from 
business of margin financing 23 N/A Note (d) 12-month ECL 43,621 68,725

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired) 803 1,350
Credit-impaired 82,852 127,276 58,107 128,182

    

Loans receivable 25 N/A Notes (a),(e) 12-month ECL 5,553 12,343
Credit-impaired 1,065 6,618 1,658 14,001

    

Deposits and other receivables 24 N/A Note (e) 12-month ECL 24,040 29,527
N/A 56,970 81,010 45,854 74,381

    

Receivables from securities 24 Aa3 – Aa1 Note (c) 12-month ECL 545 63,154
brokers A3 – A1 12-month ECL 45,577 40,511

B1 – Baa1 12-month ECL 60,162 106,284 42,249 145,914
    

Pledged bank deposits 28 Aa3 – Aa1 N/A 12-month ECL 25,000 25,000
A3 – A1 N/A 12-month ECL 29,061 54,061 29,159 54,159

    

Bank balances 28 Aa3 – Aa1 N/A 12-month ECL 13,262 8,177
A3 – A1 N/A 12-month ECL 454,233 799,069

B1 – Baa1 N/A 12-month ECL 112,082 579,577 9,361 816,607
    

Notes:

(a) In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group closely evaluates the borrower’s financial background and repayment 
abilities. The assessment is based on a close monitoring and evaluation of the collectability of each individual account and the past 
collection history. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration of credit risk on loans receivable as 89% (2022: 71%) of the 
outstanding balance is from the top five (2022: five) borrowers. As at 31 December 2023, the management considered an unsecured loan 
overdue more than 90 days of HK$1,065,000 (2022: HK$1,658,000) to be uncollectable and credit impaired. The loans receivable of 
HK$5,553,000 (2022: HK$12,343,000) are not overdue and are considered to have no significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. Accordingly, these are subject to 12-month ECL.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Receivables from securities brokers, pledged bank deposits and bank balances (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) The Group has concentration of credit risk arising from bank balances which are mainly deposited with three banks. The credit risk on 
bank balances and bank deposits is limited because the counterparties are major institutional banks with credit ratings of Baa3 or higher 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. These institutional banks have a low risk of default and there is no significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. Accordingly, they are subject to 12-month ECL.

(c) The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk as the exposure is spread over a number of counterparties and customers, except 
for the liquid funds which are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and receivables from three securities brokers in a total 
amount of HK$106,284,000 (2022: HK$145,914,000). Concentration of credit risk for loans receivable and account receivable from margin 
clients are disclosed below.

(d) As at 31 December 2023, the Group had concentration of credit risk on the accounts receivable from margin clients as the aggregate 
balances with the five largest clients represent approximately 65% (2022: 62%) of total accounts receivable from margin clients. The 
Group considers that there is significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and default indicator when the LTV ratio of a 
particular client has increased up to certain level for a certain period of time. The PD and LGD over the expected life of the accounts 
receivable are estimated on a portfolio basis based on the Group’s historical default and loss data and adjusted for forward-looking factors 
that are available without undue cost or effort.

For non-credit impaired accounts receivable arising from margin financing, the management performed collective assessment considered 
the past due status and LTV ratio and ECL are estimated on a portfolio basis based on the Group’s historical default and loss data and 
adjusted for forward-looking factors that are available without undue cost or effort. For credit-impaired accounts receivable from margin 
clients, the management performs individual assessment for each client by considering various factors, including the realisable value of 
securities or collateral from clients which are held by the Group and subsequent settlement.

(e) The ECL is assessed by reference to the PD and LGD for the relevant credit rating grades published by international credit rating agencies, 
and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are available without undue cost or effort. For exposure from non-rated counterparties, the 
Group has assessed the ECL by reference to the PD and LGD of speculative grade ratings.

For the receivables from brokers, the Group ensures that the exposures are limited to reputable counterparties, such as the financial 
institutions which are governed by regulators. The risk of default in repayment is considered to be minimal by the directors. Accordingly, 
they are subject to 12-month ECL.

(f) For accounts receivable from cash clients was accounts receivable from clients arising from the business of dealing in securities, futures 
and options, are which normally had a delivery-against payment settlement term of one or two days.

The Group ensures that the exposures are limited to reputable counterparties, such as the financial institutions, brokers, dealers or 
clearing houses, which are governed by regulators including the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, the SFC and other overseas regulators. 
The risk of default in repayment is considered to be minimal by the directors. Accordingly, they are subject to 12-month ECL.

Except for accounts receivable arising from margin financing and loans receivable, the ECL impairment allowance 
determined for other financial assets carried at amortised cost and contract assets is insignificant and accordingly no 
provision has been made.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Receivables from securities brokers, pledged bank deposits and bank balances (continued)

(a) The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowance that has been recognised for accounts receivable 
arising from margin financing.

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL

credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

As at 1 January 2022 – – – –
– Acquisition of subsidiary 40 47 11,369 11,456

    

As at 31 December 2022  
and 1 January 2023 40 47 11,369 11,456
– Transfer to lifetime ECL 

(credit-impaired) (24) 3 21 –
– Transfer to lifetime ECL (not 

credit-impaired) (7) 10 (3) –
– Transfer to 12m ECL 8 (2) (6) –
– Impairment losses recognised 127 374 43,913 44,414
– Impairment losses reversed (116) (404) (611) (1,131)

    

As at 31 December 2023 28 28 54,683 54,739
    

Note:

In determining the allowances for credit impaired accounts receivable arising from margin financing, the management of the Group also 
takes into account shortfall by comparing the fair value of collateral and the outstanding balance of accounts receivable arising from 
margin financing. The directors of the Company consider that the recoverability of the credit-impaired accounts receivable arising from 
margin financing is highly reliant on the realisation of the collaterals held.

Accounts receivable arising from margin financing with a gross carrying amount of HK$803,000 (2022: HK$1,350,000) and HK$82,852,000 
(2022: HK$58,107,000) were assessed as becoming lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) due to significant increase in credit risk and lifetime 
ECL (credit-impaired) respectively due to the significant financial difficulty of the borrower and a breach of contract, such as a default. 
Accordingly, 12m ECL of HK$7,000 (2022: HK$10,000) and HK$24,000 (2022: HK$11,000) were transferred to lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired) and lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) during the current year.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Receivables from securities brokers, pledged bank deposits and bank balances (continued)

(b) The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowance that has been recognised for loans receivable.

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL

credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

As at 1 January 2022 – – – –
– Acquisition of subsidiary 149 – 1,658 1,807

    

As at 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 149 – 1,658 1,807
– Impairment losses reversed (80) – (297) (377)

    

As at 31 December 2023 69 – 1,361 1,430
    

For non-credit impaired accounts receivable arising from margin financing, the management performed collective 
assessment and ECL are estimated on a portfolio basis based on the Group’s historical default and loss data and adjusted 
for forward-looking factors that are available without undue cost or effort.

Liquidity risk

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$46,491,000 (2022: HK$25,743,000) as at 31 December 2023. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis because the directors of the Company believe that 
the Group has sufficient funds to finance its current working capital requirements taking into account of the factors as 
disclosed in note 3.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The 
management of the Group monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with all the loan covenants.

Liquidity tables

As part of ordinary broking activities, the Group is exposed to liquidity risk arising from timing difference between 
settlement with clearing houses or brokers and customers. To address the risk, the treasury team works closely with the 
settlement division on monitoring the liquidity gap. In addition, for contingency purposes, clean loan facilities are put in 
place.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the Group can be required to pay.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the 
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities are based on 
the agreed settlement dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 
undiscounted amount is derived from prevailing market rate at the end of the reporting period.

Carrying
Weighted Within amount at the

average 1 year or Between Between Total end of the
effective repayable 1 to 2 2 to undiscounted reporting

interest rate on demand years 5 years cash flows period
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 31 December 2023
Accounts payable N/A 499,437 – – 499,437 499,437
Other payables N/A 58,433 – – 58,433 58,433
Financial liabilities arising from 

consolidated investment funds N/A 122 – – 122 122
Borrowings Note (1) 360,120 – – 360,120 339,612
Leases liabilities Note (2) 67,143 35,959 25,994 129,096 124,543

     

985,255 35,959 25,994 1,047,208 1,022,147
     

At 31 December 2022
Accounts payable N/A 684,467 – – 684,467 684,467
Other payables N/A 88,307 – – 88,307 88,307
Financial liabilities arising from 

consolidated investment funds N/A 5,757 – – 5,757 5,757
Borrowings Note (1) 381,982 – – 381,982 375,245
Leases liabilities Note (2) 147,887 45,383 25,484 218,754 210,092

     

1,308,400 45,383 25,484 1,379,267 1,363,868
     

Notes:

(1) Variable-rate borrowings carry interest at either HIBOR or Hong Kong Prime Rate plus a spread. The prevailing market rate at the end of 
the reporting period is used in the maturity analysis.

(2) Lease liabilities carry weighted-average interest rate at 4.44% (2022: 4.081%).
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “within 1 year or repayment on demand” time band 
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted 
to HK$80,111,000 (2022: HK$80,064,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company 
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate payment. 
The directors of the Company believe that such borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment 
dates set out in the loan agreements. As at 31 December 2023, assuming the banks will not exercise their discretionary 
rights to demand immediate repayment, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows within one year for such 
bank loans amount to HK$85,301,000 (2022: HK$85,422,000).

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are subject to change if changes in variable interest 
rates differ from the estimated interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 34, the Group’s HIBOR bank borrowings and trust receipt loans may be subject to the interest rate 
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to new benchmark interest 
rates, including announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is 
no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will 
co-exist.

For the floating rate loans that are linked to HIBOR, the management expects the HIBOR will continue to maturity. 
Accordingly, the management does not expect there is significant uncertainty or risks arising from the interest rate 
benchmark reform.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The following table 
gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation 
technique(s) and input(s) used).

Fair value as at
Fair value
hierarchy Valuation technique(s)

Significant
unobservable
inputs

Relationship
of
unobservable
inputs to
fair value

Reasonable
significant
change in
unobservable
inputs

Increase(+)/decrease(-)
in fair value of
financial instruments
by reasonable change
in unobservable inputs

31 December
2023

31 December
2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
Investments held for trading
– Equity securities listed in Hong 

Kong/the PRC
20,342 40,939 Level 1 Quoted prices in an active market N/A N/A N/A N/A

Other investments
– Unlisted fund investment 17,007 10,655 Level 2 Dealing price of the investment 

funds derived from the net asset 
values of the investment funds 
with reference to observable 
quoted prices of underlying 
investment portfolio in active 
markets and fair value of the 
remaining assets, as provided by 
a broker

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Investment held for long-term 
strategic purpose

– Unlisted fund investment 4,691 4,812 Level 3 Net asset value of the fund 
calculated based on the 
discounted cash flows of 
underlying investments.

Net assets value The higher the 
net assets 
value, the 
higher the 
fair value.

10% 2023: +470/-470 
(2022: +481/-481)

Financial assets at FVTOCI
– Unlisted equity investment 21,761 19,975 Level 3 Discounted cash flow method Discount rate: 

2023: 10.03% 
(2022: 11.03%)

The higher the 
discount rate, 
the lower the 
fair value.

10% 2023: –203/+195 
(2022: –195/+203)

– Unlisted equity investment 4,060 4,353 Level 3 Market approach Discount factor 
for lack of 
marketability: 
2023: 15% 
(2022: 17%)

The higher the 
discount 
factor for lack 
of 
marketability, 
the lower the 
fair value.

10% 2023: –71/+72
(2022: –89/+90)

Price-to-Book 
(PB) Ratio*: 
2023: 0.52 
(2022: 0.56)

The higher the 
PB ratio, the 
higher the 
fair value

* No sensitivity analysis in performed as the directors of the Company consider that the impact from PB ratio is not material.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Financial assets
at FVTPL
HK$’000

  

As at 1 January 2023 4,812
Total losses in profit or loss (121)

 

As at 31 December 2023 4,691
 

Financial assets
at FVTOCI

HK$’000
  

As at 1 January 2023 24,328
Total gains in other comprehensive income 1,493

 

As at 31 December 2023 25,821
 

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of unrealised gains of HK$1,493,000 (2022: HK$1,058,000) related 
to unlisted equity investments at FVTOCI held as at 31 December 2023. Included in profit or loss is an amount of 
unrealised loss of HK$121,000 (2022: HK$822,000) related to unlisted fund investment at FVTPL held as at 31 December 
2023.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during both years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values. Such fair values have 
been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an 
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that are either:

• offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position; or

• not offset in the consolidated statement of financial position as the offsetting criteria are not met.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing 
Company Limited (“HKSCC”) and brokers, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the money obligations 
receivable and payable with HKSCC and brokers on the same settlement date and the Group intends to settle on a net 
basis.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting (continued)

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the accounts receivable and payable with cash clients 
that are due to be settled on the same date and the Group intends to settle these balances on a net basis. The Group 
has a legally enforceable right to set off the accounts receivable and payable with margin clients and the Group intends 
to settle the balances on a net basis. Cash and margin clients collectively referred to as the brokerage clients.

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same date which are being offset, amounts due from/to HKSCC, 
brokers and brokerage clients that are not to be settled on the same date, financial collateral including cash and 
securities received by the Group and deposits placed with HKSCC and brokers do not meet the criteria for offsetting in 
the consolidated statement of financial position since the right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only enforceable 
following an event of default.

Gross Net
amounts of amounts
recognised of financial

financial assets Related amounts
Gross liabilities set presented not set off

amounts of off in the in the in the consolidated
recognised consolidated consolidated statement of

financial statement statement financial position
assets after of financial of financial Financial Collateral
impairment position position instruments received* Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

As at 31 December 2023
Financial assets
Accounts receivable arising from the business of 

dealing in securities and margin financing 152,914 (43,199) 109,715 (840) (74,275) 34,600
      

As at 31 December 2022
Financial assets
Accounts receivable arising from the business of 

dealing in securities and margin financing 270,118 (105,185) 164,933 (2,536) (122,720) 39,677
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting (continued)

Gross Net
amounts of amounts
recognised of financial

financial liabilities Related amounts
assets set presented not set off

Gross off in the in the in the consolidated
amounts of consolidated consolidated statement of
recognised statement statement financial position

financial of financial of financial Financial Collateral
liabilities position position instruments paid Net amount
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

As at 31 December 2023 
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable arising from the business of 

dealing in securities 387,032 (43,199) 343,833 – – 343,833
      

As at 31 December 2022
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable arising from the business of 

dealing in securities 569,666 (105,185) 464,481 – – 464,481
      

* These represent market value of shares pledged by customers, which are capped at the outstanding balances of respective customers.

42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(A) Share option scheme of the Company

The Company’s share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution 
passed at an annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 May 2012 and took effect on the same date. The 
Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 21 May 2012 was terminated pursuant to a resolution passed 
at the special general meeting held on 30 September 2021. The new share option scheme (“New Share Option 
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed at the special general meeting held on 30 September 2021 
in replacement of the Share Option Scheme. The options granted under the Share Option Scheme before 
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the options.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to provide incentives to:

• award and retain the participants who have made contributions to the Company, its subsidiaries and 
associates, including CFSG and its subsidiaries; or

• attract potential candidates to serve the Group for the benefit of the development of the Group.

(ii) The participants include any employee, director, consultant, adviser or agent of any members of the Group.
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(A) Share option scheme of the Company (continued)

(iii) The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted under the Share Option 
Scheme must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of approval of the 
Share Option Scheme and such limit might be refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. The Share 
Option Scheme was terminated on 30 September 2021 and therefore no options were available for grant as 
at 31 December 2023.

Upon the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme, the 10% scheme mandate limit imposed under the 
New Share Option Scheme was refreshed. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options 
might be granted under the New Share Option Scheme must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of 
the Company as at the date of adoption of the New Share Option Scheme and such limit might be refreshed 
by shareholders in general meeting. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be 
granted was 8,072,018 shares, representing a maximum of 10% of the Company’s issued share capital as at 
31 December 2023.

However, the total maximum number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding 
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme, the New Share Option Scheme 
and any other share option scheme must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

(iv) The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted to a participant, when 
aggregated with shares issued and issuable (including exercised and outstanding options and the options 
cancelled) under any option granted to the same participant under the Share Option Scheme or any other 
share option scheme within any 12-months period, must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue from time to 
time.

(v) There was no requirement for a grantee to hold the option for a certain period before exercising the option 
save as determined by the board of directors of the Company and provided in the offer of grant of option.

(vi) The exercise period should be any period fixed by the board of directors of the Company upon grant of the 
option but in any event the option period should not go beyond 10 years from the date of offer for grant.

(vii) The acceptance of an option, if accepted, must be made within 28 days from the date of grant with a 
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from the grantee to the Company.

(viii) The exercise price of an option must be the highest of:

• the closing price of the shares on the date of grant which day must be a trading day;

• the average closing price of the shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; 
and

• the nominal value of the share.
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(A) Share option scheme of the Company (continued)

(ix) Pursuant to the approval of the special general meeting of the Company on 30 September 2021, the Share 
Option Scheme was terminated on 30 September 2021. The life of the New Share Option Scheme is effective 
for 10 years from the date of adoption until 29 September 2031.

All share-based compensation will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the Company’s ordinary shares.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share options held by the directors, employees and 
consultants of the Group and movements in such holdings:

Number of share options 
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding

price Exercise as at Granted Lapsed as at
Name of scheme Date of grant per share period 1.1.2023 in 2023 in 2023 31.12.2023

HK$        

Directors
Share Option Scheme 16.7.2021 1.450 (Note) 3,200,000 – (3,200,000) –

Consultants
Share Option Scheme 16.7.2021 1.450 (Note) 550,000 – (550,000) –

    

3,750,000 – (3,750,000) –
    

Exercisable at 31 December 2023 –
 

Number of share options 
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding

price Exercise as at Granted Lapsed as at
Name of scheme Date of grant per share period 1.1.2022 in 2022 in 2022 31.12.2022

HK$        

Directors
Share Option Scheme 16.7.2021 1.450 (Note) 3,200,000 – – 3,200,000

Consultants
Share Option Scheme 16.7.2021 1.450 (Note) 550,000 – – 550,000

    

3,750,000 – – 3,750,000
    

Exercisable at 31 December 2022 –
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(A) Share option scheme of the Company (continued)

Note: The options were granted to the directors of the Group on 16 July 2021 for the provision of services to the Group. The options are 
subject to approval from the board of directors of the Company and will vest upon achievement of specific performance target, 
service condition and at the discretion of the board of directors of the Company.

For the options granted to directors, the options must be exercised subject to 2 tranches period as to (i) 50% exercisable from the 
date of the board of directors of the Company approves the vesting of the options up to 31 July 2022; (ii) 50% exercisable from 1 
August 2022 to up to 31 July 2023.

In addition, the Group entered into arrangement with other service providers in respect of options on 16 July 2021 for the 
provision of satisfactory services to the Group. The service providers will be entitled to the options upon the satisfactory delivery of 
services to the Group and determined at the sole discretion of the board of directors of the Company. The options must be 
exercised within one month from the date the board of directors of Company approves the entitlement of the options. At 31 
December 2023, there were no satisfactory delivery of services to the Group and thus no share-based compensation expense.

During the year, the lapsed options were due to expiry of the options in accordance with the terms of the share options.

The fair values are calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model (“B-Model”). The variables and assumptions used in 
computing the fair value of the share options are based on the best estimation of the directors of the Company. The 
value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model were as 
follows:

Share options
grant date

16 July 2021
  

Share price at grant date HK$1.45
Exercise price HK$1.45
Expected volatility 288%
Expected life 2 years
Risk-free rate 0.07%
Expected dividend yield Nil

 

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous years.

The estimated fair value of share options granted on 16 July 2021 was approximately HK$5,769,000, of which 
HK$4,448,000, HK$556,000 and HK$765,000 represented the fair value of the share options granted to the directors, 
employees and consultants, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, HK$2,224,000 of share-based compensation expenses has been recognised in 
profit or loss. The corresponding amount of HK$4,448,000 has been credited to share-based payment reserve. No 
liabilities were recognised due to share-based payment transactions.
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Share option scheme of the CFSG

The share option scheme was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual general meeting of 
CFSG held on 8 June 2018 (the “CFSG Share Option Scheme”).

The major terms of the CFSG Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to provide incentives to:

• award and retain the participants who have made contributions to the Company and its subsidiaries 
and associates, including the CFSG and its subsidiaries; or

• attract potential candidates to serve the Group for the benefit of the development of the Group.

(ii) The participants include any employees (whether full time or part time), executives and officers (including 
executive and non-executive directors) and business consultants, agents and legal and financial advisers of 
the Group.

(iii) The maximum number of shares in respect of which options might be granted under the CFSG Share Option 
Scheme must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the CFSG as at the date of approval of the CFSG 
Share Option Scheme and such limit might be refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. The maximum 
number of CFSG shares was 26,117,477 (2022: 26,117,477) shares, representing around 6% (2022: 10%) of the 
issued share capital of the CFSG as at 31 December 2023. However, the total maximum number of shares 
which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 
CFSG Share Option Scheme and any other CFSG share option scheme must not exceed 30% of the CFSG 
shares in issue from time to time.

(iv) The maximum number of CFSG shares in respect of which options might be granted to a participant, when 
aggregated with CFSG shares issued and issuable (including exercised and outstanding options and the 
options cancelled) under any option granted to the same participant under the CFSG Share Option Scheme 
or any other CFSG share option scheme within any 12-months period, must not exceed 1% of the CFSG 
shares in issue from time to time.

(v) There is no requirement for a grantee to hold the option for a certain period before exercising the option 
save as determined by the board of directors of CFSG (“CFSG Board”) and provided in the offer of grant of 
option.

(vi) The exercise period should be any period fixed by the CFSG Board upon grant of the option but in any event 
the option period should not go beyond 10 years from the date of offer for grant.

(vii) The acceptance of an option, if accepted, must be made within 28 days from the date of grant with a 
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from the grantee to the CFSG.

(viii) The exercise price of an option must be the highest of:

• the closing price of the CFSG shares on the date of grant which day must be a trading day;

• the average closing price of the CFSG shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date of 
grant; and

• the nominal value of the CFSG share.

(ix) The life of the CFSG Share Option Scheme is effective for 10 years from the date of adoption until 7 June 
2028.
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Share option scheme of the CFSG (continued)

All share-based compensation will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to 
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing CFSG’s ordinary shares.

The following table discloses movements in CFSG’s share option scheme from acquisition date till 31 December 
2023:

Number of options (’000)

Names Date of grant Exercise period

Adjusted
exercise 

price Note

As at 1 
January 

2023

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year

Reallocated 
upon 

change of 
directorate

As at 31 
December 

2023
(HK$)

           

Directors 29/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 0.572 (a) 7,200 – – (7,200) – –

Other Employee 
Participants

29/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 0.572 (a) 4,500 – – (3,000) – 1,500

Service Providers 
(including consultants)

29/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 0.572 (a) 3,810 – – (3,810) – –

      

15,510 – – (14,010) – 1,500
      

Exercisable as at 
31 December 2023

–

 

Number of
options (’000) 

As at

Adjusted
21 October

and
exercise 31 December

Names Date of grant Exercise period price Note 2022
HK$      

Directors 29/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 0.572 (a) 7,200
Other Employee Participants 29/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2025 0.572 (a) 4,500
Service Providers (including 

consultants)
29/07/2021 01/08/2021 – 31/07/2023 0.572 (a) 3,810

 

15,510
 

Exercisable as at 31 December 2022 –
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Share option scheme of the CFSG (continued)

Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2021, a total of 15,510,000 options were granted to directors, employees and individuals, 
providing services similar to employees of the Group and the granting of the options are subject to the achievement of certain 
targets during the financial years ended 31 December 2021 to 2023 and 2025. At 31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no 
satisfactory delivery of services to the Group and thus no share-based compensation expense was recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

43. SHARE AWARD SCHEME
CFSG has adopted a share award scheme on 1 December 2022 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The Share Award Scheme 
does not constitute a share option scheme within the meaning of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary 
scheme of CFSG. However, it shall constitute a share scheme that is funded by existing CFSG Shares and shall be subject 
to the applicable disclosure requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules came in effect on 1 January 2023.

The major terms of the Share Award Scheme are summarized as follows:

(i) The purpose and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are:

• to recognise and motivate the contributions by certain eligible participants and to give incentives thereto in 
order to retain them for the continual operation and development of any member of the Group;

• to attract suitable professional personnel beneficial for further growth of any member of the Group; and

• to provide certain eligible participants with a direct economic interest in attaining a long-term relationship 
between any member of the Group and such eligible participants.

(ii) The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the CFSG Board. The CFSG Board may appoint 
any one or more senior management of CFSG as authorised representative(s) to give instructions or notices to the 
trustee on all matters in connection with the Share Award Scheme and other matters in the routine administration 
of the trust. The trustee will hold the CFSG Shares and the income derived therefrom in accordance with the rules 
of the Share Award Scheme and subject to the terms of the trust deed.

(iii) The eligible participants include any employees (whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group; any 
non-executive director of any member of the Group; any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant to or 
expert in any area of business or business development of any member of the Group; any agent, contractor, client 
or supplier of any member of the Group; and any other group or classes of participants who, in the sole opinion of 
the CFSG Board, will contribute or have contributed to any member of the Group.

(iv) The CFSG Board shall not make any further grant of award of CFSG Shares under the Share Award Scheme such 
that the total number of CFSG Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme (excluding any awards which have 
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will exceed 10% of the total number of 
issued CFSG Shares as of the Adoption Date, i.e. 26,117,477 CFSG Shares.

There is no maximum entitlement of each participant.

If the relevant purchase would result in the trustee holding in aggregate more than 10% of the total number of issued 
CFSG Shares as of the Adoption Date, the trustee shall not purchase any further CFSG Shares.
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43. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)
(v) A selected participant shall be entitled to receive the awarded CFSG Shares held by the trustee in accordance with 

the vesting schedule when the selected participant has satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the CFSG Board 
at the time of making the award. Vesting of the CFSG Shares will be conditional on the selected participant 
remaining an eligible participant until and on each of the relevant vesting dates and his/her execution of the 
relevant documents to effect the transfer from the trustee.

(vi) The CFSG Board or the authorised representative(s) shall notify the selected participant in writing within 10 
business days (or such other day as the CFSG Board may otherwise determine) after an award has been 
provisionally made to such selected participant and the notice shall contain substantially the same information as 
that set out in the award notice. An award shall be deemed to be irrevocably accepted by a selected participant 
unless the selected participant shall within 5 business days after receipt of such notice from the CFSG Board or the 
authorised representative(s) notify CFSG in writing that he would decline to accept such award.

(vii) Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the CFSG Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid 
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date and shall expire on 30 November 2032.

(viii) The trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any CFSG Shares held under the trust (including but 
not limited to the awarded Shares, further CFSG Shares acquired out of the income derived therefrom, the 
returned Shares, any bonus Shares and scrip Shares).

(ix) The total number of Shares available for grant under the Share Award Scheme is 26,117,477 shares, representing 
approximately 6.1% of the issued Shares at the date of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no shares were purchased by the trustee. As at 31 December 2023, no shares 
were held by the trustee.

Further details of the Share Award Scheme were disclosed in the CFSG’s announcement dated 1 December 2022.

44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. 
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Both the 
Group and the employees contribute a fixed percentage of the relevant payroll to the MPF Scheme. The cap of the 
mandatory contribution amount was HK$1,500 per employee per month. Where there are employees who leave the 
Group prior to vesting fully in the voluntary contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the 
amount of forfeited voluntary contributions. None of the forfeited contributions was utilised in this manner for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Defined benefit plan

The Group operates various benefits schemes for its full-time employees in the PRC in accordance with the relevant PRC 
regulations and rules, including provision of housing provident fund, medical insurance, retirement insurance, 
unemployment insurance, labour injury insurance and pregnancy insurance. Pursuant to the existing schemes, the Group 
contributes 7%, 12%, 22%, 2%, 0.5% and 0.5% of the basic salary of its employees to the housing provident fund, medical 
insurance, retirement insurance, unemployment insurance, labour injury and pregnancy insurance respectively.

The employer’s contributions to the MPF Scheme and various benefits schemes in the PRC are disclosed separately in 
notes 8.
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44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (continued)
Defined benefit plan (continued)

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment (“LSP”) 
to qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon retirement, subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on 
the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) × 2/3 × Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of long service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000. 
This obligation is accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group’s 
mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible Offset 
Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement’).

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was 
gazetted on 17 June 2022, which will eventually abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment will come into 
effect prospectively from a date to be determined by the Hong Kong SAR Government, which is expected to be in 2025 
(the “Transition Date”). Under the amended Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount after the Transition Date can only be 
applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP 
obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on 
the Last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date.

The Group’s LSP obligation, taking into consideration of the Offsetting Arrangement, is considered to be insignificant 
and provision has been recognised as at 31 December 2023.

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group 
entered into the following transactions with related parties:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest expense to a related party 8,585 2,427
  

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and chief executive which is disclosed in note 12 is determined by the 
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows 
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Amount due to Lease
an associate Borrowings liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 34) (note 33)

     

At 1 January 2022 1,001 235,617 207,606 444,224
Financing cash flows (Note) (1,001) (18,700) (166,641) (186,342)
New lease entered – – 133,990 133,990
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 37) – 146,388 26,522 172,910
Interest expense – 11,940 8,815 20,755
Exchange adjustments – – (200) (200)

    

At 31 December 2022 – 375,245 210,092 585,337
Financing cash flows (Note) – (54,129) (134,340) (188,469)
New lease entered – – 42,236 42,236
Interest expense – 18,496 6,574 25,070
Exchange adjustments – – (19) (19)

    

At 31 December 2023 – 339,612 124,543 464,155
    

Note: The financing cash flows include the drawdown of borrowings, repayments of borrowings, repayment of lease liabilities and related 
interest paid.

47. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
In addition, the Group entered into new lease contracts and modified certain lease contracts for the use of retail stores 
for 1 to 4 years (2022: 1 to 6 years). On the lease commencement/modification date, the Group recognised in aggregate 
of HK$44,306,000 (2022: HK$133,990,000) of right-of-use assets, HK$42,236,000 (2022: HK$133,990,000) of lease liabilities 
and HK$609,000 (2022: HK$523,000) of restoration provision during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain lessors agreed to waive lease payments on several leases and the 
Group has derecognised lease liabilities of HK$9,313,000, which have been recognised as variable lease payments in 
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.



CASH  Annual Report 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023

172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Proportion

Place of Issued ordinary of equity
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable

Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
2023 2022

% %      

CASH

Pricerite Home Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$201,170,000

99.01 99.01 Retailing of furniture and 
household goods

Pricerite Electrical Appliances 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$1

99.01 99.01 Retailing of electrical 
appliances

Pricerite Marketing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$2

99.01 99.01 Provision of management 
services to a fellow 
subsidiary

Pricerite Pet Necessities Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$10,000

80.2 80.2 Online retailing of pet 
supplies

Cashflow Credit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$27,242,299

100.00 100.00 Investment holding

Pricerite.com.hk Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$2

99.01 99.01 Online retail of furniture 
houselive and foods

Pricerite Food Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$1

99.01 99.01 Retail of food & beverage

TMF Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$1

99.01 99.01 Retailing of tailor-made 
furniture

Celestial Investments (HK)  
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary 
HK$10,000,000

100 100 Money lending

CASH Algo Finance Group  
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$2,000,000

100 100 Investment trading

CASH Talent Investment 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$1

100 100 Investment trading

CASH Frontier Investment 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$1

100 100 Investment trading

CASH Quant-Finance Lab 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$1

81.88 100 Investment trading
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Proportion
Place of Issued ordinary of equity
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable

Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
2023 2022

% %      

CASH (continued)

上海群博資產管理有限公司* PRC Registered capital
RMB20,000,000

81.88 100 Provision of asset 
management services

群博量化指數增強私募證券 
投資基金

PRC Paid up capital
5,824,092.10 units

N/A
(Note)

N/A
(Note)

Fund investment

群博多策略對沖私募證券 
投資基金#

PRC Paid up capital
16,459,555.55 units

81.72
(Note)

99.80
(Note)

Fund investment

CASH Retail Management 
(HK) Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
HK$35,000,000

99.01 99.01 Investment holding

Celestial Investment 
Group Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$10,000

100 100 Investment holding

Moli Mobile Digital 
Entertainment Holdings 
Limited (“MMDE”)

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$10,000

89.70 89.70 Investment holding

CFSG Bermuda/ 
Hong Kong

Ordinary
HK$17,246,991

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

Subsidiaries of CFSG

CASH Asset Management 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$10,000,000

64.47 60.49 Provision of asset 
management services

CASH Wealth Management 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$15,000,000

64.47 60.49 Financial advisory 
consultancy

CASH Payment Services 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$2

64.47 60.49 Provision of payment 
gateway services

Celestial Asset Management 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$6,781,401

64.47 60.49 Provision of treasury 
management functions 
and investment holding 
and trading

Celestial Capital Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$30,000,000

64.47 60.49 Inactive

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
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Proportion
Place of Issued ordinary of equity
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable

Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
2023 2022

% %      

Subsidiaries of CFSG (continued)

Celestial Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$121,000,002

64.47 60.49 Money lending

Celestial Commodities Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$50,000,000

64.47 60.49 Brokerage of futures and 
options

Celestial Securities Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$190,000,000

64.47 60.49 Brokerage of securities and 
equity options

CASH Trinity Buillion Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$2

64.47 60.49 Investment holding and 
trading

CASH Family Office Company 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$100

64.47 60.49 Investment holding and 
trading

Victory Glory Investments 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$1

64.47 60.49 Investment trading

Think Right Investments 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$1

64.47 60.49 Properties holding

Celestial Financial Services 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$10,000

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

CASH Mobile Financial  
Services Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$10,000,000

64.47 60.49 Provision of management 
services for group 
companies

Celestial (China) Asset 
Management Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$500,000

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

Weever FinTech Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$48,500,000

67.96 64.93 Brokerage of cryptocurrencies

CFSG China Investment 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$1

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

Golden Riverside Industrial 
Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
HK$102

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Proportion
Place of Issued ordinary of equity
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable

Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
2023 2022

% %      

CFSG FinTech Group 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$1

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

Libra Capital Manager Limited British Virgin 
Islands

Ordinary
US$3

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

上海懿睿股權投資基金 
管理有限公司 (translated as 
Shanghai Yirui Equity Investment 
Fund Management Company 
Limited) (“Shanghai Yirui”)*

PRC Ordinary
RMB10,000,000

64.47 60.49 Investment holding

CASH Prime Value Equity 
OFC^

Hong Kong Redeemable
Participating shares 

71,688.83 Units

64.47 60.48 Investment holding

* These subsidiaries are a limited liability companies established in the PRC. They are indirectly held by the Company through contractual 
arrangements by the registered owners, being Ms Wei Li (holder of 95% of the equity interests) and Ms Mao Jie (holder of 5% of the 
equity interests).

^ CASH Prime Value Equity OFC is a consolidated structured entity under the Group.

# For this investment fund, the directors of the Company concluded that the variable returns the Group exposed to are significant, the 
Group is primarily acting as a principal and not subject to substantive removal rights held by other parties who may remove the Group as 
an investment manager. Therefore, the Group consolidated this investment fund throughout the periods.

Note: For these investment funds, the directors of the Company concluded that the variable returns the Group exposed to are significant, the 
Group is primarily acting as a principal and not subject to substantive removal rights held by other parties who may remove the Group as 
an investment manager. Therefore, the Group consolidated these investment funds throughout the reporting period.

All the subsidiaries shown above are indirectly held by the Company. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, a 
complete list of the particulars of subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the above list contains only the 
particulars of those subsidiaries which principally affect the results or net assets of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. Majority of 
these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and are investment holding or inactive companies.

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group that have non-controlling interests:

Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of
Principal ownership interests
place of and voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated non-

Name of subsidiaries business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interests
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000        

CFSG Bermuda/  
Hong Kong 35.53% 39.51% (34,620) (1,456) 92,048 133,917

MMDE BVI/ Hong Kong 10.30% 10.30% – – (40,045) (40,045)

Individual immaterial subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests (296) (152) 1,012 1,308

    

(34,916) (1,608) 53,015 95,180
    

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling 
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup 
eliminations.

CFSG and subsidiaries

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets 61,872 74,198
Current assets 807,226 978,935
Non-current liabilities (593,435) (698,057)
Current liabilities (19,796) (16,218)

  

Net assets of CFSG 255,867 338,858
  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 251,196 330,320
Non-controlling interests of CFSG 4,671 8,538

  

255,867 338,858
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48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
CFSG and subsidiaries (continued)

From 
1 January 

2023 to 
31 December 

2023

From
21 October

2022 to
31 December 

2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue 58,365 7,247
Expenses (152,996) (9,416)

  

Loss for the year/period (94,631) (2,169)
  

(Loss) profit for the year/period attributable to
– the owners of the Company (95,247) (1,312)
– non-controlling interests of CFSG 616 (857)

  

Loss for the year/period (94,631) (2,169)
  

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year/period attributable to
– the owners of the Company 597 (1,516)
– non-controlling interests of CFSG (861) (599)

  

Other comprehensive expense for the year/period (264) (2,115)
  

Total comprehensive expense for the year/period attributable to
– owners of the Company (94,650) (2,828)
– non-controlling interests of CFSG (245) (1,456)

  

Total comprehensive expense for the year/period (94,895) (4,284)
  

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (2,817) 58,680
Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,724) (1,179)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (87,065) (5,124)

  

Net cash (outflow) inflow (91,606) 52,377
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
MMDE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets 5,859 5,859
Current assets 1,326 1,326
Current liabilities (406,503) (406,341)

  

(399,318) (399,156)
  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (359,273) (359,111)
Non-controlling interests of MMDE (40,045) (40,045)

  

(399,318) (399,156)
  

Expenses (162) (92)
  

Loss for the year (162) (92)
  

Loss for the year attributable to
– the owners of the Company (162) (92)
– non-controlling interests of MMDE – –

  

Loss for the year (162) (92)
  

Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to
– the owners of the Company – –
– non-controlling interests of MMDE – –

  

Other comprehensive income for the year – –
  

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to
– the owners of the Company (162) (92)
– non-controlling interests of MMDE – –

  

Total comprehensive expense for the year (162) (92)
  

Net cash outflow from operating activities (162) (92)
Net cash inflow from financing activities – –

  

Net cash outflow (162) (92)
  



CASH  Annual Report 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023

179

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current asset
Amounts due from subsidiaries 297,853 461,969

  

Current assets
Other receivables 207 354
Bank balance and cash 295 1,159

  

502 1,513
  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 530 605
Borrowings 60,000 60,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries 87,746 115,746

  

148,276 176,351
  

Net current liabilities (147,774) (174,838)
  

Net assets 150,079 287,131
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 16,144 16,144
Reserves 133,935 270,987

  

Total equity 150,079 287,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Reserves of the Company:

Share
premium

Contributed
surplus

Share
option

reserve

Retained
profits

(accumulated
loss) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

At 1 January 2022 79,127 149,719 2,224 56,986 288,056
Loss and total comprehensive expense 

for the year – – – (7,185) (7,185)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments – – 2,224 – 2,224
Amount transferred to retained profits (75,000) – – 75,000 –
Dividend recognised as distribution 

during the year – – – (12,108) (12,108)
     

At 31 December 2022 4,127 149,719 4,448 112,693 270,987
     

Loss and total comprehensive expense 
for the year – – – (137,052) (137,052)

Lapse of share options – – (4,448) 4,448 –
     

At 31 December 2023 4,127 149,719 – (19,911) 133,935
     



CASH  Annual Report 2023

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

181

The summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the audited financial statements as appropriate, is set out below:

Year ended 31 December
 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

RESULTS

Revenue 1,016,423 1,210,887 1,368,066 1,379,513 1,387,769
     

(Loss) profit before taxation (138,669) (44,735) (39,841) 46,284 (92,720)
Income tax (expense) credit (4,256) 9,486 (3,426) (5,310) (7,632)

     

(Loss) profit for the year (142,925) (35,249) (43,267) 40,974 (100,352)
     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (108,009) (33,641) (43,050) 39,985 (99,392)
Non-controlling interests (34,916) (1,608) (217) 989 (960)

     

(142,925) (35,249) (43,267) 40,974 (100,352)
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As at 31 December
 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Property and equipment 29,083 40,495 27,364 40,090 46,020
Right-of-use assets 113,384 193,590 187,060 261,604 341,378
Goodwill 39,443 39,443 39,443 39,443 39,443
Interests in associates – – 183,535 196,055 197,266
Intangible assets 47,501 52,552 43,460 43,460 43,460
Other non-current assets 56,928 65,823 28,571 40,303 45,386
Current assets 1,031,318 1,394,639 502,530 482,208 408,096

     

Total assets 1,317,657 1,786,542 1,011,963 1,103,163 1,121,049
     

Current liabilities 1,077,809 1,420,382 681,157 687,265 668,790
Long term borrowings – – 40,175 – 44,266
Long term lease liabilities 59,757 68,061 81,112 149,938 227,530
Other non-current liabilities 11,111 6,825 6,825 6,825 9,955

     

Total liabilities 1,148,677 1,495,268 809,269 844,028 950,541
     

Net assets 168,980 291,274 202,694 259,135 170,508
     

Equity attributable to the  
owners of the Company 115,965 196,094 240,640 296,864 199,238

Non-controlling interests 53,015 95,180 (37,946) (37,729) (28,730)
     

168,980 291,274 202,694 259,135 170,508
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In this annual report, the following expressions have the following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“AGM(s)” the annual general meeting(s) of the Company

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Company established pursuant to the CG Code of the Listing 
Rules

“Board” the board of Directors

“CAFG” or “CAFG Group” CASH Algo Finance Group International Limited, a company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands with limited liability, and its subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in 
algorithmic trading business

“Cash Guardian” Cash Guardian Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited 
liability, is the substantial Shareholder of the Company and an associate of Dr Kwan Pak 
Hoo Bankee

“Celestial Securities” Celestial Securities Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, 
is a subsidiary of the Company via CFSG. It is a licensed corporation under the SFO which 
is engaged in type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity

“CEO” the chief executive officer of the Company

“CFO” the chief financial officer of the Company

“CFSG” CASH Financial Services Group Limited (stock code: 510), a company incorporated in 
Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board. CFSG is a 
64.47%-owned listed subsidiary of the Company

“CFSG Board” the board of directors of CFSG

“CFSG Group” CFSG and its subsidiaries

“CFSG Share Option Scheme” the existing share option scheme of CFSG adopted by CFSG pursuant to an ordinary 
resolution passed at an annual general meeting of CFSG held on 8 June 2018

“CFSG Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.04 each in the share capital of CFSG

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code as contained in the Listing Rules

“CIGL” Celestial Investment Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands 
with limited liability, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Company” or “CASH” Celestial Asia Securities Holdings Limited (stock code: 1049), a company incorporated in 
Bermuda with limited liability and the Shares are listed on the Main Board

“Company Secretary” the company secretary of the Company

“Directors” the directors of the Company

“ED(s)” the executive Director(s) of the Company

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

“INED(s)” the independent non-executive Director(s) of the Company

“Listing Rules” The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
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“Main Board” the main board of the Stock Exchange

“Management” the management team of the Company

“Model Code” the required standards of dealings regarding securities transactions by Directors or the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in the 
Listing Rules

“New Share Option Scheme” the existing share option scheme of the Company adopted by the Company pursuant to 
an ordinary resolution passed at the SGM held on 30 September 2021. The New Share 
Option Scheme, which was in place of the Old Share Option Scheme, took effect on 30 
September 2021

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Company established pursuant to the CG Code of the 
Listing Rules

“Old Share Option Scheme” the share option scheme adopted by the Company pursuant to an ordinary resolution 
passed at the AGM held on 21 May 2012. The Old Share Option Scheme was terminated 
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the SGM held on 30 September 2021

“Pricerite” or “Pricerite Group” Pricerite Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited 
liability, and its subsidiaries (including Pricerite Home Limited, TMF Company Limited, 
SECO Living Company Limited, Pricerite Food Limited and Pricerite Pet Caring Limited), 
which mainly conduct the retail management business in Hong Kong under multi-brand 
names including “Pricerite Home”, “TMF”, “SECO”, “Pricerite Food” and “Pricerite Pet”

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Company established pursuant to the CG Code of 
the Listing Rules

“SFC” the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

“SGM(s)” the special general meeting(s) of the Company

“Share(s)” ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each in the share capital of the Company

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“HK$” Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“US$” or “USD” United States dollar(s), the lawful currency of the United States

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China

“UK” United Kingdom

“US” United States

If there is any inconsistency in this report between the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall prevail.
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